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SL Green Realty Corp. is a self-administered and selfmanaged real estate investment trust, or REIT, that
predominantly acquires, owns, repositions, leases and
manages a portfolio of Manhattan office properties. As
of December 31, 2005, the Company owned 28 office

properties totaling 18.2 million square feet. SL Green’s
retail space ownership totaled 168,300 square feet at
five properties. The Company is the only publicly held
REIT that specializes exclusively in this niche.

Our Greatest Asset
The SL Green Team

Meet our diverse team of management, finance, operations, leasing and acquisitions
professionals. With their breadth of experience and magnitude of talent, no wonder they
develop and execute strategies better than anyone else in the business.

Financial Highlights
Year Ended December 31,

2005

2004

% Change

(In thousands, except per share and rentable square feet data)

Total Revenue

$

440,182

$

343,718

28.1

Net Income

$

157,419

$

209,430

(24.8)
(32.6)

Net Income Per Common Share (diluted)

$

3.20

$

4.75

Funds from Operations (diluted)1

$

189,513

$

162,377

16.7

Funds from Operations Per Share (diluted)

$

4.16

$

3.77

10.3

Total Market Capitalization

$ 6,269,000

$ 4,601,400

36.2

Net Rentable Square Feet (including joint ventures)

18,159,900

Annual Dividend (per common share)
1

$

2.22

17,000,000

6.8

$

8.8

2.04

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

A reconciliation of FFO to net income computed in accordance with GAAP is provided on page 38.
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Manhattan
has been
compelled to
expand skyward
because of
the absence of
any other
direction in
which to grow
— E.B. White
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To Our
Shareholders

Our properties appeal to top-quality tenants from industries
vital to the diversified New York City economy, including
financial services, healthcare, law, media, apparel and
publishing. Many of our 1,000 tenants are leading employers
in New York City, and we expect more than a few to continue
expanding their local workforces.

2005 was a strong year for New York City commercial real estate. And it proved to be another
outstanding year for SL Green, as the Company
stood out in the local market and outgained its
peers across the U.S.

Leasing Keeping a portfolio well leased at market rents is
fundamental to any office real estate company, and in this
regard we had an excellent year. We concluded over 2 million
square feet of leasing transactions in our New York City
office portfolio.

Following a very strong 2004, we set extremely ambitious
performance goals.
We believed the New York City economy and office sector
would continue to improve overall. We believed that demand
for space — particularly in Midtown and Midtown South —
would climb as companies committed to enough space to
meet both their current and future needs.
But we weren’t content simply enjoying the rising tide of
occupancy and rents. We sought to take full advantage of the
unique position that SL Green commands in the local marketplace. To tap the extraordinary knowledge and experience of
our people and our partners, in order to deliver maximum
returns to our shareholders.
It turned out that we were right about local market conditions.
And, yes, we were successful in leveraging our existing
portfolio and the talents of our people. Our business strategy
theme for 2005 — “Growth by Design”— proved especially
apt, as we moved forward on several initiatives to add value
beyond the execution of our core business.
As a result, our stock price hit an historic high at year-end,
and we finished with double-digit growth in FFO and dividends paid. On an annualized basis, the Company’s dividend
now stands at $2.40 per share, an 11 percent increase from
2004, while maintaining one of the lowest payout ratios in
the sector.
At the end of 2005, for the second consecutive year,
SL Green stood as the top performing office REIT in the U.S.
— with a 30.5 percent total return to shareholders. Over the
past five years, SL Green’s shareholders have been rewarded
with a total return of 245 percent and market capitalization
has grown from $1.8 billion to more than $6.3 billion.
Today, SL Green is the nation’s fourth largest office REIT.
With our portfolio of 29 office buildings totaling 18.7 million
square feet, and five retail and residential development
properties totaling 388,300 square feet, we are also the
largest owner of commercial properties in New York City.
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Most significant was the lease up of a large portion of our newly
redeveloped and re-branded Grand Central Square complex.
Top-tier companies such as Citibank, St. Paul Traveler’s,
TIAA-CREF and Fairchild Publications joined our prestigious
roster of tenants there. The 11-year Citibank lease agreement alone totaled nearly 300,000 square feet.
Outside of New York City, we benefited from the execution of
a 670,000-square-foot lease involving the relocation of
Sanofi-Aventis’ U.S. headquarters to a Bridgewater, New
Jersey property that SL Green owns with its joint venture
partner The Gale Company.
These leasing achievements helped to drive our occupancy
to 96.7 percent and helped to increase starting rents by 20
percent versus the fully escalated rents on expiring leases in
the fourth quarter.
Acquisitions and Dispositions We also showed once again
how we can quickly seize growth opportunities that fit our
strategic plan. Despite intense competition among investors
for quality New York City properties, SL Green completed
acquisitions totaling $1.3 billion. The most notable addition to
our portfolio was One Madison Avenue, one of Manhattan’s
original skyscrapers.
One Madison Avenue occupies an entire city block between
Madison Avenue and Park Avenue South, and between 23rd
and 24th Streets. The property consists of two contiguous
buildings: the 1.2-million-square-feet South Building — the
home of Credit Suisse and the 50-story North Tower. The
North Tower— also known as the “Clock Tower” — is a
Landmark property. It will be the site of a unique conversion
to offer luxury residential condominiums. The changes and
improvements being made to the interior and exterior of the
building will highlight and preserve the Clock Tower’s existing
charm and architectural beauty. We have joined forces with
Ian Schrager and RFR Holding LLC to execute this conversion
and market the condos. Ian is a cutting-edge designer who
will bring his renowned talents to bear in taking this distinct
and historic building and creating one of New York’s most
sought-after residential properties.

Incentive fees generated by various joint venture partnerships
have been a component of the SL Green growth story for
many years. In 2005, SL Green received fees totaling $18.4
million — $10.8 million from the sale of 180 Madison Avenue
and the “wind-down” of the Morgan Stanley Real Estate
Funds (MSREF) joint venture; $7.3 million from acquiring a
joint venture partner fee interest in 19 West 44th Street. Plus,
the Company earned in excess of $10 million in fees as a
result of its sponsorship of specialty finance company,
Gramercy Capital Corp.

Marc Holliday
President and
Chief Executive Officer;
Director, Executive Committee

Stephen L. Green,
Chairman of the Board;
Executive Committee

We also took advantage of strong pricing to selectively prune
our portfolio by $150 million in asset sales. This exceeded our
goal for the year and generated a significant gain for our
shareholders. Importantly, profits from these sales were prudently redeployed in a manner that resulted in the Company
not having to pay any capital gains tax.
Other notable transactions included the purchase of 28 West
44th Street, 1551 Broadway a major retail development site in
the heart of Times Square and the aforementioned office
complex in Bridgewater, New Jersey that now serves as
Sanofi-Aventis’ U.S. headquarters.
Other 2005 Highlights Another significant achievement for
SL Green during 2005 was the $625 million recapitalization
of 1515 Broadway in Times Square. We purchased this
highly visible property — home to broadcasting giant Viacom
International — for less than $500 million a few years ago. Our
recent recapitalization was based on a new independent
appraisal of approximately $1 billion. We achieved this
extraordinary value growth, in cooperation with joint-venture
partner SITQ, by upgrading and retenanting over 60,000
square feet of retail space, and leasing more than 207,000
square feet of office space. These improvements have helped
1515 Broadway to achieve 100 percent occupancy, and
annual NOI in excess of $50 million.
Additionally, with the help of partner Jeff Sutton, one of New
York’s pre-eminent experts on retail real estate, we moved
forward in 2005 on a promising retail property investment
initiative. Using our acquisition infrastructure and a team of
dedicated professionals, we were able to secure promising
retail locations in Times Square, near Herald Square, in Soho,
and on Fifth Avenue. We expect to achieve above average
returns on these retail investments that will augment the
embedded growth in rents in our core office portfolio.

Speaking of Gramercy — 2005 results showed that we made
the right decision in spinning off the business as a separate
company in 2004. We thank our shareholders for their support of this endeavor. We have invested approximately $93
million in the company — an investment that now carries a
market value of around $140 million. Gramercy Capital Corp.
has been a meaningful contributor to our FFO, and is
producing strong returns for all its shareholders— in excess of
75 percent since its inception, and 28.7 percent in 2005 alone.

It is clear that Gramercy Capital Corp.’s production and profitability are accelerating, as its
national origination network and reputation
become established, and as it increases its
asset base and achieves greater economies
of scale.
Finally, it’s important to point out that SL Green’s growth has
been not just external, but also organic. We believe much of
the Company’s success is due directly to our staff members,
who are dedicated to setting and meeting our ambitious
goals and objectives. This is not just the senior management
team at SL Green, but all of the 184 employees who have
contributed to the Company’s performance.
“Reaching New Heights” We have adopted “Reaching New
Heights” as our theme for 2006. This emphasizes our intention to achieve the new goals and objectives we have set for
the Company this year, but also underscores our continuing
confidence in New York City as a dynamic market for real
estate investment.
We expect the Manhattan real estate market to be “Reaching
New Heights” in 2006, as office employment continues to
rise and new building construction continues to lag.
We anticipate that the Company will continue to be in a strong
position when negotiating rent and concession packages.
During 2005, SL Green experienced significant increases in
asking and taking rents across our portfolio—14 percent and
10 percent, respectively. We believe that this trend should continue in 2006, with taking rents increasing by 5–10 percent.

take advantage of retail redevelopment opportunities when
they arise. We also have set a goal to generate at least
$50 million of free cash flow for reinvestment.
We will look to raise the dividend for our shareholders for the
8th consecutive year and increase our FFO by a minimum of
7.5 percent in the year ahead. For 2006, we are projecting
FFO of approximately $4.50 per share.
Executive Management: (left to right)
Andrew S. Levine, General Counsel, Executive V.P. and Corporate Secretary,
Andrew W. Mathias, Chief Investment Officer,
Gregory F. Hughes, Chief Financial Officer,
Marc Holliday, President and Chief Executive Officer

We also anticipate that the occupancy rate for the Company’s
portfolio will climb during the next several years. We will continue to approach our tenants early about leasing situations
such as renewals and buyouts. We believe there is a great
deal of embedded growth in the SL Green portfolio — as
much as 20 percent — that will be achieved during the next
several years through the space that rolls.
SL Green’s 2006 investment goals for our core portfolio include
further development of our long-term pipeline, and continuing
our market leadership in off-market structured transactions. The
Company also plans continued investment with joint venture
partners. And we look to grow our retail platform.
We will stay open to opportunities to create long-term value for
our shareholders through strategic property acquisitions and
sales. We will likely dispose of some assets — just as we did in
2005 — and redeploy the proceeds into higher profile core
properties. This “recycling” of product back into the market is
consistent with SL Green’s historic practice of continuously
upgrading our portfolio, regardless of market conditions.
A major 2006 activity will be the $60–70 million redevelopment of 100 Park Avenue — the largest redevelopment
program this company has ever undertaken. Built in 1950, the
36-story building is extremely well situated, however in need
of refurbishment to make it competitive with New York’s
newest and best buildings. We intend to restore it to become
one of the finest assets on Park Avenue again.
Finishing the development and leasing of Grand Central
Square also is critical to the Company’s growth in the near
future, and will be a priority for us during 2006. So, too, will
be completing the leasing of space at 625 Madison Ave.
Our capital improvement program at 485 Lexington Avenue,
which includes the redesign of the building’s façade, the installation of 4,000 new windows and the renovation of the exterior,
is scheduled for completion in Summer 2006.We believe that
the financial impact will be fully realized beginning in 2007.
During 2006, the Company will strive to increase same-store
performance by 4 to 6 percent and increase its already solid
portfolio occupancy by 100 basis points. We will continue to

04

SL Green
Realty Corp.

We expect that Gramercy Capital Corp. will continue to
develop its direct origination business during 2006, with a
focus on originating primarily first mortgage loans. The company also plans to continue growing its net lease equity
investments. Gramercy has projected it will be able to originate more than $1 billion in new investments nationwide
during the year.
Building on the success of its July 2005 collateralized debt
obligation (CDO) of $1 billion — the largest commercial real
estate CDO to date — Gramercy Capital Corp. intends to
execute a second CDO in 2006. This should result in the
company’s FFO and earnings growing by more than 10 percent, and its assets increasing to around $2 billion.
In Closing We are very proud of the Company’s growth and
success during the past five years. We are committed to preserving our leadership position in our industry and exceeding
our growth goals and financial expectations whenever possible.
While SL Green will work to Reach New Heights during 2006,
we will do so while adhering to our core business philosophy
of growing the Company by design. No matter how high we
go, we will never lose sight of our first priority: making strategic decisions that will ultimately create real, long-term value
for our shareholders.
Thank you for your continuing confidence in us.

Stephen L. Green
Chairman of the Board;
Executive Officer
Executive Committee

Marc Holliday
President and Chief Executive Officer;
Director, Executive Committee

SL Green has
consistently
out-performed
the REIT sector,
including 2005
with a total
return of 30.5%
1.

SL Green Realty Corp.

30.5%

2.

Trizec Ppts Inc

25.9%

3.

Corp Office Ppts Tr

25.4%

4.

Arden Realty Inc

25.3%

5.

Boston Properties

23.5%

6.

Maguire Prop Inc

19.2%

7.

Crescent RE Eqty

17.9%

8.

Reckson Assoc Realty

15.4%

9.

Biomed Realty Trust

15.2%

10. Vornado Realty Trust

15.2%

11. Prentiss Ppts Tr

13.1%

12. Alexandria RE Equities

12.2%

13. CarrAmerica Realty

11.3%

14. Equity Office Ppts

10.9%

15. Brandywine Realty Tr

1.1%

16. Government Properties

0.7%

17. Mack Cali Realty Corp.

-0.7%

18. Cousins Ppts Tr

-1.5%

19. Washington REIT

-5.6%

20. Investors RE Trust

-5.9%

21. Glenborough Realty

-8.5%

22. HRPT Properties Trst

-13.5%

23. Parkway Properties

-16.3%

24. American Fin Rlty

-19.9%

25. AmeriVest Ppts Inc

-34.8%

Source: Stifel, Nicolaus & Company Incorporated as of December 30, 2005

A Classic Manhattan Opportunity
One Madison Avenue

†

The key addition to the SL Green portfolio during 2005 was One Madison Avenue — the
former home of The Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, the current home of Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and SL Green’s largest acquisition to date. One Madison
Avenue is indicative of the type of opportunity that can be uncovered today in
classic New York City office buildings. We executed this complex acquisition by leveraging
key business relationships, after recognizing that by disaggregating the parts of this
fortress property and developing two distinct investment strategies, we could mine
extraordinary value.
Our vision for One Madison Avenue is to offer a world-class address for both business and
residential occupancy. One Madison Avenue is a masterpiece within this signature collection of New York real estate assets.

† The South Building One Madison Avenue houses part of Credit Suisse’s U.S. headquarters and is connected to the remainder at 11 Madison Avenue by skyway. Leased
through 2020 to this A-rated tenant, the property will provide a stabilized revenue stream to
SL Green and to Gramercy Capital Corp., its 45% joint venture partner, for at least 15 years.

† Residential Clock Tower Standing 50 stories high with 360-degree views of
Manhattan, the North Building — also known as “The Clock Tower”— overlooks Madison
Square Park and is the visual centerpiece of Midtown South. We are fast-tracking conversion of the historic Clock Tower — once the tallest building in the world— into a collection
of the finest residential condominiums. One Madison Avenue luxury condominiums will
offer spacious and flexible apartment layouts, and panoramic city and river views. They will
blend Venetian-inspired charm with next-generation American technology systems for
energy efficiency and comfort. This world-class signature residential address will be available
for occupancy in 2007.

2005 sales activity
saw pricing climb North
of $700 PSF
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Record Sales at Record Cap Rates

Total

(in billions of dollars)

Midtown

Source: Cushman and Wakefield

Downtown

1.4 million rentable square feet

50 stories with 360 degree views

At one time the tallest building in the world

The Best Locations Deserve the Best
Restaurants and Stores
Retail Platform
New York City is world famous for its legendary shopping and restaurant venues. Yet
throughout the city, there are locations that have lost their luster or their potential has never
been fully realized. Recognizing a tremendous untapped opportunity, we launched a robust
retail investment program in 2005. We took the SL Green building blocks of skill and
success in repositioning underdeveloped office properties and we applied those skills to
standalone retail properties. We began targeting the most highly trafficked submarkets in
New York — such as Times Square, the 34th Street corridor and Soho. By identifying high
credit prospective tenants, while executing relocations and buyouts we have been able to
reposition and deliver outstanding sites to high-quality retailers.
Our retail initiative has included the successful retail repositioning and expansion at
1515 Broadway, the recent acquisition of the Howard Johnson site in Times Square,
1604 Broadway, 379 West Broadway, and141 Fifth Avenue. We have established the
foundation of a well-executed retail platform set for continued expansion, and the creation
of incremental increased value for our core Manhattan office portfolio.
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3,809

5,744
3,847

5,023

4,736

7,089

8,364

Times Square is called
the crossroads of
the world for a reason
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Record Leasing

Square feet leased
Average tenant SF

One-half million daily commuters disembark here

Over 150,000 office workers employed here

In excess of 30 million tourists visit each year

A Perfect Launch....
Gramercy Capital Corp.
Gramercy Capital Corp. completed its first full year as a standalone public company in
2005. Its debut was clearly a success. The company outperformed all peers, ranking #1 in
total return to shareholders. Add to that a strong trajectory in dividends, FFO and earnings,
fueled by accelerating growth in assets — from $500 million in 2004 to $1.4 billion in 2005.
Serving a national market and multiple property types, Gramercy greatly enhances the
enterprise value of SL Green, and in return SL Green synergistically provides its core competencies in real estate finance.
2005 Highlights included:
†

†

†

†

Completing the
largest commercial
real estate CDO on
record at that time

Opportunistic equity
offerings that built
Gramercy’s capital
base and attracted
new investors

Exceeding— by more
than 50 percent— the
level of investments
originally expected to
be originated by the
end of 2005

Establishing a West
Coast headquarters
in order to help drive
a national platform
for growth

Notable transactions included the acquisition of a well-situated suburban New Jersey
Class A office asset that serves as the North American headquarters of Philips Lighting.
Gramercy also financed a bold new plan for the Plaza Hotel — the conversion of this landmark asset into luxury condos, retail space and a renovated hotel.

Property Type
Diversification
3%

Investment Type
Diversification

2%
3% 1%

2%

Geographical
Diversification
6%

3%

4%
8%

5%
10%

21%
12%

39%

50%

47%
30%
23%

47% OFFICE

50% WHOLE LOAN

39% NORTHEAST

23% MULTIFAMILY

30% SUBORDINATE PARTICIPATION

31% MIDWEST

12% HOTEL

10% MEZZANINE

21% WEST

5% INDUSTRIAL

8% CREDIT TENANT LEASE

6% SOUTH

4% LAND

2% PREFERRED EQUITY

3% OTHER

3% MIXED USE
3% VARIOUS
2% RETAIL
1% LEISURE
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31%

$36.5 million participation in the Plaza Hotel loan

Condominium conversion into 182 units

Collateral for largest commercial real estate CDO — $1 billion

ItÕs where everyone wants to be
Grand Central Square

†
485 Lexington

There’s an exciting buzz at Grand Central Square — the newly branded complex that
includes 485 Lexington Avenue and 750 Third Avenue. With the property redevelopment
well under way, Grand Central Square becomes the area’s signature property and SL
Green strengthens its position as the dominant office property owner. SL Green saw an
outstanding opportunity and acquired the office buildings in 2004. Even before completion
of the $100 million repositioning program, Grand Central Square began to stand out
among the properties in its proximity. SL Green showcased this unique asset with the
largest office property marketing center ever built in New York City and sponsoring a multifaceted visibility campaign targeted specifically to prospective tenants seeking more than
100,000 square feet.
The results so far — Pre-leasing of over 700,000 square feet of space, including nearly
300,000 square feet dedicated to Citibank — one of the largest leases executed in
Manhattan during 2005. Grand Central Square is a perfect example of a well-executed
capital program, strategic branding, and powerful marketing.

SL Green holds three of
the top ten leases signed in
Manhattan during 2005
Top Manhattan Leases
The Gift Industry

417,000 SF

7 West 34th Street

Fried Frank

367,000 SF

One New York Plaza

BNP

321,000 SF

Equitable

Viacom

305,000 SF

1540 Broadway

Citibank

297,000 SF

485 Lexington Avenue*

Citibank

270,000 SF

787 Seventh Avenue

Time

240,000 SF

135 West 50th Street

Polo Ralph Lauren

272,707 SF

625 Madison Avenue*

Morgan Stanley

211,000 SF

One New York Plaza

St. Paul Travelers

210,000 SF

485 Lexington Avenue*

*SLG Leases
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921,000 rentable square feet

700,000 sf leased in ’05

Citibank, TIAA-CREF, St. Paul Travelers

Core Assets, Strong Performance
19 and 28 West 44th Street
Our twin office assets at 19 and 28 West 44th Street provide a bustling campus environment, featuring over 650,000 square feet within steps of Grand Central Terminal. Facing
substantial vacancies at initial acquisition in 2004 and 2005 respectively, we swiftly executed over 150,000 square feet of new and renewal leases, and executed key relocations
among these assets. Today, the properties feature a diverse tenant roster including a great
mix of different industries with very stable credit profiles and no single tenant occupying
more than 15 percent of the space. With operational efficiencies achieved through shared
recoveries and bulk buying programs, the campus is representative of our highly profitable
and opportunistic, value-creation strategy.

A Once and Future Showpiece
100 Park Avenue

†

100 Park Avenue, located one block from Grand Central Terminal, promises tremendous embedded growth for the company and its shareholders. The transformation will
require the single largest redevelopment SL Green has undertaken. It will establish
100 Park Avenue as one of the submarket’s finest trophy assets, befitting that of a
Park Avenue address.

46th Street

Third
Avenue

Park
Avenue

Under SL Green’s stewardship, 100 Park Avenue will be reborn into a sleek 21st century,
modern office tower. Planned refinements include a gleaming glass façade, soaring
double-height lobby, and modern metal recladding. 100 Park Avenue will offer a powerful
street presence and upgraded high-end retail. Within 30 months, 100 Park Avenue will be
a visually stunning demonstration of the evolution of SL Green’s vision and management’s
ability to deliver growth in new avenues.

230 Park

200 Park
Grand Central
Terminal

42nd Street
Bryant Park
B D

F

V

4

5

S

7

6

125 Park

666 3rd

100 Park Avenue
Rent: mid $ 40’s
Leased: 93%

101 Park
39th Street

90 Park

605 3rd
99 Park
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Property Location
Comparable properties rent for $50–$60 per square foot

834,000 rentable square feet, 36 stories

$60–$70 million planned renovation

One block south of Grand Central Terminal

100% Occupancy, 100% Value Gain
1515 Broadway

†

One of the great value creations achieved in New York real estate has been the
recapitalization of 1515 Broadway, also known as the Viacom Building. We worked closely
with our joint venture partner SITQ to fully lease the building’s office space and reposition
and lease its retail base in the heart of Times Square. We then took advantage of a fiercely
competitive market to execute an excellent refinancing arrangement for this signature asset.
Tapping into a favorable lending environment, we were able to make distributions to our
partner, and — after exceeding performance thresholds — we increased our economic
interest from 55 percent to approximately 68.5 percent. Originally purchased for $484 million, 1515 Broadway is now valued at more than $1 billion. Strongly accretive to our bottom
line, 1515 Broadway is a superb example of a creative, well-timed recapitalization.

1515 Broadway Recapitalization Generates Substantial Accretion
Pre-Recapitalization

Post-Recapitalization

$50.0M
$21.5M
$28.5M
55.0%
$15.7M
N/A
$15.7M
$ 0.33

$50.0M
$31.5M
$18.5M
68.5%
$12.7M
$8.0M
$20.7M
$ 0.44

Property NOI
Interest on Mortgage Debt
Property FFO
Economic Interest
Investment of Refinancing Proceeds
FFO Contribution
FFO Per Share

Substantial proceeds
and gains from effective
capital recycling

1,368
1,214

669
458
213
1.30

’00
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6.42
5.31

511

1.86

’01

1.91

’02

2.58

’03

Capital Recycling
(dollars in millions) except per share data

’04

’05
Cumulative Sales Proceeds
Gain per Share

The windows on Times Square

54 stories with 1.8 million rentable square feet

Home to Viacom, MTV Studios, Nokia AEG Live Theatre

SL Green Realty Corp. Portfolio

What a sight
these towers of
Manhattan are,
glittering
with millions of
golden specs,
soaring endlessly, as if they
were going to
touch the sky.

Map
Key Properties

Submarket

Ownership

Rockefeller Center
Grand Central North
Downtown East
Times Square South
Grand Central East
Grand Central South
Grand Central South
Grand Central South
Grand Central
Grand Central North
Times Square South
Grand Central
Park Avenue South
Midtown West
Grand Central South

Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Operating Sublease
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest

Times Square South
Grand Central North

Fee Interest
Operating Sublease/Fee (1)

Rentable
Sq. Feet

Percent
Percent
of Total Occupancy
Sq. Feet
12-31-05

Properties 100% Owned
2005 “Same Store”
01
02
03
04
05
06
07
08
09
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

1140 Avenue of the Americas
110 East 42nd Street
125 Broad Street
1372 Broadway
220 East 42nd Street
286 Madison Avenue
290 Madison Avenue
292 Madison Avenue
317 Madison Avenue
420 Lexington Avenue (Graybar)
440 Ninth Avenue
461 Fifth Avenue
470 Park Avenue South
555 West 57th Street
673 First Avenue
70 West 36th Street
711 Third Avenue

Subtotal/Weighted Average

191,000
181,000
525,000
508,000
1,135,000
112,000
37,000
187,000
450,000
1,188,000
339,000
200,000
260,000
941,000
422,000

1
1
3
3
6
1
0
1
2
7
2
1
1
5
2

97.1
96.5
100.0
84.1
99.5
99.8
100.0
99.7
93.7
97.1
100.0
89.7
93.8
100.0
77.8

151,000
524,000

1
3

96.1
100.0

7,351,000

40

95.9

292,000
780,000
563,000
359,000

2
4
3
2

96.8
100.0
91.7
94.2

2005 Adjustments
18
19
20
21

19 West 44th Street
750 Third Avenue
625 Madison Avenue
28 West 44th Street

Midtown
Grand Central Square
Plaza District
Midtown

Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest

Subtotal/Weighted Average

1,994,000

11

96.2

Total/Weighted Average Properties 100% Owned

9,345,000

51

96.0

913,000
670,000
1,750,000
834,000
2,550,000

5
4
9
5
14

97.8
95.8
100.0
92.7
96.5

6,717,000

37

97.0

921,000
1,176,900

5
7

100.0
97.5

2,097,900
8,814,900
18,159,900

12
49
100

98.6
97.4
96.7

220,000
23,600
41,100
20,100
62,006
21,500

57
6
11
5
16
6

0.0
0.0
17.2
100.0
100.0
100.0

388,306

100.0

N/A

Properties <100% Owned (Unconsolidated)
2005 “Same Store”

— Langston Hughes

22
23
24
25
26

1 Park Avenue—16.7%
1250 Broadway—55%
1515 Broadway—68.5%
100 Park Avenue—50%
1221 Avenue of the Americas—45%

Grand Central
Penn Station
Times Square
Grand Central South
Rockefeller Center

Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest

Subtotal/Weighted Average
123

2005 Adjustments
27
28

485 Lexington Avenue—30%
1 Madison Avenue—55%

Grand Central Square
Park Avenue South

Fee Interest
Fee Interest

Subtotal/Weighted Average
Total/Weighted Average Properties Less Than 100% Owned
Year End 2005 Grand Total

76

(1) Including Ownership of 50% in Building Fee
49

45

Retail & Development Properties

48
38

35

36 38
28 30

28

30

33

36
31 30
23

19
10

SLG

HRP

CRE

ARI

Substantial Discount
to Estimated Replacement
Cost Per Share

HIW

RA

BDN

EOP

MPG

OFC

29
30
31
32
33
34

1 Madison Avenue—Residential
1551–1555 Broadway—50%
1604 Broadway—45%
21 West 34th Street—50%
379 West Broadway—45%
141 Fifth Avenue—50%

Total/Weighted Average Properties

12/30/05
Replacement Cost per Share

Source: Replacement cost from Legg Mason’s Report “Income is Fleeting, Basis is Forever” dated September, 2005
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Park Avenue South
Times Square
Times Square
Herald Square/Penn Station
Cast Iron/SoHo
Flat Iron

Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest

Reaching New Heights The SL Green Portfolio
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1604 Broadway 31

1551-1555 Broadway 30

555 West 57th Street 14

1515 Broadway 29

1372 Broadway 04

Welcome to our neighborhood. Manhattan. The capital of the world. And our assets today
represent New York’s greatest collection of real estate jewels. A total of 34 signature office
and retail properties covering 18.9 million square feet. In New York City, no one has more.
Our properties are in vibrant, smart neighborhoods. Addresses that resonate on Park
Avenue, Broadway and East 42nd Street. Assets at the heart of iconic intersections like
Times Square and Rockefeller Center. Our real estate borders major transportation hubs
like Grand Central and Penn stations. Each of our properties has its own distinct story. All
are connected by place. Manhattan. Our neighborhood.

220 East 42nd Street 05

711 Third Avenue 17

110 East 42nd Street 02

100 Park Avenue 25

750 Third Avenue 19

485 Lexington 27

420 Lexington 10

286 Madison 06

317 Madison 09

290 Madison 07

292 Madison 08

461 Fifth Avenue 12

625 Madison 20

19 West 44th Street 18

28 West 44th Street 21

1140 Avenue of the Americas 01

1221 Avenue of the Americas 26

Properties Not Pictured

125 Broad Street
03

440 Ninth Avenue
11

470 Park Avenue South 13

One Park Avenue
22

1 Madison Avenue
28

21 West 34th Street
32

379 West Broadway
33

141 Fifth Avenue
34

673 First Avenue
15

70 West 36th Street
16

1250 Broadway
23

220 East 42nd Street 05

711 Third Avenue 17

110 East 42nd Street 02

100 Park Avenue 25

750 Third Avenue 19

485 Lexington 27

420 Lexington 10

286 Madison 06

317 Madison 09

290 Madison 07

292 Madison 08

461 Fifth Avenue 12

625 Madison 20

19 West 44th Street 18

28 West 44th Street 21

1140 Avenue of the Americas 01

1221 Avenue of the Americas 26

Properties Not Pictured

125 Broad Street
03

440 Ninth Avenue
11

470 Park Avenue South 13

One Park Avenue
22

1 Madison Avenue
28

21 West 34th Street
32

379 West Broadway
33

141 Fifth Avenue
34

673 First Avenue
15

70 West 36th Street
16

1250 Broadway
23

SL Green Realty Corp. Portfolio

What a sight
these towers of
Manhattan are,
glittering
with millions of
golden specs,
soaring endlessly, as if they
were going to
touch the sky.

Map
Key Properties

Submarket

Ownership

Rockefeller Center
Grand Central North
Downtown East
Times Square South
Grand Central East
Grand Central South
Grand Central South
Grand Central South
Grand Central
Grand Central North
Times Square South
Grand Central
Park Avenue South
Midtown West
Grand Central South

Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Operating Sublease
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest

Times Square South
Grand Central North

Fee Interest
Operating Sublease/Fee (1)

Rentable
Sq. Feet

Percent
Percent
of Total Occupancy
Sq. Feet
12-31-05

Properties 100% Owned
2005 “Same Store”
01
02
03
04
05
06
07
08
09
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

1140 Avenue of the Americas
110 East 42nd Street
125 Broad Street
1372 Broadway
220 East 42nd Street
286 Madison Avenue
290 Madison Avenue
292 Madison Avenue
317 Madison Avenue
420 Lexington Avenue (Graybar)
440 Ninth Avenue
461 Fifth Avenue
470 Park Avenue South
555 West 57th Street
673 First Avenue
70 West 36th Street
711 Third Avenue

Subtotal/Weighted Average

191,000
181,000
525,000
508,000
1,135,000
112,000
37,000
187,000
450,000
1,188,000
339,000
200,000
260,000
941,000
422,000

1
1
3
3
6
1
0
1
2
7
2
1
1
5
2

97.1
96.5
100.0
84.1
99.5
99.8
100.0
99.7
93.7
97.1
100.0
89.7
93.8
100.0
77.8

151,000
524,000

1
3

96.1
100.0

7,351,000

40

95.9

292,000
780,000
563,000
359,000

2
4
3
2

96.8
100.0
91.7
94.2

2005 Adjustments
18
19
20
21

19 West 44th Street
750 Third Avenue
625 Madison Avenue
28 West 44th Street

Midtown
Grand Central Square
Plaza District
Midtown

Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest

Subtotal/Weighted Average

1,994,000

11

96.2

Total/Weighted Average Properties 100% Owned

9,345,000

51

96.0

913,000
670,000
1,750,000
834,000
2,550,000

5
4
9
5
14

97.8
95.8
100.0
92.7
96.5

6,717,000

37

97.0

921,000
1,176,900

5
7

100.0
97.5

2,097,900
8,814,900
18,159,900

12
49
100

98.6
97.4
96.7

220,000
23,600
41,100
20,100
62,006
21,500

57
6
11
5
16
6

0.0
0.0
17.2
100.0
100.0
100.0

388,306

100.0

N/A

Properties <100% Owned (Unconsolidated)
2005 “Same Store”

— Langston Hughes

22
23
24
25
26

1 Park Avenue—16.7%
1250 Broadway—55%
1515 Broadway—68.5%
100 Park Avenue—50%
1221 Avenue of the Americas—45%

Grand Central
Penn Station
Times Square
Grand Central South
Rockefeller Center

Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Fee Interest

Subtotal/Weighted Average
123

2005 Adjustments
27
28

485 Lexington Avenue—30%
1 Madison Avenue—55%

Grand Central Square
Park Avenue South

Fee Interest
Fee Interest

Subtotal/Weighted Average
Total/Weighted Average Properties Less Than 100% Owned
Year End 2005 Grand Total

76

(1) Including Ownership of 50% in Building Fee
49

45

Retail & Development Properties

48
38

35

36 38
28 30

28

30

33

36
31 30
23

19
10

SLG

HRP

CRE

ARI

Substantial Discount
to Estimated Replacement
Cost Per Share

HIW

RA

BDN

EOP

MPG

OFC

29
30
31
32
33
34

1 Madison Avenue—Residential
1551–1555 Broadway—50%
1604 Broadway—45%
21 West 34th Street—50%
379 West Broadway—45%
141 Fifth Avenue—50%

Total/Weighted Average Properties

12/30/05
Replacement Cost per Share

Source: Replacement cost from Legg Mason’s Report “Income is Fleeting, Basis is Forever” dated September, 2005
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Park Avenue South
Times Square
Times Square
Herald Square/Penn Station
Cast Iron/SoHo
Flat Iron

Fee Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest
Leasehold Interest
Fee Interest
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Selected Financial Data
The following table sets forth our selected financial data and should be read in conjunction with our Financial Statements and notes
thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual Report.
In connection with this Annual Report we are restating our historical audited consolidated financial statements as a result of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, or SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”
During the periods presented below, we classified properties as held for sale and, in compliance with SFAS No. 144, have reported revenue and expenses from these properties as discontinued operations, net of minority interest, for each period presented in our Annual
Report. This reclassification had no effect on our reported net income or funds from operations.
We are also providing updated summary selected financial information, which is included below reflecting the prior period
reclassification as discontinued operations of the property classified as held for sale during 2005.

Operating Data (In thousands, except per share data)

Total revenue
Operating expenses
Real estate taxes
Ground rent
Interest
Amortization of deferred finance costs
Depreciation and amortization
Marketing, general and administration
Total expenses
Income from continuing operations before items
Equity in net (loss) income from affiliates
Equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures
Income from continuing operations before minority interest and
gain on sales
Minority interest
Income before gains on sale and cumulative effect of accounting change
Gain on sale of properties/preferred investments
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations (net of minority interest)
Net income
Preferred dividends and accretion
Income available to common stockholders
Net income per common share – Basic
Net income per common share – Diluted
Cash dividends declared per common share
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average common shares and
common share equivalents outstanding
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2005

Year Ended December 31,
2004
2003
2002

2001

$440,182
104,098
60,659
19,598
77,353
4,461
60,647
44,215
371,031
69,151
–
49,349

$343,718
84,475
48,030
16,179
61,636
3,275
48,220
30,279
292,094
51,624
–
44,037

$281,670
72,246
39,832
13,562
44,404
3,844
37,784
17,131
228,803
52,867
(196)
14,871

$210,728
48,482
24,539
12,637
34,321
3,427
28,973
13,282
165,661
45,067
292
18,383

$215,759
48,021
25,249
12,579
42,754
3,608
27,998
15,374
175,583
40,176
(1,054)
8,607

118,500
(6,981)
111,519
11,550
–
123,069
34,350
157,419
(19,875)
$137,544
$
3.29
$
3.20
$
2.22
41,793

95,661
(5,630)
90,031
22,012
–
112,043
97,387
209,430
(16,258)
$193,172
$
4.93
$
4.75
$
2.04
39,171

67,542
(4,117)
63,425
3,087
–
66,512
31,647
98,159
(7,712)
90,447
2.80
2.66
1.895
32,265

63,742
(3,708)
60,034
–
–
60,034
14,297
74,331
(9,690)
64,641
2.14
2.09
1.7925
30,236

47,729
(3,395)
44,334
4,956
(532)
48,758
14,243
63,001
(9,658)
53,343
1.98
1.94
1.605
26,993

45,504

43,078

$
$
$
$

38,970

$
$
$
$

37,786

$
$
$
$

29,808

Selected Financial Data (continued)

Balance Sheet Data (In thousands)

Commercial real estate, before accumulated depreciation
Total assets
Mortgage notes payable, revolving credit facilities, term loans and
trust preferred securities
Minority interests
Preferred Income Equity Redeemable SharesSM
Stockholders’ equity

Other Data (In thousands)

Funds from operations available to common stockholders(1)
Funds from operations available to all stockholders(1)
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investment activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

2005

2004

As of December 31,
2003

$2,222,922 $1,756,104 $1,346,431
3,309,777
2,751,881
2,261,841
1,542,252
99,061
–
1,459,441

2005

$ 189,513
189,513
138,398
(465,674)
315,585

1,150,376
75,064
–
1,347,880

1,119,449
54,791
–
950,782

2002

2001

$ 975,776
1,473,170

$ 984,375
1,371,577

541,503
44,718
111,721
626,645

504,831
46,430
111,231
612,908

Year Ended December 31,
2004
2003
2002

$ 162,377
162,377
164,458
(269,045)
101,836

$ 128,780
135,473
96,121
(509,240)
393,645

$116,230
125,430
116,694
(67,074)
(4,793)

2001

$ 94,416
103,616
83,631
(423,104)
341,873

(1) Funds From Operations, or FFO, is a widely recognized measure of REIT performance. We compute FFO in accordance with standards established by the National
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, which may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs that do not compute FFO in accordance with
the NAREIT definition, or that interpret the NAREIT definition differently than we do. The revised White Paper on FFO approved by the Board of Governors of
NAREIT in April 2002 defines FFO as net income (loss) (computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP), excluding gains (or
losses) from debt restructuring and sales of properties, plus real estate related depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships
and joint ventures. We present FFO because we consider it an important supplemental measure of our operating performance and believe that it is frequently used
by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of REITS, particularly those that own and operate commercial office properties. We also
use FFO as one of several criteria to determine performance-based bonuses for members of our senior management. FFO is intended to exclude GAAP historical
cost depreciation and amortization of real estate and related assets, which assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes ratably over time. Historically,
however, real estate values have risen or fallen with market conditions. Because FFO excludes depreciation and amortization unique to real estate, gains and losses
from property dispositions and extraordinary items, it provides a performance measure that, when compared year over year, reflects the impact to operations from
trends in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating costs, interest costs, providing perspective not immediately apparent from net income. FFO does not represent
cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income (determined in accordance with
GAAP), as an indication of our financial performance or to cash flow from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure of our liquidity, nor
is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make cash distributions.
A reconciliation of FFO to net income computed in accordance with GAAP is provided under the heading of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations – Funds From Operations.”
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
OVERVIEW
SL Green Realty Corp., or the Company, a Maryland corporation,
and SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P., or the Operating
Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership, were formed in
June 1997 for the purpose of combining the commercial real
estate business of S.L. Green Properties, Inc. and its affiliated
partnerships and entities. We are a self-managed real estate
investment trust, or REIT, with in-house capabilities in property
management, acquisitions, financing, development, construction
and leasing. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references
to “we,” “our” and “us” means the Company and all entities owned
or controlled by the Company, including the Operating Partnership.
The following discussion related to our consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements appearing in this Annual Report.
Recovery of the commercial real estate market that began in
2003 took hold in 2004 and solidified in 2005. Leasing activity
for Manhattan, a borough of New York City, totaled approximately
25.5 million square feet compared to 29.5 million square feet in
2004. Of the total 2005 leasing activity in Manhattan, Midtown, a
submarket of Manhattan, accounted for approximately 17.9 million square feet, or 70.0%. Overall vacancy in Midtown decreased
from 10.1% in 2004 to 7.8% in 2005. Overall asking rents in
Midtown increased from $45.98 at year-end 2004 to $47.41 at
year-end 2005, an increase greater than 3.0%. Midtown again
saw positive absorption of 6.8 million square feet. This increase in
leasing activity was led by financial services firms, law firms and
communications/media firms.
During 2005, no new office space was added to the Midtown
office inventory. In a supply-constrained market, there are few
signs of a reprieve, with only 4.8 million square feet under construction in Midtown as of year-end, 2.9 million square feet of
which is already pre-leased.
New York City sales activity in 2005 surpassed the record set
in 2004, as total volume reached approximately $19.4 billion.
We saw significant increases in short-term interest rates,
although they still remain low compared to historical levels. The
30-day LIBOR rate ended 2005 at 4.39%, a 199 basis point
increase from the end of 2004. The ten-year US Treasuries
ended 2005 at 4.39% compared to 4.22% at the end of 2004.
The record hurricane season in 2005 caused several oil and
gas wells and refineries to be taken off line for a period of time.
This reduction in supply caused the price of oil and gas to
increase. This in turn impacted the cost of utilities to operate
our properties.
Uncertainty over whether the Federal government would
extend the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act resulted in large
increases in insurance premiums for policies that were bound
towards the end of 2005.
We once again had an active year in 2005. The highlights follow:
• Acquired four properties for approximately $1.1 billion,
encompassing 1.8 million square feet;
• Acquired interests in six retail properties for approximately
$139.9 million, encompassing 168,000 square feet;
• Sold two properties at an aggregate gross sales price of
$153.2 million;
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• Invested approximately $46.7 million in Gramercy Capital
Corp., or Gramercy, a specialty finance company;
• Originated approximately $50.0 million of new structured
finance investments, net of redemptions;
• Closed a new unsecured revolving credit facility at spreads
ranging from 85 basis points to 125 basis points;
• Closed approximately $2.1 billion of mortgage financing, a
$100.0 million secured term loan and $100.0 million of junior
subordinate deferrable interest debentures;
• Increased portfolio occupancy from 95.6% at December 31,
2004 to 96.7% at December 31, 2005; and
• Signed 239 office leases totaling 2.1 million square feet
during 2005 while increasing the cash rents paid by new tenants
on previously occupied space by 11.2% over the most recent
cash rent paid by the previous tenants for the same space.
The net-lease with Teachers Insurance Annuity Society, or
TIAA, at 750 Third Avenue and 485 Lexington Avenue ended on
December 31, 2005. The majority of the space vacated by TIAA
in January 2006 had been leased to other tenants resulting in
750 Third being 91.6% leased and 485 Lexington being 79.6%
leased at the end of January 2006.
Our outlook for 2006 is a continuation of the solid performance
demonstrated in 2005.
As of December 31, 2005, our wholly-owned properties
consisted of 21 commercial office properties encompassing
approximately 9.4 million rentable square feet located primarily in
midtown Manhattan, a borough of New York City, or Manhattan.
As of December 31, 2005, the weighted average occupancy
(total leased square feet divided by total available square feet) of
the wholly-owned properties was 96.0%. Our portfolio also
includes ownership interests in unconsolidated joint ventures,
which own seven commercial office properties in Manhattan,
encompassing approximately 8.8 million rentable square feet, and
which had a weighted average occupancy of 97.4% as of
December 31, 2005. We also own 388,000 square feet of retail
and development properties. In addition, we manage three office
properties owned by third parties and affiliated companies
encompassing approximately 1.0 million rentable square feet.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations is based on our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and
contingencies as of the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. We evaluate our assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
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differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions. We believe the following critical accounting policies
affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Rental Property
On a periodic basis, our management team assesses whether
there are any indicators that the value of our real estate properties,
including joint venture properties and assets held for sale, and
structured finance investments may be impaired. If the carrying
amount of the property is greater than the estimated expected
future cash flow (undiscounted and without interest charges) of
the asset or sales price, impairment has occurred. We will then
record an impairment loss equal to the difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the asset. We do not believe
that the value of any of our rental properties or structured finance
investments was impaired at December 31, 2005 and 2004.
A variety of costs are incurred in the acquisition, development
and leasing of our properties. After determination is made to
capitalize a cost, it is allocated to the specific component of a
project that is benefited. Determination of when a development
project is substantially complete and capitalization must cease
involves a degree of judgment. Our capitalization policy on our
development properties is guided by SFAS No. 34 “Capitalization
of Interest Cost” and SFAS No. 67 “Accounting for Costs and
Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects.” The costs of
land and building under development include specifically
identifiable costs. The capitalized costs include pre-construction
costs essential to the development of the property, development
costs, construction costs, interest costs, real estate taxes,
salaries and related costs and other costs incurred during the
period of development. We consider a construction project as
substantially completed and held available for occupancy upon
the completion of tenant improvements, but no later than one
year from cessation of major construction activity. We cease
capitalization on the portions substantially completed and occupied
or held available for occupancy, and capitalize only those costs
associated with the portions under construction.
In accordance with SFAS 141, “Business Combinations,” we
allocate the purchase price of real estate to land and building and,
if determined to be material, intangibles, such as the value of
above, below and at-market leases and origination costs associated
with the in-place leases. We depreciate the amount allocated to
building and other intangible assets over their estimated useful
lives, which generally range from three to 40 years. The values of
the above and below market leases are amortized and recorded as
either an increase (in the case of below market leases) or a
decrease (in the case of above market leases) to rental income
over the remaining term of the associated lease. The value associated
with in-place leases and tenant relationships are amortized over
the expected term of the relationship, which includes an estimated
probability of the lease renewal, and its estimated term. If a tenant
vacates its space prior to the contractual termination of the lease
and no rental payments are being made on the lease, any
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unamortized balance of the related intangible will be written off.
The tenant improvements and origination costs are amortized as
an expense over the remaining life of the lease (or charged against
earnings if the lease is terminated prior to its contractual expiration
date). We assess fair value of the leases based on estimated cash
flow projections that utilize appropriate discount and capitalization
rates and available market information. Estimates of future cash
flows are based on a number of factors including the historical
operating results, known trends, and market/economic conditions
that may affect the property.
Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures
We account for our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures
under the equity method of accounting as we exercise significant
influence, but do not control these entities and are not considered
to be the primary beneficiary under FIN 46R. We consolidate
those joint ventures where we are considered to be the primary
beneficiary, even though we do not control the entity. In all the joint
ventures, the rights of the minority investor are both protective as
well as participating. Unless we are determined to be the primary
beneficiary, these rights preclude us from consolidating these
investments. These investments are recorded initially at cost, as
investments in unconsolidated joint ventures, and subsequently
adjusted for equity in net income (loss) and cash contributions
and distributions. Any difference between the carrying amount of
these investments on our balance sheet and the underlying equity
in net assets is amortized as an adjustment to equity in net
income (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures over the lesser of
the joint venture term or 40 years. See Note 6. None of the joint
venture debt is recourse to us.
Revenue Recognition
Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. The excess of rents recognized over amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying leases are included in
deferred rents receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.
We establish, on a current basis, an allowance for future potential
tenant credit losses, which may occur against this account. The
balance reflected on the balance sheet is net of such allowance.
Interest income on structured finance investments is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method and recognized on the accrual basis. Fees received in
connection with loan commitments are deferred until the loan is
funded and are then recognized over the term of the loan as an
adjustment to yield. Anticipated exit fees, whose collection is
expected, are also recognized over the term of the loan as an
adjustment to yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are
recognized at expiration.
Income recognition is generally suspended for structured
finance investments at the earlier of the date at which payments
become 90 days past due or when, in the opinion of management, a full recovery of income and principal becomes doubtful.
Income recognition is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses resulting from the inability of our tenants to make required
rent payments. If the financial condition of a specific tenant were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of its ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
Reserve for Possible Credit Losses
The expense for possible credit losses in connection with structured
finance investments is the charge to earnings to increase the
allowance for possible credit losses to the level that we estimate to
be adequate considering delinquencies, loss experience and collateral quality. Other factors considered relate to geographic
trends and product diversification, the size of the portfolio and
current economic conditions. Based upon these factors, we
establish the provision for possible credit losses by category of
asset. When it is probable that we will be unable to collect all
amounts contractually due, the account is considered impaired.
Where impairment is indicated, a valuation write-down or
write-off is measured based upon the excess of the recorded
investment amount over the net fair value of the collateral, as
reduced by selling costs. Any deficiency between the carrying
amount of an asset and the net sales price of repossessed collateral is charged to the allowance for credit losses. No reserve for
impairment was required at December 31, 2005 or 2004.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2005
to the year ended December 31, 2004
The following comparison for the year ended December 31,
2005, or 2005, to the year ended December 31, 2004, or 2004,
makes reference to the following: (i) the effect of the “SameStore Properties,” which represents all properties owned by us at
January 1, 2004 and at December 31, 2005 and total 17 of our
21 wholly-owned properties, representing approximately 75% of
our annualized rental revenue, (ii) the effect of the “Acquisitions,”
which represents all properties acquired in 2004, namely,
750 Third Avenue (July 2004) and 625 Madison Avenue
(October 2004) and in 2005, namely, 28 West 44th Street
(Februar y 2005), One Madison Avenue-Clock Tower
(April 2005), 19 West 44th Street (June 2005), 141 Fifth Avenue
(August 2005), 1604 Broadway (November 2005) and
(iii) “Other,” which represents corporate level items not allocable to
specific properties, the Service Corporation and eEmerge. Assets
classified as held for sale in 2004, namely 1466 Broadway and
17 Battery Place and in 2005, namely, 1414 Avenue of the
Americas, are excluded from the following discussion.
Rental Revenues
(in millions)

Derivative Instruments
In the normal course of business, we use a variety of derivative
instruments to manage, or hedge, interest rate risk. We require
that hedging derivative instruments be effective in reducing the
interest rate risk exposure that they are designated to hedge. This
effectiveness is essential for qualifying for hedge accounting.
Some derivative instruments are associated with an anticipated
transaction. In those cases, hedge effectiveness criteria also
require that it be probable that the underlying transaction occurs.
Instruments that meet these hedging criteria are formally
designated as hedges at the inception of the derivative contract.
To determine the fair values of derivative instruments, we use a
variety of methods and assumptions that are based on market
conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date. For the
majority of financial instruments including most derivatives,
long-term investments and long-term debt, standard market conventions and techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis,
option-pricing models, replacement cost, and termination cost are
used to determine fair value. All methods of assessing fair value
result in a general approximation of value, and such value may
never actually be realized.
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2005

2004 $ Change % Change

Rental revenue
Escalation and
reimbursement
revenue
Total

$298.5

$240.4

$58.1

24.2%

58.5
$357.0

44.4
$284.8

14.1
$72.2

31.8
25.4%

Same-Store Properties
Acquisitions
Other
Total

$286.6
69.4
1.0
$357.0

$272.9
12.9
(1.0)
$284.8

$13.7
56.5
2.0
$72.2

5.0%
438.0
200.0
25.4%

Occupancy in the Same-Store Properties increased slightly
from 95.8% at December 31, 2004 to 95.9% at December 31,
2005. The increase in the Acquisitions is primarily due to owning
these properties for a period during the year in 2005 compared
to a partial period or not being included in 2004.
At December 31, 2005, we estimated that the current market
rents on our wholly-owned properties were approximately 18.7%
higher than then existing in-place fully escalated rents.
Approximately 6.7% of the space leased at our wholly-owned
properties expires during 2006. We believe that occupancy rates
at the Same-Store Properties will range between approximately
96% and 97% in 2006.
The increase in escalation and reimbursement revenue was
primarily due to the recoveries at the Same-Store Properties
($6.4 million), and the Acquisitions ($7.4 million) and in Other
($0.4 million). The increase in recoveries at the Same-Store
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Proper ties was primarily due to electric reimbursements
($3.5 million), operating expense recoveries ($1.3 million) and
real estate tax recoveries ($1.5 million).
Investment and Other Income
(in millions)

2005

Equity in net income of
unconsolidated
joint ventures
$ 49.3
Investment and preferred
equity income
45.0
Other
38.2
Total
$132.5

Same-Store Properties operating expenses, excluding real
estate taxes ($3.0 million), increased approximately $7.9 million. There were increases in advertising, insurance, and
condominium management costs ($0.5 million), repairs, maintenance and payroll expenses ($2.1 million), and utilities
($5.9 million). This was partially offset by a decrease in ground
2004 $ Change % Change
rent ($0.6 million).
The increase in real estate taxes was primarily attributable to
the Same-Store Properties ($3.0 million) due to higher assessed
$ 44.0
$ 5.3
12.1% property values and the Acquisitions ($9.7 million).
39.1
19.9
$103.0

5.9
18.3
$29.5

15.1
Other Expenses
92.0
28.6% (in millions)

The increase in equity in net income of unconsolidated
joint ventures was primarily due to contributions from
1515 Broadway ($0.4 million), 1221 Avenue of the Americas
($1.0 million) and Gramercy ($7.3 million). This was partially
offset by decreases at One-Madison Avenue-South Building
($1.7 million), 100 Park Avenue, ($1.1 million) and by a reduction
in our interest in One Park Avenue from 55% to 16.7%
($1.8 million). Occupancy at our joint venture properties increased
from 97.1% in 2004 to 97.4% in 2005. At December 31, 2005,
we estimated that current market rents at our joint venture
properties were approximately 38.4% higher than then existing
in-place fully escalated rents. Approximately 6.3% of the space
leased at our joint venture properties expires during 2006.
The increase in investment and preferred equity income was
primarily due to the weighted average investment balance
outstanding and yield being $393.9 million and 10.5%,
respectively, for 2005 compared to $285.0 million and 10.5%,
respectively, for 2004. In addition, we recognized a one-time gain
on a mortgage investment of $4.2 million in 2004.
The increase in Other was primarily due to an incentive fee
recognized in 2005 in connection with the resolution of the
MSREF joint ventures ($10.8 million), lease buy-out income
($0.7 million), fee income earned by GKK Manager LLC, an
affiliate of ours and the external manager of Gramercy,
(approximately $9.2 million), fee income earned by the service
corporation ($1.0 million) and fee income from the settlement of a
prior structured finance investment (approximately $1.3 million).
This was offset by an incentive fee recognized in 2004 in connection with the recapitalization of One Park Avenue (approximately $4.3 million).
Property Operating Expenses
(in millions)

2005

2004 $ Change

Operating expenses
Real estate taxes
Ground rent
Total

$104.1
60.7
19.6
$184.4

$ 84.5
48.0
16.2
$148.7

$19.6
12.7
3.4
$35.7

Same-Store Properties
Acquisitions
Other
Total

$145.7
28.4
10.3
$184.4

$134.8
4.0
9.9
$148.7

$10.9
24.4
0.4
$35.7
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2005

Interest expense
$ 81.8
Depreciation and
amortization expense
60.6
Marketing, general
and administrative
expenses
44.2
Total
$186.6

2004 $ Change % Change

$ 64.9

$16.9

48.2

12.4

30.3
$143.4

13.9
$43.2

26.0%
25.7

45.9
30.1%

The increase in interest expense was primarily attributable to
costs associated with new investment activity and the funding of
ongoing capital projects and working capital requirements. The
weighted average interest rate decreased from 5.61% for the
year ended December 31, 2004 to 5.54% for the year ended
December 31, 2005. As a result of the new investment activity,
the weighted average debt balance increased from $1.1 billion as
of December 31, 2004 to $1.5 billion as of December 31, 2005.
Marketing, general and administrative expenses represented
10.0% of total revenues in 2005 compared to 8.8% in 2004.
The increase in marketing, general and administrative expenses
are primarily due to the increased headcount at the Company and
GKK Manager LLC.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2004 to the
year ended December 31, 2003
The following comparison for the year ended December 31, 2004,
or 2004, to the year ended December 31, 2003, or 2003, makes
reference to the following: (i) the effect of the “Same-Store
Properties,” which represents all properties owned by us at
January 1, 2003 and at December 31, 2004 and totaled 15 of
our 20 wholly-owned properties, represented approximately 61%
of our annualized rental revenue, (ii) the effect of the “Acquisitions,”
which represents all properties acquired in 2003, namely,
220 East 42nd Street (February 2003), 125 Broad Street
(March 2003) and 461 Fifth Avenue (October 2003) and in 2004,
% Change
namely, 750 Third Avenue (July 2004) and 625 Madison Avenue
23.2% (October 2004), and (iii) “Other,” which represents corporate level
26.5 items not allocable to specific properties and eEmerge. Assets
21.0
classified as held for sale in 2003, namely 50 West 23rd Street,
24.0%
1370 Broadway and 875 Bridgeport Avenue, Shelton, CT and in
2004, namely, 1466 Broadway and 17 Battery Place are excluded
8.1%
610.0
4.0
24.0%
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from the following discussion. In 2005, 1414 Avenue of the
Americas was classified as held for sale. It was sold on April 12,
2005. It has also been excluded from the following discussion.
Rental Revenues
(in millions)

2004

2003 $ Change % Change

Rental revenue
Escalation and
reimbursement
revenue
Total

$240.4

$210.0

$30.4

14.5%

44.4
$284.8

39.1
$249.1

5.3
$35.7

13.6
14.3%

Same-Store Properties
Acquisitions
Other
Total

$202.4
83.4
(1.0)
$284.8

$196.4
50.6
2.1
$249.1

$ 6.0
32.8
(3.1)
$35.7

3.1%
64.8
(147.6)
14.3%

Despite a decrease in weighted average occupancy in the
Same-Store Properties from 95.8% in 2003 to 95.2% in
2004, rental revenue in the Same-Store Properties increased
because new cash rents on previously occupied space by new
tenants at Same-Store Properties was 0.5% higher than the
previously fully escalated rent (i.e., the latest annual rent paid on
the same space by the old tenant).
At December 31, 2004, we estimated that the current market
rents on our wholly-owned properties were approximately 15.3%
higher than then existing in-place fully escalated rents.
Approximately 15.9% of the space leased at wholly-owned
properties expires during 2005. This excludes approximately
440,000 square feet of in-place leases at 750 Third Avenue,
which will remain in place after Teachers Insurance lease ends in
December 2005. We believed that occupancy rates at the SameStore Properties would increase to approximately 96% in 2005.
The increase in escalation and reimbursement revenue was
primarily due to the recoveries at the Same-Store Properties
($1.6 million) and the Acquisitions ($4.1 million). This was offset
by a decrease in other entities ($0.4 million). The increase in
recoveries at the Same-Store Properties was primarily due to real
estate tax recoveries ($0.9 million) and operating expense
recoveries ($0.3 million). We recovered approximately 95% of our
electric costs at our Same-Store Properties during 2004.

($28.4 million). This was partially offset by a reduction in our
interest in One Park Avenue from 55% to 16.7% ($2.5 million).
Occupancy at our joint venture properties increased from
95.8% in 2003 to 96.9% in 2004. At December 31, 2004, we
estimated that current market rents at our joint venture
properties were approximately 19.1% higher than then existing
in-place fully escalated rents. Approximately 15.4% of the
space leased at our joint venture properties was expected to
expire during 2005.
The increase in investment and preferred equity income was
primarily due to the weighted average investment balance
outstanding and yield being $285.0 million and 10.5%, respectively, for 2004 compared to $135.8 million and 11.7%,
respectively, for 2003. In addition, we recognized a $4.2 million
gain in 2004 offset by a $4.5 million gain in 2003 from a partial
distribution from a joint venture, which owned a mortgage position
in a portfolio of office and industrial properties. The balance of the
increase is primarily from the amortization of origination fees, the
receipt of exit fees and accelerated origination fees due to the
redemption of certain investments (approximately $3.7 million).
The increase in Other was primarily due to lease buy-out
income ($0.8 million), fee income earned by GKK Manager LLC,
an affiliate of ours and the external manager of Gramercy
(approximately $1.3 million) and fee income earned by the service
corporation ($4.2 million), which was accounted for under the
equity method prior to July 1, 2003. In addition, we recognized an
incentive distribution resulting from the sale of an interest in One
Park Avenue ($4.3 million). This was offset by a reduction in gains
from the sale of non-real estate assets ($0.4 million) and asset
management fees ($1.4 million).
Property Operating Expenses
(in millions)

2004

2003 $ Change % Change

Operating expenses
Real estate taxes
Ground rent
Total

$ 84.5
48.0
16.2
$148.7

$ 72.2
39.8
13.6
$125.6

$12.3
8.2
2.6
$23.1

17.0%
20.6
19.1
18.4%

Same-Store Properties
Acquisitions
Other
Total

$ 99.7
39.1
9.9
$148.7

$ 95.0
24.5
6.1
$125.6

$ 4.7
14.6
3.8
$23.1

4.9%
59.6
62.3
18.4%

Investment and Other Income
Same-Store Properties operating expenses, excluding real
estate taxes ($2.6 million), increased approximately $2.0 milEquity in net income of
lion. There were increases in payroll and cleaning costs
unconsolidated
($0.9 million) and repairs, maintenance and security expenses
joint ventures
$44.0
$14.9
$29.1
195.3% ($1.3 million). This was offset by reductions in advertising,
Investment and preferred
insurance, professional and management costs ($0.1 million)
equity income
39.1
22.1
17.0
76.9
and utility costs ($0.1 million).
Other
19.9
10.5
9.4
89.5
The increase in real estate taxes was primarily attributable to
Total
$103.0
$47.5
$55.5
116.8%
the Same-Store Properties ($2.6 million) due to higher assessed
property values and increased tax rates and the Acquisitions
The increase in equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ($5.6 million).
ventures was primarily due to our acquisition of a 45% interest
in 1221 Avenue of the Americas in late December 2003
(in millions)
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2003 $ Change % Change
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CASH FLOWS

Other Expenses
(in millions)

2004

Interest expense
$ 64.9
Depreciation and
amortization expense
48.2
Marketing, general
and administrative
expenses
30.3
Total
$143.4

2003 $ Change % Change

$ 48.2

$16.7

2005 Compared to 2004

34.6% Net cash provided by operating activities decreased approximately

$26.1 million from approximately $164.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 compared to approximately $138.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005. Operating cash flow was
17.1
13.2
77.2 primarily generated by the Same-Store Proper ties and
$103.1
$40.3
39.1% Acquisitions, as well as income earned on the structured finance
investments and distributions from joint venture investments.
The increase in interest expense was primarily attributable to
There was an increase in investment activity in 2005
costs associated with new investment activity and the funding of compared to 2004. We closed on approximately $435.7 million of
ongoing capital projects and working capital requirements. The new consolidated investments in 2005, including 28 West 44th
weighted average interest rate decreased from 5.66% for the year Street, One Madison Avenue-Clock Tower, an additional interest
ended December 31, 2003 to 5.61% for the year ended in 19 West 44th Street, 1551/1555 Broadway, 21 West 34th
December 31, 2004. As a result of the new investment activity, the Street, 141 Fifth Avenue and 1604 Broadway compared to
weighted average debt balance increased from $756.4 million as of $388.2 in 2004 when we funded the acquisitions of 750 Third
December 31, 2003 to $1.1 billion as of December 31, 2004.
Avenue and 625 Madison Avenue. We have also spent more
Marketing, general and administrative expenses increased funds on capital improvements in 2005 (approximately
primarily as a result of higher compensation costs including a $48.7 million) as compared to 2004 (approximately
one-time charge related to a restricted stock award, administrative $31.3 million) primarily relating to increased leasing activity. We
and compensation costs associated with GKK Manager, and increased our level of investments in joint ventures by
higher professional fees primarily due to implementation of the approximately $47.9 million primarily in 2005 compared to 2004
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. by acquiring an interest in the south building at One Madison
Marketing, general and administrative costs represented 8.8% of Avenue-South Building in addition to making follow-on
total revenues in 2004 compared to 6.0% in 2003.
investments in Gramercy in 2005, compared to investments in 19
West 44th Street, 485 Lexington Avenue and Gramercy in 2004.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
We funded a portion of the 2005 acquisitions through the sale of
We currently expect that our principal sources of working capital assets, which generated net proceeds of approximately
and funds for acquisition and redevelopment of properties, tenant $59.7 million compared to $220.3 million in 2004. Distributions
improvements and leasing costs and for structured finance in excess of cumulative earnings from unconsolidated joint
investments will include:
ventures increased approximately $7.6 million primarily due to the
(1) Cash flow from operations;
refinancing of 100 Park and 1515 Broadway and the sale of
(2) Borrowings under our 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility; 180 Madison Avenue in 2005 compared to the refinancing in
(3) Other forms of secured or unsecured financing;
2004 of 1515 Broadway and One Park as well as the sale of an
(4) Proceeds from common or preferred equity or debt offerings interest in One Park. Our structured finance activity, including
by us or the Operating Partnership (including issuances of limited originations net of redemptions, decreased approximately
partnership units in the Operating Partnership); and
$89.4 million in 2005 compared to 2004. There was also other
(5) Net proceeds from divestitures of properties and redemptions investment activity in 2005 of approximately $29.6 million. This
and participations of structured finance investments.
investment activity resulted in net cash used in investing activities
Cash flow from operations is primarily dependent upon the increasing approximately $196.6 million to approximately
occupancy level of our portfolio, the net effective rental rates $465.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 comachieved on our leases, the collectibility of rent and operating pared to approximately $269.1 million during the year ended
escalations and recoveries from our tenants and the level of oper- December 31, 2004.
ating and other costs. Additionally, we believe that our joint
The investment activity in 2005 described above was primarily
venture investment programs will also continue to serve as a funded through mortgage debt as well as new term loans. We
source of capital for acquisitions. We believe that our sources of increased an existing term loan and closed on a new term loan.
working capital, specifically our cash flow from operations and We also refinanced one of our properties. Proceeds from the
borrowings available under our 2005 unsecured revolving credit January 2004 common stock offering and the May 2004
facility, and our ability to access private and public debt and equity preferred stock offering as well as the joint venture distributions
capital, are adequate for us to meet our short-term and long-term received in 2004, were primarily used to pay down our credit
liquidity requirements for the foreseeable future. With the facilities in 2004. The increased financing activity in 2005,
commencement of operations of Gramercy in August 2004, we resulted in net cash provided by financing activities increasing by
have reduced our focus on direct structured finance investments.
approximately $213.8 million to approximately $315.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to approximately
$101.8 million used in the year ended December 31, 2004.
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37.8

10.4

27.5
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2004 Compared to 2003
Net cash provided by operating activities increased $68.4 million
to $164.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to $96.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Operating cash flow was primarily generated by the Same-Store
Properties and Acquisitions, as well as the structured finance and
joint venture investments.
Net cash used in investing activities decreased $240.2 million
to $269.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to $509.2 million used during the year ended
December 31, 2003. The primary reason for the decrease was
due to the net proceeds received upon the sales of 17 Battery
Place North and 1466 Broadway in 2004 ($220.3 million)
compared to the proceeds from the sales of 50 West 23rd Street,
1370 Broadway and Shaws in 2003 ($119.1 million). In addition,
we had increased distributions in excess of cumulative earnings
from our joint ventures due to the refinancing of 1515 Broadway,
1250 Broadway and One Park as well as the sale of an interest in
One Park ($144.9 million), which was offset by new joint venture
investments, including 19 West 44th Street, 485 Lexington
Avenue and Gramercy ($79.8 million). In comparison, during
2003, we purchased an interest in 1221 Avenue of the Americas
of which our share of the cash invested was approximately
$385.1 million and received distributions from our joint ventures
($18.6 million). There was an increase in acquisitions and capital
improvements in 2004 ($388.2 million and $31.3 million,
respectively) as compared to 2003 ($81.2 million and $22.5 million, respectively). This relates primarily to the acquisitions of
625 Madison Avenue and 750 Third Avenue in 2004 compared to
the acquisitions of 220 East 42nd Street and condominium
interests in 125 Broad Street in 2003. We made new structured
finance investments, net of redemptions, totaling $132.9 million
in 2004 compared to $126.7 million in 2003.
Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $291.8 million to $101.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to $393.6 million used during the year ended
December 31, 2003. The decrease was primarily due to the receipt
of proceeds from the January and August 2004 common stock
offering (approximately $138.6 million) and the May and July 2004
preferred stock offerings ($96.3 million) which was offset by the
December 2003 preferred stock offering ($152.5 million). This
was offset by net mortgage debt and credit facility borrowings
(approximately $379.8 million).
CAPITALIZATION
As of December 31, 2005, we had 42,455,829 shares of
common stock, 2,426,786 units of limited partnership interest
in our Operating Partnership, 6,300,000 shares of our 7.625%
Series C cumulative redeemable preferred stock, or Series C
preferred stock and 4,000,000 shares of our 7.875% Series D
cumulative redeemable preferred stock, or Series D preferred
stock, outstanding.
In 2004, in two offerings, we sold 3,150,000 shares of our
common stock. The net proceeds from these offerings
(approximately $138.6 million) were used to pay down our
unsecured revolving credit facility.
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In 2004, in two offerings, we issued 4,000,000 shares of our
7.875% Series D cumulative redeemable preferred stock, or the
Series D preferred stock, with a mandatory liquidation preference
of $25.00 per share. Net proceeds from these offerings
(approximately $96.3 million) were used principally to repay
amounts outstanding under our secured and unsecured revolving
credit facilities. The Series D preferred stock receive annual
dividends of $1.96875 per share paid on a quarterly basis and
dividends are cumulative, subject to certain provisions. On or after
May 27, 2009, we may redeem the Series D preferred stock at
par for cash at our option. The Series D preferred stock was
recorded net of underwriters discount and issuance costs.
We currently have the ability to issue up to an aggregate
amount of approximately $334.5 million of our common and
preferred stock, depository shares and warrants under our current
shelf registration statement, which was declared effective in
March 2004.
Rights Plan
We have a shareholder rights plan which provides, among other
things, that when specified events occur, our common stockholders will be entitled to purchase from us a newly created series
of junior preferred shares, subject to our ownership limit described
below. The preferred share purchase rights are triggered by the
earlier to occur of (1) ten days after the date of a purchase
announcement that a person or group acting in concert has
acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of
17% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock or
(2) ten business days after the commencement of or
announcement of an intention to make a tender offer or exchange
offer, the consummation of which would result in the acquiring
person becoming the beneficial owner of 17% or more of our
outstanding common stock. The preferred share purchase rights
would cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts
to acquire us on terms not approved by our board of directors.
2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
Subject to adjustments upon certain corporate transactions or
events, up to a maximum of 3,500,000 shares, or the Fungible
Pool Limit, may be granted as options, restricted stock, phantom
shares, dividend equivalent rights and other equity-based awards
under the 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, or the 2005
Plan; however, the manner in which the Fungible Pool Limit is
finally determined can ultimately result in the issuance under the
2005 Plan of up to 4,375,000 shares (subject to adjustments
upon certain corporate transactions or events). At December 31,
2005, approximately 4,348,950 shares of our common stock
were reserved for issuance under the 2005 Plan.
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
We filed a registration statement with the SEC for our dividend
reinvestment and stock purchase plan, or DRIP, which was
declared effective on September 10, 2001. The DRIP commenced
on September 24, 2001. We registered 3,000,000 shares of
common stock under the DRIP.
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During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we
issued approximately 338,000 and 195,000 common shares and
received approximately $20.4 million and $8.9 million of proceeds
from dividend reinvestments and/or stock purchases under the
DRIP, respectively. DRIP shares may be issued at a discount to
the market price.
2003 Long-Term Outperformance Compensation Program
Our board of directors has adopted a long-term, seven-year
compensation program for cer tain members of senior
management. The program, which measures our performance over
a 48-month period (unless terminated earlier) commencing April 1,
2003, provides that holders of our common equity are to achieve a
40% total return, or baseline return, during the measurement
period over a base share price of $30.07 per share before any
restricted stock awards are granted. Plan participants will receive an
award of restricted stock in an amount between 8% and 10% of
the excess total return over the baseline return. At the end of the
four-year measurement period, 40% of the award will vest on the
measurement date and 60% of the award will vest ratably over the
subsequent three years based on continued employment. Any
restricted stock to be issued under the program will be allocated
from our 1997 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended,
which was previously approved through a shareholder vote in
May 2002. We will record the expense of the restricted stock award
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”. The fair value of the award on the date of grant was
determined to be $3.2 million. Forty percent of the award will be
amortized over four years and the balance will be amortized at 20%
per year over five, six and seven years, respectively, such that 20%
of year five, 16.67% of year six and 14.29% of year seven will be
recorded in year one. The total value of the award (capped at
$25.5 million) will determine the number of shares assumed to be
issued for purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share.
Compensation expense of $0.65 million, $0.65 million and
$0.5 million related to this plan was recorded during the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
2005 Long-Term Outperformance Compensation Program
In December 2005, the compensation committee of our board of
directors approved a long-term incentive compensation program,
the 2005 Outperformance Plan. Participants in the 2005
Outperformance Plan will share in a “performance pool” if our
total return to stockholders for the period from December 1,
2005 through November 30, 2008 exceeds a cumulative total
return to stockholders of 30% during the measurement period
over a base share price of $68.51 per share. The size of the pool
will be 10% of the outperformance amount in excess of the 30%
benchmark, subject to a maximum dilution cap equal to the lesser
of 3% of our outstanding shares and units of limited partnership
interest as of December 1, 2005 or $50 million. In the event the
potential performance pool reaches this dilution cap before
November 30, 2008 and remains at that level or higher for 30
consecutive days, the performance period will end early and the
pool will be formed on the last day of such 30 day period. Each
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participant’s award under the 2005 Outperformance Plan will be
designated as a specified percentage of the aggregate
performance pool to be allocated to him or her assuming the 30%
benchmark is achieved. Individual awards will be made in the form
of partnership units, or LTIP Units, that may ultimately become
exchangeable for shares of our common stock or cash, at our
election. LTIP Units will be granted prior to the determination of the
performance pool; however, they will only vest upon satisfaction of
performance and other thresholds, and will not be entitled to
distributions until after the performance pool is established. The
2005 Outperformance Plan provides that if the pool is established,
each participant will also be entitled to the distributions that would
have been paid on the number of LTIP Units earned, had they
been issued at the beginning of the performance period. Those
distributions will be paid in the form of additional LTIP Units. After
the performance pool is established, the earned LTIP Units will
receive regular quarterly distributions on a per unit basis equal to
the dividends per share paid on our common stock, whether or not
they are vested. Any LTIP Units that are not earned upon the
establishment of the performance pool will be automatically
forfeited, and the LTIP Units that are earned will be subject to timebased vesting, with one-third of the LTIP Units earned vesting on
November 30, 2008 and each of the first two anniversaries
thereafter based on continued employment. We recorded
approximately $0.3 million of compensation expense in 2005 in
connection with the 2005 Outperformance Plan.
Deferred Stock Compensation Plan for Directors
Under our Independent Director’s Deferral Program, which
commenced July 2004, our non-employee directors may elect to
defer up to 100% of their annual retainer fee, chairman fees and
meeting fees. Unless otherwise elected by a participant, fees
deferred under the program shall be credited in the form of
phantom stock units. The phantom stock units are convertible into
an equal number of shares of common stock upon such directors’
termination of service from the Board of Directors or a change in
control by us, as defined by the program. Phantom stock units are
credited to each non-employee director quarterly using the closing
price of our common stock on the applicable dividend record date
for the respective quarter. Each participating non-employee
director’s account is also credited for an equivalent amount of
phantom stock units based on the dividend rate for each quarter.
During the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 4,300 phantom stock units were earned. As of
December 31, 2005, there were approximately 5,300
phantom stock units outstanding.
Market Capitalization
At December 31, 2005, borrowings under our mortgage loans,
2005 unsecured revolving credit facility and term loans and trust
preferred securities (including our share of joint venture debt of
$1.0 billion) represented 41.2% of our consolidated market
capitalization of $6.3 billion (based on a common stock price of
$76.39 per share, the closing price of our common stock on the
New York Stock Exchange on December 31, 2005). Market
capitalization includes our consolidated debt, common and
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preferred stock and the conversion of all units of limited
partnership interest in our Operating Partnership, and our share
of joint venture debt.
INDEBTEDNESS
The table below summarizes our consolidated mortgage debt,
secured and unsecured revolving credit facilities and term loans
outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively
(in thousands).
December 31,

Debt Summary:
Balance
Fixed rate
Variable rate – hedged
Total fixed rate
Variable rate
Variable rate – supporting
variable rate assets
Total variable rate
Total
Percent of Total Debt:
Total fixed rate
Variable rate
Total
Effective Interest Rate for the Year:
Fixed rate
Variable rate
Effective interest rate

2005

2004

$ 770,141
485,000
1,255,141
196,111

$ 614,476
425,000
1,039,476
–

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility
In September 2005, we terminated our $300.0 million unsecured
91,000
110,900 revolving credit facility. It bore interest at a spread ranging from
287,111
110,900 105 basis points to 135 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR,
$1,542,252 $1,150,376 based on our leverage ratio. The unsecured revolving credit facility
also required a 15 to 25 basis point fee on the unused balance
81.4%
90.36% payable annually in arrears.
18.6%
100.00%
5.63%
5.07%
5.54%

9.64%
100.00%

Secured Revolving Credit Facility
In September 2005, we terminated our $125.0 million secured
6.12%
revolving credit facility. The secured revolving credit facility carried
2.86%
5.61% a spread of 135 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR.

The variable rate debt shown above bears interest at an
interest rate based on 30-day LIBOR (4.39% and 2.40% at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively). Our consolidated
debt at December 31, 2005 had a weighted average term to
maturity of approximately 5.4 years.
Certain of our structured finance investments, totaling
$91.0 million, are variable rate investments which mitigate our
exposure to interest rate changes on our unhedged variable rate
debt at December 31, 2005.
MORTGAGE FINANCING
As of December 31, 2005, our total mortgage debt (excluding
our share of joint venture debt of approximately $1.0 billion)
consisted of approximately $670.1 million of fixed rate debt,
including hedged variable rate debt, with an effective weighted
average interest rate of approximately 6.32% and approximately
$215.1 million of variable rate debt with an effective weighted
average interest rate of approximately 6.2%.
REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITIES
2005 Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility
In September 2005, we closed on a new $500.0 million
unsecured revolving credit facility. We have an option, subject to
lender approval, to increase the capacity under the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility to $800.0 million at any time prior to
the maturity date in September 2008. The 2005 unsecured
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revolving credit facility bears interest at a spread ranging from 85
basis points to 125 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR, based
on our leverage ratio, currently 95 basis points, and has a oneyear extension option. The 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility
also requires a 12.5 to 25 basis point fee on the unused balance
payable annually in arrears. The 2005 unsecured revolving credit
facility had an outstanding balance of $32.0 million at
December 31, 2005. Availability under the 2005 unsecured
revolving credit facility was further reduced by the issuance of
approximately $14.1 million in letters of credit. The effective all-in
interest rate on the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility was
4.9% for the year ended December 31, 2005. The 2005
unsecured revolving credit facility includes certain restrictions and
covenants (see restrictive covenants below).

Term Loans
In December 2002, we obtained a $150.0 million unsecured term
loan. Effective June 2003, this unsecured term loan was increased
to $200.0 million and the term was extended by six months to
June 2008. In August 2004, the unsecured term loan was
increased to $325.0 million and the maturity date was further
extended to August 2009. As part of the amendment, the interest
rate spreads were reduced by between 25 basis points and
30 basis points. As of December 31, 2005, we had $325.0 million
outstanding under the unsecured term loan at the rate of 125 basis
points over LIBOR. To limit our exposure to the variable 30-day
LIBOR rate we entered into various swap agreements to fix the
LIBOR rate on the entire unsecured term loan. The effective all-in
annual weighted average interest rate on the unsecured term loan
was 4.75% for 2005. In December 2005, we modified the
covenants under this unsecured term loan to conform to those under
the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility.
In December 2003, we closed on a $100.0 million five-year
non-recourse term loan, secured by a pledge of our ownership
interest in 1221 Avenue of the Americas. This term loan had a
floating rate of 150 basis points over the current 30-day LIBOR
rate. During April 2004, we entered into a swap agreement to fix
the LIBOR at a blended all-in interest rate of 5.10% through
December 2008. In May 2005, we increased this loan from
$100.0 million to $200.0 million, reduced the interest rate spread
to 125 basis points and extended the maturity to May 2010. This
loan carried an effective all-in annual weighted average interest
rate of 4.19% for the year ended December 31, 2005.
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Junior Subordinate Deferrable Interest Debentures
In June 2005, we issued $100.0 million of Trust Preferred
Securities, which are reflected on the balance sheet at
December 31, 2005 as Junior Subordinate Deferrable Interest
Debentures. The proceeds were used to repay our unsecured
revolving credit facility. The $100.0 million of junior subordinate
deferrable interest debentures have a 30-year term ending
July 2035. They bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.61% for the first
10 years ending July 2015. Thereafter, the rate will float at
three month LIBOR plus 1.25%. The securities are redeemable
at par beginning in July 2010.
Restrictive Covenants
The terms of our 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility and term
loans include certain restrictions and covenants which limit,
among other things, the payment of dividends (as discussed
below), the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the incurrence
of liens and the disposition of assets, and which require
compliance with financial ratios relating to the minimum amount
of tangible net worth, the minimum amount of debt service
coverage, the minimum amount of fixed charge coverage, the
maximum amount of unsecured indebtedness, the minimum
amount of unencumbered property debt service coverage and
certain investment limitations. The dividend restriction referred to
above provides that, except to enable us to continue to qualify as a
REIT for Federal income tax purposes, we will not during any four
consecutive fiscal quarters make distributions with respect to
common stock or other equity interests in an aggregate amount in

excess of 90% of funds from operations for such period, subject
to certain other adjustments. As of December 31, 2005 and
2004, we were in compliance with all such covenants.
Market Rate Risk
We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily from our
floating rate borrowing arrangements. We use interest rate derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. A
hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates along the
entire interest rate curve for 2005 and 2004, would increase our
annual interest cost by approximately $2.7 million and $1.1 million
and would increase our share of joint venture annual interest cost
by approximately $6.0 million and $2.8 million, respectively.
We recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value.
Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to fair value
through income. If a derivative is a hedge, depending on the
nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative will
either be offset against the change in fair value of the hedged
asset, liability, or firm commitment through earnings, or
recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item
is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative’s
change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings.
Approximately $1.3 billion of our long-term debt bears interest
at fixed rates, and therefore the fair value of these instruments is
affected by changes in the market interest rates. The interest
rate on our variable rate debt and joint venture debt as of
December 31, 2005 ranged from LIBOR plus 75 basis points to
LIBOR plus 225 basis points.

Contractual Obligations
Combined aggregate principal maturities of mortgages and notes payable, 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility, term loans, trust
preferred securities, our share of joint venture debt, excluding extension options, estimated interest expense, and our obligations under
our capital lease and ground leases, as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

Property
Mortgages

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter

$ 4,125
206,306
101,085
20,710
114,523
438,503
$885,252

Revolving
Credit
Facility

Term
Loans and
Trust
Preferred
Securities

$

$

–
–
32,000
–
–
–
$32,000

–
–
1,766
327,648
195,586
100,000
$625,000

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements
We have a number of off-balance-sheet investments, including
joint ventures and structured finance investments. These
investments all have varying ownership structures. Substantially all
of our joint venture arrangements are accounted for under the
equity method of accounting as we have the ability to exercise
significant influence, but not control over the operating and financial
decisions of these joint venture arrangements. Our off-balancesheet arrangements are discussed in Note 5, “Structured Finance
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Capital
Lease

Ground
Leases

$ 1,416
1,416
1,416
1,416
1,451
51,870
$58,985

$ 21,194
21,044
21,044
21,044
21,045
379,098
$484,469

Estimated
Interest
Expense

Total

Joint
Venture
Debt

$ 86,537 $ 113,272 $ 65,785
79,131
307,897
419,878
67,975
225,286
5,719
55,724
426,542
6,135
38,380
370,985
83,074
105,650
1,075,121
459,673
$433,397 $2,519,103 $1,040,264

Investments” and Note 6, “Investments in Unconsolidated Joint
Ventures” in the accompanying financial statements. Additional
information about the debt of our unconsolidated joint ventures is
included in “Contractual Obligations” above.
Capital Expenditures
We estimate that for the year ending December 31, 2006, we will
incur approximately $93.4 million of capital expenditures
(including tenant improvements and leasing commissions) on
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existing wholly-owned properties and our share of capital
expenditures at our joint venture properties will be approximately
$16.8 million. Of those total capital expenditures, approximately
$15.2 million for wholly-owned properties and $5.3 million for our
share of capital expenditures at our joint venture properties are
dedicated to redevelopment costs, including compliance with
New York City local law 11. We expect to fund these capital
expenditures with operating cash flow, borrowings under our
credit facility, additional property level mortgage financings, and
cash on hand. Future proper ty acquisitions may require
substantial capital investments for refurbishment and leasing
costs. We expect that these financing requirements will be met in
a similar fashion. We believe that we will have sufficient resources
to satisfy our capital needs during the next 12-month period and
thereafter through a combination of net cash provided by
operations, borrowings, potential asset sales or additional equity
or debt issuances.
Dividends
We expect to pay dividends to our stockholders based on the distributions we receive from the Operating Partnership primarily
from property revenues net of operating expenses or, if necessary,
from working capital or borrowings.
To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must pay annual
dividends to our stockholders of at least 90% of our REIT taxable
income, determined before taking into consideration the
dividends paid deduction and net capital gains. We intend to
continue to pay regular quarterly dividends to our stockholders.
Based on our current annual dividend rate of $2.40 per share, we
would pay approximately $103.0 million in dividends to our
common stockholders. Before we pay any dividend, whether for
Federal income tax purposes or otherwise, which would only be
paid out of available cash to the extent permitted under our
unsecured and secured credit facilities, and our unsecured term
loan, we must first meet both our operating requirements and
scheduled debt service on our mortgages and loans payable.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Cleaning Services
First Quality Maintenance, L.P., or First Quality, provides cleaning,
extermination and related services with respect to certain of the
properties owned by us. First Quality is owned by Gary Green, a
son of Stephen L. Green, our chairman of the Board and former
chief executive officer. First Quality also provides additional
services directly to tenants on a separately negotiated basis. The
aggregate amount of fees paid by us to First Quality for services
provided (excluding services provided directly to tenants) was
approximately $4.9 million in 2005, $4.6 million in 2004 and
$4.3 million in 2003. In addition, First Quality has the nonexclusive opportunity to provide cleaning and related services to
individual tenants at our properties on a basis separately
negotiated with any tenant seeking such additional services. First
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Quality leases 12,290 square feet of space at 70 West
36th Street pursuant to a lease that expires on December 31, 2012
and provides for annual rental payments of approximately $362,000.
Security/ Messenger and Restoration Services
Classic Security LLC, or Classic Security, provides security
services, Bright Star Couriers LLC, or Bright Star, provides
messenger services, and Onyx Restoration Works, or Onyx,
provides restoration services with respect to certain properties
owned by us. Classic Security, Bright Star and Onyx are owned by
Gary Green, a son of Stephen L. Green. The aggregate amount
of fees paid by us for such services was approximately $6.1 million
in 2005, $4.3 million in 2004 and $3.8 million in 2003.
Leases
Nancy Peck and Company leases 2,013 square feet of space at
420 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York pursuant to a lease
that expires on June 30, 2005 and provides for annual rental
payments of approximately $66,000. This space is now leased on
a month-to-month basis. Nancy Peck and Company is owned by
Nancy Peck, the wife of Stephen L. Green. The rent due under
the lease is offset against a consulting fee, of $10,500 per
month, an affiliate pays to her under a consulting agreement
which is cancelable upon 30-days notice.
Management Fees
S.L. Green Management Corp. receives property management
fees from certain entities in which Stephen L. Green owns an
interest. The aggregate amount of fees paid to S.L. Green
Management Corp. from such entities was approximately
$209,000 in 2005, $258,000 in 2004 and $237,000 in 2003.
Management Indebtedness
In January 2001, Mr. Marc Holliday, then our president, received a
non-recourse loan from us in the principal amount of $1,000,000
pursuant to his amended and restated employment and noncompetition agreement he executed at that time. This loan bears
interest at the applicable federal rate per annum and is secured by
a pledge of certain of Mr. Holliday’s shares of our common stock.
The principal of and interest on this loan is forgivable upon our
attainment of specified financial performance goals prior to
December 31, 2006, provided that Mr. Holliday remains
employed by us until January 2007. In April 2000, Mr. Holliday
received a loan from us in the principal amount of $300,000, with
a maturity date of July 2003. This loan bears interest at a rate of
6.60% per annum and is secured by a pledge of certain of
Mr. Holliday’s shares of our common stock. In May 2002,
Mr. Holliday entered into a loan modification agreement with us in
order to modify the repayment terms of the $300,000 loan.
Pursuant to the agreement, $100,000 (plus accrued interest
thereon) is forgivable on each of January 1, 2004, January 1,
2005 and January 1, 2006, provided that Mr. Holliday remains
employed by us through each of such date. The principal balance
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outstanding on this loan was $100,000 on December 31, 2005.
In addition, the $300,000 loan shall be forgiven if and when the
$1,000,000 loan that Mr. Holliday received pursuant to his
amended and restated employment and non-competition
agreement is forgiven.
Brokerage Services
Sonnenblick-Goldman Company, or Sonnenblick, a nationally recognized real estate investment banking firm, provided mortgage
brokerage services to us. Mr. Morton Holliday, the father of
Mr. Marc Holliday, was a Managing Director of Sonnenblick at the
time of the financings. In 2005, we paid approximately $457,000
to Sonnenblick in connection with securing a $120.0 million first
mortgage for the property located at 711 Third Avenue. In 2004,
our 1515 Broadway joint venture paid approximately $855,000 to
Sonnenblick in connection with securing a $425.0 million first
mortgage for the property. In 2005, our 1515 Broadway joint
venture paid approximately $400,000 to Sonnenblick in connection with refinancing the property and increasing the first
mortgage to $625.0 million.
Gramercy Capital Corp.
Our related party transactions with Gramercy are discussed in
Note 13, “Related Party Transactions” in the accompanying financial statements.
OTHER
Insurance
We carry comprehensive “all-risk” (including fire, flood, extended
coverage and rental loss insurance) and liability insurance with
respect to our property portfolio. The property coverage has a
blanket limit of $600 million per occurrence for all the properties
in our portfolio with a sublimit of $450 million for terrorism. The
primary property policy expires in July 2007 and all other policies
expire in October 2006. We have a 45% interest in the property
at 1221 Avenue of the Americas, where we participate with the
Rockefeller Group Inc., which carries a blanket policy providing
$1.0 billion of “all-risk” property insurance including terrorism and
an interest in the “Bellemead” portfolio in NJ, where we participate with Gale Properties, which carries a blanket policy providing
$200 million of “all-risk” property insurance including terrorism.
Although we consider our insurance coverage as appropriate, in
the event of a major catastrophe, such as resulting from an act of
terrorism, we may not have sufficient coverage to replace a significant property. In addition, our policies do not cover properties
that we may acquire in the future and insurance will need to be
obtained if added to our portfolio prior to October 2006.
The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act, or TRIA, which was enacted
in November 2002, was renewed on January 1, 2006. Congress
extended TRIA, now called TRIEA (Terrorism Risk Insurance
Extension Act) until 2007. Our debt instruments, consisting of
mortgage loans secured by our properties (which are generally
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non-recourse to us), mezzanine loans, ground leases and our
unsecured revolving credit facility and unsecured term loans, contain customary covenants requiring us to maintain insurance.
There can be no assurance that the lenders or ground lessors
under these instruments will not take the position that a total or
partial exclusion from “all risk” insurance coverage for losses due
to terrorist acts is a breach of these debt and ground lease instruments that allows the lenders or ground lessors to declare an
event of default and accelerate repayment of debt or recapture
of ground lease positions. In addition, if lenders insist on full
coverage for these risks, it could result in substantially higher
insurance premiums.
Funds From Operations
Funds From Operations, or FFO, is a widely recognized measure
of REIT performance. We compute FFO in accordance with standards established by the National Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, which may not be comparable to
FFO reported by other REITs that do not compute FFO in accordance with the NAREIT definition, or that interpret the NAREIT
definition differently than we do. The revised White Paper on FFO
approved by the Board of Governors of NAREIT in April 2002
defines FFO as net income (loss) (computed in accordance with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or GAAP), excluding
gains (or losses) from debt restructuring and sales of properties,
plus real estate related depreciation and amortization and after
adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.
We present FFO because we consider it an important supplemental measure of our operating performance and believe that it
is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of REITs, particularly those that
own and operate commercial office properties.
We also use FFO as one of several criteria to determine
performance-based bonuses for members of our senior management. FFO is intended to exclude GAAP historical cost
depreciation and amortization of real estate and related assets,
which assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes ratably over time. Historically, however, real estate values have risen
or fallen with market conditions. Because FFO excludes depreciation and amortization unique to real estate, gains and losses from
property dispositions and extraordinary items, it provides a performance measure that, when compared year over year, reflects
the impact to operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental
rates, operating costs, interest costs, providing perspective not
immediately apparent from net income. FFO does not represent
cash generated from operating activities in accordance with
GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net
income (determined in accordance with GAAP), as an indication
of our financial performance or to cash flow from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure of our
liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash
needs, including our ability to make cash distributions.
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FFO for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2005

Net income available to
common stockholders
$ 137,544
Add:
Depreciation and amortization
60,647
Minority interest
6,981
FFO from discontinued
operations
613
FFO adjustment for
unconsolidated
joint ventures
30,412
Accretion of convertible
preferred shares
–
Less:
Income from
discontinued operations
(475)
Gain on sale of discontinued
operations
(33,875)
Gain on sale of joint
venture property
(11,550)
Depreciation on non-rental
real estate assets
(784)
Funds from Operations – available
to common stockholders
189,513
Dividends on convertible
preferred shares
–
Funds from Operations – available
to all stockholders
$ 189,513
Cash flows provided by
operating activities
$ 138,398
Cash flows used in
investing activities
$(465,674)
Cash flows provided by
financing activities
$ 315,585

2004

2003

$ 193,172 $ 90,447
48,220
5,630

37,784
4,038

11,642

17,456

23,817

13,982

–

394

(7,017)

(10,320)

(90,370)

(21,327)

(22,012)

(3,087)

(705)

(587)

162,377

128,780

–

6,693

$ 162,377 $ 135,473
$ 164,458 $ 96,121
$(269,045) $(509,240)
$ 101,836 $ 393,645

Inflation
Substantially all of the office leases provide for separate real
estate tax and operating expense escalations as well as operating
expense recoveries based on increases in the Consumer Price
Index or other measures such as porters’ wage. In addition, many
of the leases provide for fixed base rent increases. We believe that
inflationary increases may be at least partially offset by the contractual rent increases and expense escalations described above.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, or SFAS 154,
“Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – A Replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20 and SFAS Statement No. 3.” SFAS
No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting and
reporting of a change in accounting principle by requiring retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of the
change in accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so.
SFAS No. 154 also requires that a change in depreciation or
amortization for long-lived, non-financial assets be accounted for
as a change in accounting estimate effected by a change in
accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting
changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2005. We do not expect the adoption of
SFAS No. 154 to have any impact on our cash flows, results of
operations, financial position, or liquidity.
In June 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus in EITF Issue
No. 04-5, or EITF 04-5, “Determining Whether a General
Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited
Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have
Certain Rights,” which provides guidance in determining whether
a general partner controls a limited partnership. EITF 04-5 states
that the general partner in a limited partnership is presumed to
control that limited partnership. The presumption may be overcome if the limited partners have either (1) the substantive ability
to dissolve the limited partnership or otherwise remove the general partner without cause or (2) substantive participating rights,
which provide the limited partners with the ability to effectively
participate in significant decisions that would be expected to be
made in the ordinary course of the limited partnership’s business
and thereby preclude the general partner from exercising unilateral control over the partnership. If the criteria in EITF 04-5 are
met, the consolidation of existing joint ventures accounted for
under the equity method may be required. Our adoption of
EITF 04-5 is expected to have no effect on net income or stockholders’ equity. EITF 04-5 is effective June 30, 2005 for new
or modified limited partnership arrangements and effective
January 1, 2006 for existing limited partnership arrangements.
FASB Interpretation No. 47, or FIN 47, “Accounting
for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations” was issued in
March 2005. FIN 47 requires recognition of a liability at the time
of acquisition or construction for assets that will require certain
remediation expenditures when the assets are removed from
service if the fair value of the obligation can be reasonably estimated. FIN 47 clarifies that future expenses to remove asbestos
from properties should be estimated and accrued as a liability at
the time of acquisition with an offset to increase the cost of the
associated structure. We currently own certain buildings that contain asbestos. Although the asbestos is appropriately contained in
accordance with current environmental regulations, our practice is
to remediate asbestos upon the renovation or redevelopment of
our properties. FIN 47, which became effective December 31,
2005, did not have a material impact on our cash flows, results of
operations, financial position, or liquidity.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

Forward-Looking Information
This report includes certain statements that may be deemed to
be “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Act, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act. Such forward-looking statements relate to, without limitation, our future capital expenditures,
dividends and acquisitions (including the amount and nature
thereof) and other development trends of the real estate industry
and the Manhattan office market, business strategies, and the
expansion and growth of our operations. These statements are
based on certain assumptions and analyses made by us in light of
our experience and our perception of historical trends, current
conditions, expected future developments and other factors we
believe are appropriate. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for
forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Act
and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Such statements are subject to a number of assumptions, risks and uncertainties which
may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by the use
of the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “project,” “continue,” or the negative of
these words, or other similar words or terms. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements. Among the factors about which we have made
assumptions are:
• general economic or business (particularly real estate) conditions, either nationally or in New York City, being less favorable
than expected;
• reduced demand for office space;
• risks of real estate acquisitions;
• risks of structured finance investments;
• availability and creditworthiness of prospective tenants;
• adverse changes in the real estate markets, including increasing vacancy, decreasing rental revenue and increasing
insurance costs;
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• availability of capital (debt and equity);
• unanticipated increases in financing and other costs, including
a rise in interest rates;
• market interest rates could adversely affect the market price of
our common stock, as well as our performance and cash flows;
• our ability to satisfy complex rules in order for us to qualify as a
REIT, for federal income tax purposes, our Operating
Partnership’s ability to satisfy the rules in order for it to qualify
as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, the ability
of certain of our subsidiaries to qualify as REITs and certain of
our subsidiaries to qualify as taxable REIT subsidiaries for federal income tax purposes and our ability and the ability of our
subsidiaries to operate effectively within the limitations
imposed by these rules;
• accounting principles and policies and guidelines applicable
to REITs;
• competition with other companies;
• the continuing threat of terrorist attacks on the national,
regional and local economies including, in particular, the New
York City area and our tenants;
• legislative or regulatory changes adversely affecting real
estate investment trusts and the real estate business; and
• environmental, regulatory and/or safety requirements.
We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of future events,
new information or otherwise.
The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of
this report may include additional factors that could adversely
affect the Company’s business and financial performance.
Moreover, the Company operates in a very competitive and rapidly
changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time
and it is not possible for management to predict all such risk factors, nor can it assess the impact of all such risk factors on the
Company’s business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from
those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these
risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance
on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Assets
Commercial real estate properties, at cost:
Land and land interests
Building and improvements
Building leasehold and improvements
Property under capital lease

December 31,
2005

2004

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Tenant and other receivables, net of allowance of $9,681 and $9,880 in 2005 and 2004, respectively
Related party receivables
Deferred rents receivable, net of allowance of $8,698 and $6,541 in 2005 and 2004, respectively
Structured finance investments, net of discount of $1,537 and $1,895 in 2005 and 2004, respectively
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures
Deferred costs, net
Other assets
Total assets

$ 288,239 $ 206,824
1,440,584
1,065,654
481,891
471,418
12,208
12,208
2,222,922
1,756,104
(219,295)
(176,238)
2,003,627
1,579,866
24,104
35,795
60,750
56,417
23,722
15,248
7,707
5,027
75,294
61,302
400,076
350,027
543,189
557,089
79,428
47,869
91,880
43,241
$3,309,777 $2,751,881

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Mortgage notes payable
Revolving credit facilities
Term loans
Derivative instruments at fair value
Accrued interest payable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue/gain
Capitalized lease obligation
Deferred land leases payable
Dividend and distributions payable
Security deposits
Junior subordinate deferrable interest debentures held by trusts that issued trust preferred securities
Total liabilities

$ 885,252
32,000
525,000
–
7,711
87,390
25,691
16,260
16,312
31,103
24,556
100,000
1,751,275

$ 614,476
110,900
425,000
1,347
4,494
72,298
18,648
16,442
15,723
27,553
22,056
–
1,328,937

74,049
25,012

74,555
509

151,981

151,981

96,321

96,321

Less: accumulated depreciation

Commitments and Contingencies
Minority interest in Operating Partnership
Minority interests in other partnerships
Stockholders’ Equity
Series C preferred stock, $0.01 par value, $25.00 liquidation preference, 6,300 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively
Series D preferred stock, $0.01 par value, $25.00 liquidation preference, 4,000 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively
Common stock, $0.01 par value 100,000 shares authorized and 42,456 and 40,876 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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425
409
959,858
902,340
15,316
5,647
235,540
191,182
1,459,441
1,347,880
$3,309,777 $2,751,881

Consolidated Statements of Income
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues
Rental revenue, net
Escalation and reimbursement
Preferred equity and investment income
Other income
Total revenues
Expenses
Operating expenses including $10,119 (2005), $8,956 (2004) and $8,081 (2003) to affiliates
Real estate taxes
Ground rent
Interest
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Depreciation and amortization
Marketing, general and administrative
Total expenses
Income from continuing operations before equity in net (loss) income from affiliates,
equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures, minority interest, and discontinued operations
Equity in net loss from affiliates
Equity in net income of unconsolidated joint ventures
Income from continuing operations before gain on sale, minority interest, and discontinued operations
Equity in net gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated joint venture
Minority interest in other partnerships
Minority interest in Operating Partnership attributable to continuing operations
Income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations, net of minority interest
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of minority interest
Net income
Preferred stock dividends
Preferred stock accretion
Net income available to common stockholders
Basic earnings per share:
Net income from continuing operations before gain on sale and discontinued operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Gain on sale of joint venture property
Net income available to common stockholders
Diluted earnings per share:
Net income from continuing operations before gain on sale and discontinued operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Gain on sale of joint venture property
Net income available to common stockholders
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2003

$298,495
58,515
44,989
38,183
440,182

$240,350
44,391
39,094
19,883
343,718

$209,984
39,144
22,086
10,456
281,670

104,098
60,659
19,598
77,353
4,461
60,647
44,215
371,031

84,475
48,030
16,179
61,636
3,275
48,220
30,279
292,094

72,246
39,832
13,562
44,404
3,844
37,784
17,131
228,803

69,151
–
49,349
118,500
11,550
(809)
(6,172)
123,069
475
33,875
157,419
(19,875)
–
$137,544

51,624
–
44,037
95,661
22,012
–
(5,630)
112,043
7,017
90,370
209,430
(16,258)
–
$193,172

52,867
(196)
14,871
67,542
3,087
(79)
(4,038)
66,512
10,320
21,327
98,159
(7,318)
(394)
$ 90,447

$

2.19
0.01
0.81
0.28
3.29

$

1.88
0.18
2.31
0.56
4.93

$

2.15
0.01
0.79
0.25
$
3.20
41,793
45,504

$

1.85
0.17
2.22
0.51
$
4.75
39,171
43,078

$

$
$

$

$

1.73
0.32
0.66
0.09
2.80

1.71
0.28
0.59
0.08
$
2.66
32,265
38,970

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Amounts in thousands,
except per share data)

Series C
Preferred
Stock

Balance at December 31, 2002
$
–
Comprehensive Income:
Net income
Net unrealized gain on derivative
instruments
SL Green’s share of joint venture net
unrealized gain on derivative
instruments
Preferred dividends &
accretion requirement
Redemption of units
Proceeds from dividend reinvestment plan
Deferred compensation plan & stock
award, net
Amortization of deferred compensation plan
Conversion of preferred stock
Net proceeds from preferred stock offering 151,981
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Stock-based compensation – fair value
Cash distributions declared ($1.8950 per
common share of which none
represented a return of capital for
federal income tax purposes)
Balance at December 31, 2003
$151,981
Comprehensive Income:
Net income
Net unrealized gain on derivative
instruments
SL Green’s share of joint venture net
unrealized gain on derivative
instruments
Preferred dividends
Redemption of units
Proceeds from dividend reinvestment plan
Deferred compensation plan & stock
award, net
Amortization of deferred compensation plan
Net proceeds from common stock offerings
Net proceeds from preferred
stock offerings
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Stock-based compensation – fair value
Cash distributions declared ($2.04 per
common share of which none
represented a return of capital for
federal income tax purposes)
Balance at December 31, 2004
$151,981
Comprehensive Income:
Net income
Net unrealized gain on derivative
instruments
SL Green’s share of joint venture net
unrealized loss on derivative
instruments
Preferred dividends
Redemption of units
Proceeds from dividend reinvestment plan
Deferred compensation plan & stock
award, net
Amortization of deferred compensation plan
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Stock-based compensation – fair value
Cash distributions declared ($2.22 per
common share of which none
represented a return of capital for
federal income tax purposes)
Balance at December 31, 2005
$151,981

Series D
Preferred
Stock

$

–
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30,422

Accumulated
Other
Additional
ComprePaid-In
hensive
Capital Income (Loss)

$304 $587,023

Retained
Earnings

Total

Comprehensive
Income

$(10,740) $ 50,058 $ 626,645
98,159
9,779

98,159 $ 98,159
9,779

9,779
1,474

(7,712)

$

–

267
68

3
1

5,699
3,650

213

2

4,699

47

(2)
3,786
112,059

347

3

36,016

7,589
632

$360 $720,436

(7,712 )
5,702
3,651
–
3,786
112,106
151,981
7,592
632

$

(61,539)
(61,539)
(961) $ 78,966 $ 950,782 $109,412
209,430
6,608

209,430 $209,430
6,608

6,608
2,155

(16,258)
81
195

1
2

1,912
7,728

(16,258)
1,913
7,730

353

4

3,150

31

(3)
7,317
138,599

1
7,317
138,630

1,081

11

25,372
979

96,321
25,383
979

96,321

$96,321

40,876

$409 $902,340

(80,956)
(80,956)
$ 5,647 $191,182 $1,347,880 $218,193
157,419
9,669

157,419 $157,419
9,669

9,669
(667)

(19,875)

$96,321

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Common Stock
Par
Shares
Value

104
338

1
3

3,160
20,378

(19,875)
3,161
20,381

251

3

887

9

1,859
4,220
24,172
3,729

1,862
4,220
24,181
3,729

42,456

$425 $959,858

(93,186)
(93,186)
$15,316 $235,540 $1,459,441 $166,421

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Non-cash adjustments related to income from discontinued operations
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Equity in net loss (income) from affiliates
Equity from net income from unconsolidated joint ventures
Distributions of cumulative earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures
Equity in gain on sale of unconsolidated joint venture
Minority interest
Deferred rents receivable
Other non-cash adjustments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash – operations
Tenant and other receivables
Related party receivables
Deferred lease costs
Other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred revenue and land lease payable
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Acquisitions of real estate property
Additions to land, buildings and improvements
Restricted cash – capital improvements/acquisitions
Investment in and advances to affiliates
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures
Distributions in excess of cumulative earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures
Net proceeds from disposition of rental property
Structured finance and other investments net of repayments/participations
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable
Repayments of mortgage notes payable
Proceeds from revolving credit facilities and term loans
Repayments of revolving credit facilities and term loans
Proceeds from stock options exercised and dividend reinvestment plan
Net proceeds from sale of common/preferred stock
Other financing activities
Capitalized lease obligation
Dividends and distributions paid
Deferred loan costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004

$ 157,419

2003

$ 209,430

$ 98,159

2,163
65,108
(35,900)
–
(49,349)
48,300
(11,550)
6,172
(15,645)
3,663

9,938
51,495
(95,680)
–
(44,037)
48,194
(22,012)
5,630
(7,741)
8,495

8,633
41,628
(22,849)
196
(14,870)
17,871
(3,087)
4,117
(9,094)
5,231

(11,772)
(8,275)
(2,680)
(16,863)
(17,295)
26,264
(1,362)
138,398

3,430
(5,553)
215
(16,409)
(2,348)
25,528
(4,117)
164,458

3,313
(8,184)
(1,742)
(5,446)
(16,290)
(5,062)
3,597
96,121

(435,740)
(48,713)
7,439
–
(127,740)
152,557
59,673
(73,150)
(465,674)

(388,157)
(31,295)
(2,127)
–
(79,827)
144,950
220,300
(132,889)
(269,045)

(81,214)
(22,532)
(33,773)
2,361
(385,067)
18,598
119,075
(126,688)
(509,240)

436,051
(165,275)
925,000
(803,900)
24,184
–
18,091
(182)
(94,740)
(23,644)
315,585
(11,691)
35,795
$ 24,104

–
(3,395)
840,900
(908,578)
25,383
234,951
–
274
(85,240)
(2,459)
101,836
(2,751)
38,546
$ 35,795

245,000
(298,294)
628,000
(266,000)
11,243
152,539
–
306
(70,868)
(8,281)
393,645
(19,474)
58,020
$ 38,546

$ 74,136
$ 1,849

$ 61,716
$
–

$ 44,256
$
956

In December 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company declared quarterly distributions per share of $0.60, $0.54 and $0.50,
respectively. These distributions were paid in January 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
SL Green Realty Corp., also referred to as the Company or
SL Green, a Maryland corporation, and SL Green Operating
Partnership, L.P., or the Operating Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership, were formed in June 1997 for the purpose of
combining the commercial real estate business of S.L. Green
Properties, Inc. and its affiliated partnerships and entities. The
Operating Partnership received a contribution of interest in the
real estate properties, as well as 95% of the economic interest in
the management, leasing and construction companies which are
referred to as the Service Corporation. The Company has qualified, and expects to qualify in the current fiscal year, as a real
estate investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and operates as a selfadministered, self-managed REIT. A REIT is a legal entity that
holds real estate interests and, through payments of dividends to
stockholders, is permitted to reduce or avoid the payment of
Federal income taxes at the corporate level. Unless the context
requires otherwise, all references to “we,” “our” and “us” means
the Company and all entities owned or controlled by the Company,
including the Operating Partnership.
Substantially all of our assets are held by, and our operations
are conducted through, the Operating Partnership. The Company
is the sole managing general par tner of the Operating
Partnership. As of December 31, 2005, minority investors held,
in the aggregate, a 5.4% limited partnership interest in the
Operating Partnership.
As of December 31, 2005, our wholly-owned properties consisted of 21 commercial office proper ties encompassing
approximately 9.4 million rentable square feet located primarily in
midtown Manhattan, a borough of New York City, or Manhattan.
As of December 31, 2005, the weighted average occupancy
(total leased square feet divided by total available square feet) of
the wholly-owned properties was 96.0%. Our portfolio also
includes ownership interests in unconsolidated joint ventures,
which own seven commercial office properties in Manhattan,
encompassing approximately 8.8 million rentable square feet, and
which had a weighted average occupancy of 97.4% as of
December 31, 2005. We also own 388,000 square feet of retail
and development properties. In addition, we manage three office
properties owned by third parties and affiliated companies
encompassing approximately 1.0 million rentable square feet.
Partnership Agreement
In accordance with the partnership agreement of the Operating
Partnership, or the Operating Partnership Agreement, we allocate
all distributions and profits and losses in proportion to the percentage ownership interests of the respective partners. As the
managing general partner of the Operating Partnership, we are
required to take such reasonable efforts, as determined by us in
our sole discretion, to cause the Operating Partnership to distribute sufficient amounts to enable the payment of sufficient
dividends by us to avoid any Federal income or excise tax at the
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Company level. Under the Operating Partnership Agreement
each limited partner will have the right to redeem units of limited
partnership interest for cash, or if we so elect, shares of our common stock on a one-for-one basis. In addition, we are prohibited
from selling 673 First Avenue and 470 Park Avenue South before
August 2009.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and
those of our subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned or controlled by
us or entities which are variable interest entities in which we are
the primary beneficiary under the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or FASB, Interpretation No. 46, or FIN 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities – an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.”
See Note 5 and Note 6. Entities, which we do not control, and
entities which are variable interest entities, but where we are not
the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity
method. We consolidate variable interest entities in which we are
determined to be the primary beneficiary. In December 2003, the
FASB issued a revision of FIN 46, “Interpretation No. 46R,” to
clarify the provisions of FIN 46. The application of Interpretation
No. 46R is required in financial statements of public companies
for periods ending after March 15, 2004. The adoption of
this pronouncement effective July 1, 2003 for the Service
Corporation had no impact on our results of operations or cash
flows, but resulted in a gross-up of assets and liabilities by approximately $2,543,000 and $629,000, respectively. See Note 7.
The adoption of this pronouncement effective January 2004, for
our structured finance portfolio and joint ventures, had no impact
on our financial condition, net income or cash flows as none of
these investments were determined to be variable interest entities. See Note 6. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.
Investment in Commercial Real Estate Properties
Rental properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Costs directly related to the acquisition and
redevelopment of rental properties are capitalized. Ordinary
repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred; major
replacements and betterments, which improve or extend the life
of the asset, are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated
useful lives.
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards, or SFAS, No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” a property to be disposed of is
reported at the lower of its carrying amount or its estimated fair
value, less its cost to sell. Once an asset is held for sale, depreciation expense and straight-line rent adjustments are no longer
recorded and the historic results are reclassified as discontinued
operations. See Note 4.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Properties are depreciated using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives
are as follows:
Category

Term

Building (fee ownership)
Building improvements

40 years
shorter of remaining life of the
building or useful life
lesser of 40 years or remaining
term of the lease
remaining lease term
four to seven years
shorter of remaining term of the
lease or useful life

Building (leasehold interest)
Property under capital lease
Furniture and fixtures
Tenant improvements

Depreciation expense (including amortization of the capital
lease asset) amounted to approximately $54.2 million, $42.6 million and $37.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.
On a periodic basis, we assess whether there are any indicators that the value of our real estate properties may be impaired or
that its carrying value may not be recoverable. A property’s value is
considered impaired if management’s estimate of the aggregate
future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) to
be generated by the property are less than the carrying value of
the property. To the extent impairment has occurred, the loss shall
be measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the property
over the fair value of the property. We do not believe that the value
of any of our rental properties was impaired at December 31,
2005 and 2004.
A variety of costs are incurred in the acquisition, development
and leasing of our properties. After determination is made to capitalize a cost, it is allocated to the specific component of a project
that is benefited. Determination of when a development project is
substantially complete and capitalization must cease involves a
degree of judgment. Our capitalization policy on our development
properties is guided by SFAS No. 34 “Capitalization of Interest
Cost” and SFAS No. 67 “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental
Operations of Real Estate Projects.” The costs of land and building under development include specifically identifiable costs. The
capitalized costs include pre-construction costs essential to
the development of the property, development costs, construction
costs, interest costs, real estate taxes, salaries and related costs
and other costs incurred during the period of development. We
consider a construction project as substantially completed and
held available for occupancy upon the completion of tenant
improvements, but no later than one year from cessation of major
construction activity. We cease capitalization on the portions substantially completed and occupied or held available for occupancy,
and capitalize only those costs associated with the portions
under construction.
Results of operations of properties acquired are included in the
Statement of Operations from the date of acquisition.
In accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”
we allocate the purchase price of real estate to land and building
and, if determined to be material, intangibles, such as the value of
above, below and at-market leases and origination costs associated
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with the in-place leases. We depreciate the amount allocated to
building and other intangible assets over their estimated useful lives,
which generally range from three to 40 years. The values of the
above and below market leases are amortized and recorded as
either an increase (in the case of below market leases) or a
decrease (in the case of above market leases) to rental income over
the remaining term of the associated lease. The value associated
with in-place leases and tenant relationships are amortized over the
expected term of the relationship, which includes an estimated
probability of the lease renewal, and its estimated term. If a tenant
vacates its space prior to the contractual termination of the lease
and no rental payments are being made on the lease, any unamortized balance of the related intangible will be written off. The tenant
improvements and origination costs are amortized as an expense
over the remaining life of the lease (or charged against earnings if
the lease is terminated prior to its contractual expiration date). We
assess fair value of the leases based on estimated cash flow projections that utilize appropriate discount and capitalization rates and
available market information. Estimates of future cash flows are
based on a number of factors including the historical operating
results, known trends, and market/economic conditions that may
affect the property.
As a result of our evaluations, under SFAS No. 141, of
acquisitions made, we recognized an increase of approximately
$1.2 million and $62,000 and a decrease of $155,000 in rental
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively, for the amortization of above market leases
and a reduction in lease origination costs, resulting from the reallocation of the purchase price of the applicable properties. We
recognized a reduction in interest expense for the amortization of
the above-market rate mortgage of approximately $715,000,
$657,000 and $457,000 for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Scheduled amortization on existing intangible liabilities on real
estate investments is as follows (in thousands):
Intangible Liabilities

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter

$1,378
1,378
1,378
1,378
1,378
1,357
$8,247

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with maturity of
three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.
Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures
We account for our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures
under the equity method of accounting as we exercise significant
influence, but do not control these entities and are not considered
to be the primary beneficiary under FIN 46R. We consolidate
those joint ventures where we are considered to be the primary
beneficiary, even though we do not control the entity. In all the joint

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ventures, the rights of the minority investor are both protective as
well as participating. Unless we are determined to be the primary
beneficiary, these rights preclude us from consolidating these
investments. These investments are recorded initially at cost, as
investments in unconsolidated joint ventures, and subsequently
adjusted for equity in net income (loss) and cash contributions
and distributions. Any difference between the carrying amount of
these investments on our balance sheet and the underlying equity
in net assets is amortized as an adjustment to equity in net
income (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures over the lesser of
the joint venture term or 40 years. Equity income (loss) from
unconsolidated joint ventures is allocated based on our ownership
interest in each joint venture. When a capital event (as defined in
each partnership agreement) such as a refinancing occurs, if
return thresholds are met, future equity income will be allocated at
our increased economic percentage. We recognize incentive
income from unconsolidated real estate joint ventures as income
to the extent it is earned and not subject to a clawback feature.
Distributions we receive from unconsolidated real estate joint ventures in excess of our basis in the investment are recorded as
offsets to our investment balance if we remain liable for future
obligations of the joint venture or may otherwise be committed to
provide future additional financial support. None of the joint venture debt is recourse to us. See Note 6.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash primarily consists of security deposits held on
behalf of our tenants as well as capital improvement and real
estate tax escrows required under certain loan agreements.
Deferred Lease Costs
Deferred lease costs consist of fees and direct costs incurred to
initiate and renew operating leases and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the related lease term. Certain of our
employees provide leasing services to the wholly-owned properties. A portion of their compensation, approximating $2.3 million,
$1.7 million and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, was capitalized and is amortized over an estimated average lease term of seven years.
Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs represent commitment fees, legal and
other third party costs associated with obtaining commitments for
financing which result in a closing of such financing. These costs
are amortized over the terms of the respective agreements.
Unamortized deferred financing costs are expensed when the
associated debt is refinanced or repaid before maturity. Costs
incurred in seeking financial transactions, which do not close, are
expensed in the period in which it is determined that the financing
will not close.
Revenue Recognition
Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. The excess of rents recognized over amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying leases are included in
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deferred rents receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.
We establish, on a current basis, an allowance for future potential
tenant credit losses, which may occur against this account. The
balance reflected on the balance sheet is net of such allowance.
In addition to base rent, our tenants also generally will pay their
pro rata share of increases in real estate taxes and operating
expenses for the building over a base year. In some leases, in lieu
of paying additional rent based upon increases in building operating expenses, the tenant will pay additional rent based upon
increases in the wage rate paid to porters over the porters’ wage
rate in effect during a base year or increases in the consumer
price index over the index value in effect during a base year. In
addition, many of our leases contain fixed percentage increases
over the base rent to cover escalations.
Electricity is most often supplied by the landlord either on a
sub-metered basis, or rent inclusion basis (i.e., a fixed fee is
included in the rent for electricity, which amount may increase
based upon increases in electricity rates or increases in electrical
usage by the tenant). Base building services other than electricity
(such as heat, air conditioning and freight elevator service during
business hours, and base building cleaning) typically are provided
at no additional cost, with the tenant paying additional rent only for
services which exceed base building services or for services
which are provided outside normal business hours.
These escalations are based on actual expenses incurred in
the prior calendar year. If the expenses in the current year are different from those in the prior year, then during the current year,
the escalations will be adjusted to reflect the actual expenses for
the current year.
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses resulting from the inability of its tenants to make required
rent payments. If the financial condition of a specific tenant were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
We record a gain on sale of real estate when title is conveyed
to the buyer, subject to the buyer’s financial commitment being
sufficient to provide economic substance to the sale and we have
no substantial economic involvement with the buyer.
Interest income on structured finance investments is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method and recognized on the accrual basis. Fees received in
connection with loan commitments are deferred until the loan is
funded and are then recognized over the term of the loan as an
adjustment to yield. Anticipated exit fees, whose collection is
expected, are also recognized over the term of the loan as an
adjustment to yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are
recognized at expiration.
Income recognition is generally suspended for structured
finance investments at the earlier of the date at which payments
become 90 days past due or when, in the opinion of management, a full recovery of income and principal becomes doubtful.
Income recognition is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.
Asset management fees are recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the asset management agreement.
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Reserve for Possible Credit Losses
The expense for possible credit losses in connection with structured finance investments is the charge to earnings to increase
the allowance for possible credit losses to the level that we estimate to be adequate considering delinquencies, loss experience
and collateral quality. Other factors considered relate to geographic trends and product diversification, the size of the portfolio
and current economic conditions. Based upon these factors, we
establish the provision for possible credit losses by category of
asset. When it is probable that we will be unable to collect all
amounts contractually due, the account is considered impaired.
Where impairment is indicated, a valuation write-down or
write-off is measured based upon the excess of the recorded
investment amount over the net fair value of the collateral, as
reduced by selling costs. Any deficiency between the carrying
amount of an asset and the net sales price of repossessed collateral is charged to the allowance for credit losses. No reserve for
impairment was required at December 31, 2005 or 2004.
Rent Expense
Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the initial
term of the lease. The excess of the rent expense recognized over
the amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying lease is
included in the deferred land lease payable in the accompanying
balance sheets.
Income Taxes
We are taxed as a REIT under Section 856(c) of the Code. As a
REIT, we generally are not subject to Federal income tax. To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must distribute at least 90% of
our REIT taxable income to our stockholders and meet certain
other requirements. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable
year, we will be subject to Federal income tax on our taxable
income at regular corporate rates. We may also be subject to certain state, local and franchise taxes. Under cer tain
circumstances, Federal income and excise taxes may be due on
our undistributed taxable income.
Pursuant to amendments to the Code that became effective
January 1, 2001, we have elected or may elect to treat certain of
our existing or newly created corporate subsidiaries as taxable
REIT subsidiaries, or TRS. In general, a TRS of ours may perform
non-customary services for our tenants, hold assets that we cannot hold directly and generally may engage in any real estate or
non-real estate related business. A TRS is subject to corporate
Federal income tax. Other than our Service Corporation, our
TRS’s generate no income or are marginally profitable, resulting in
minimal or no Federal income tax liability for these entities. Our
Service Corporation paid approximately $1.8 million in Federal,
state and local taxes in 2005.
Underwriting Commissions and Costs
Underwriting commissions and costs incurred in connection with
our stock offerings are reflected as a reduction of additional paidin-capital.
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Stock-Based Employee Compensation Plans
We have a stock-based employee compensation plan, described
more fully in Note 14. Prior to 2003, we accounted for this plan
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, or APB 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost was
reflected in net income prior to January 1, 2003, as all awards
granted under such plan had an intrinsic value of zero on the date
of grant. Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for StockBased Compensation.” Under the prospective method of
adoption we selected under the provisions of SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and
Disclosure,” the recognition provisions apply to all employee
awards granted, modified, or settled after January 1, 2003. In
December 2004, the FASB revised SFAS No. 123 through the
issuance of SFAS No. 123 “Shared Based Payment,” revised, or
SFAS No. 123-R. SFAS No. 123-R will be effective for us commencing in the first quarter of 2006. SFAS No. 123-R, among
other things, eliminates the alternative to use the intrinsic value
method of accounting for stock-based compensation and
requires entities to recognize the cost of employee services
received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on
the grant-date fair value of those awards (with limited exceptions).
The fair-value based method in SFAS No. 123-R is similar to the
fair-value based method in SFAS No. 123 in most respects, subject to certain key differences. We are in the process of evaluating
the impact of such key differences between SFAS No. 123 and
SFAS No. 123-R, but do not currently believe that the adoption of
SFAS No. 123-R will have a material impact on us, as we have
applied the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation since January 1, 2003.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for
use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have no
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option
valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because our
plan has characteristics significantly different from those of traded
options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate, in our opinion, the
existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of our employee stock options.
Compensation cost for stock options, if any, is recognized ratably over the vesting period of the award. Our policy is to grant
options with an exercise price equal to the quoted closing market
price of our stock on the business day preceding the grant date.
Awards of stock, restricted stock or employee loans to purchase
stock, which may be forgiven over a period of time, are expensed
as compensation on a current basis over the benefit period.
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To determine the fair values of derivative instruments, we use a
variety of methods and assumptions that are based on market
conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date. For the
majority of financial instruments including most derivatives,
long-term investments and long-term debt, standard market con2005
2004
2003
ventions and techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis,
Dividend yield
3.60%
5.00%
5.00% option pricing models, replacement cost, and termination cost are
Expected life of option
5 years
5 years
5 years used to determine fair value. All methods of assessing fair value
Risk-free interest rate
4.13%
4.00%
4.00% result in a general approximation of value, and such value may
Expected stock price volatility
15.58% 14.40% 17.91%
never actually be realized.
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to the effect
The following table illustrates the effect on net income avail- of interest rate changes and limit these risks by following estabable to common stockholders and earnings per share if the fair lished risk management policies and procedures including the use
value method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested of derivatives. To address exposure to interest rates, derivatives
stock options for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 are used primarily to fix the rate on debt based on floating-rate
indices and manage the cost of borrowing obligations.
and 2003 (in thousands):
We use a variety of commonly used derivative products that
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
are considered plain vanilla derivatives. These derivatives typically
Net income available to
include interest rate swaps, caps, collars and floors. We expressly
common stockholders
$137,544 $193,172 $90,447 prohibit the use of unconventional derivative instruments and
Deduct stock option expense –
using derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
all awards
(4,137) (1,677) (1,529) Further, we have a policy of only entering into contracts with major
Add back stock option expense
financial institutions based upon their credit ratings and other factors.
included in net income
3,079
331
147
We may employ swaps, forwards or purchased options to
Allocation of compensation
hedge
qualifying forecasted transactions. Gains and losses
expense to minority interest
233
93
102
related to these transactions are deferred and recognized in net
Pro forma net income available to
common stockholders
$136,719 $191,919 $89,167 income as interest expense in the same period or periods that the
underlying transaction occurs, expires or is otherwise terminated.
Basic earnings per
Hedges that are reported at fair value and presented on the
common share – historical
$
3.29 $
4.93 $ 2.80
Basic earnings per
balance sheet could be characterized as either cash flow hedges
common share – pro forma
$
3.27 $
4.90 $ 2.76 or fair value hedges. Interest rate caps and collars are examples of
Diluted earnings per
cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges address the risk associated
common share – historical
$
3.20 $
4.75 $ 2.66 with future cash flows of debt transactions. All hedges held by us
Diluted earnings per
are deemed to be fully effective in meeting the hedging objectives
common share – pro forma
$
3.18 $
4.71 $ 2.62
established by our corporate policy governing interest rate risk
management and as such no net gains or losses were reported in
The effects of applying SFAS No. 123 in this pro forma dis- earnings. The changes in fair value of hedge instruments are
closure are not indicative of the impact future awards may have reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments, the
on our results of operations.
gain or loss, resulting from the change in the estimated fair value
of the derivative instruments, is recognized in current earnings
Derivative Instruments
In the normal course of business, we use a variety of derivative during the period of change.
instruments to manage, or hedge, interest rate risk. We require
that hedging derivative instruments are effective in reducing the Earnings Per Share
interest rate risk exposure that they are designated to hedge. This We present both basic and diluted earnings per share, or EPS.
effectiveness is essential for qualifying for hedge accounting. Basic EPS excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net
Some derivative instruments are associated with an anticipated income available to common stockholders by the weighted avertransaction. In those cases, hedge effectiveness criteria also age number of common shares outstanding during the period.
require that it be probable that the underlying transaction occurs. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if secuInstruments that meet these hedging criteria are formally desig- rities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or
converted into common stock, where such exercise or conversion
nated as hedges at the inception of the derivative contract.
would result in a lower EPS amount. This also includes units of
limited partnership interest.
The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions for grants in 2005,
2004 and 2003.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash investments,
structured finance investments and accounts receivable. We
place our cash investments in excess of insured amounts with
high quality financial institutions. The collateral securing our structured finance investments is primarily located in the greater New
York area. See Note 5. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of
our tenants and require certain tenants to provide security
deposits or letters of credit. Though these security deposits and
letters of credit are insufficient to meet the total value of a tenant’s
lease obligation, they are a measure of good faith and a source of
funds to offset the economic costs associated with lost rent and
the costs associated with re-tenanting the space. Although the
properties in our real estate portfolio are primarily located in
Manhattan, the tenants located in these buildings operate in various industries. Other than the tenant at 750 Third Avenue, which
is subject to a master lease through December 2005 and who
contributed approximately 10.0% of our annualized rent, no single tenant in the wholly-owned properties contributes more than
4.6% of our annualized rent at December 31, 2005.
Approximately 18% and 13% of our annualized rent was attributable to 420 Lexington Avenue and 220 East 42nd Street,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Approximately 16%, 12% and 10% of our annualized rent was
attributable to 420 Lexington Avenue, 220 East 42nd Street and
750 Third Avenue, respectively, for the year ended December 31,
2004. Approximately 15%, 11% and 10% of our annualized rent
was attributable to 420 Lexington Avenue, 220 East 42nd
Street and 750 Third Avenue, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Two borrowers each accounted for more
than 10.0% of the revenue earned on structured finance investments at December 31, 2005. Currently 73.9% of our workforce
which service substantially all of our properties is covered by three
collective bargaining agreements.
Reclassification
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform with
the current year presentation and to comply with SFAS No. 144.
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3. PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS
2005 Acquisitions
In February 2005, we acquired the fee interest in 28 West 44th
Street for $105.0 million, excluding closing costs. The property is
a 21-story, 359,000 square foot building located two blocks from
Grand Central Station, and is directly across the street from
19 West 44th Street, also owned by an affiliate of ours. The property was acquired with funds drawn under our unsecured revolving
credit facility.
In April 2005, we acquired the fee interest in One Madison
Avenue for approximately $919.0 million, excluding closing costs.
The property consists of two contiguous buildings, the South
Building and the North Tower totaling approximately 1.44 million
square feet. We entered into a joint venture agreement with
Gramercy Capital Corp. (NYSE: GKK), or Gramercy, whereby we
own a 55% interest in the 1.176 million square foot South
Building, which is occupied almost entirely by Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC pursuant to a lease that expires in 2020.
We, along with Gramercy, acquired the South Building on a pari
passu basis for approximately $803.0 million. This was financed
in part through a $690.0 million mortgage on the South Building.
We, along with Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, will share
equally in the profits from a planned conversion of the Clock
Tower from office use to residential condominiums. The Clock
Tower was acquired for approximately $116.0 million and was
financed in part by a $115.0 million loan facility of which we drew
down approximately $98.3 million at closing. This loan was refinanced in November 2005. See Note 9.
In June 2005, we purchased from our partner, the City
Investment Fund, or CIF, an interest in 19 West 44th Street resulting in majority ownership and control of the property. The
transaction valued the property at approximately $91.2 million,
excluding closing costs. Pursuant to the terms of the initial joint
venture agreement, we would have been entitled to an incentive
fee of approximately $7.3 million upon a sale of the property. As a
result of acquiring the partnership interests, the incentive fee
income was deferred and reflected as a reduction to our basis in
the property to approximately $79.2 million. In addition, we originated a loan secured by CIF’s remaining ownership stake. CIF
also granted us an option to purchase CIF’s remaining equity
interest. We consolidate this property as we control the asset and
are entitled to all of the underlying economics.
In July 2005, we, through a joint venture with Jeff Sutton,
acquired the fee interests in two adjoining buildings at 1551 and
1555 Broadway and in a third building at 21 West 34th Street for
an aggregate purchase price of $102.5 million, excluding closing
costs. The buildings comprise approximately 43,700 square feet.
We own approximately 50% of the equity in the joint venture. The
joint venture entered into a $103.9 million credit facility to finance
the acquisition and redevelopment of these three properties. The
loan, which will bear interest at 200 basis points over the 30-day
LIBOR, is for three years. At closing, the joint venture drew
approximately $85.4 million to fund the acquisition. This loan is
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non-recourse to us. The joint venture agreement provides Jeff
Sutton with the opportunity to earn incentive fees based upon the
financial performance of the properties. We loaned approximately
$10.2 million to Jeff Sutton to fund a portion of his equity. These
loans are secured by a pledge of Jeff Sutton’s partnership interest
in the joint venture. As we are the primary beneficiary of the joint
venture under FIN 46(R), we have consolidated the accounts of
the joint venture.
In August 2005, we, through another joint venture with Jeff
Sutton, acquired the ground and second floors in a mixed-use
property at 141 Fifth Avenue for $13.25 million, excluding closing
costs. Our portion of the building comprises approximately
21,500 square feet. We own approximately 50% of the equity in
the joint venture. The joint venture entered into a $12.58 million
credit facility to finance the acquisition of the property. The loan,
which will bear interest at 225 basis points over the 30-day
LIBOR, is for two years and has three one-year extension options.
This loan is non-recourse to us. At closing, the joint venture drew
approximately $10.0 million to fund the acquisition. In addition,
the venture retained a 22.5% carried interest in floors 3 to 12,
which were acquired by a third party for $46.75 million, excluding
closing costs, and which are to be converted to residential condominiums. The joint venture agreement provides Jeff Sutton with the
opportunity to earn incentive fees based upon the financial performance of the property. In connection with this transaction, we
loaned approximately $8.5 million to Jeff Sutton. This loan is
secured by a pledge of Jeff Sutton’s partnership interest in the joint
venture. As we are the primary beneficiary of the joint venture under
FIN 46(R), we have consolidated the accounts of the joint venture.
In November 2005, we, through a joint venture with Jeff Sutton,
acquired a controlling leasehold interest in 1604 Broadway – a retail
property located in Manhattan’s Times Square for approximately
$4.4 million. The joint venture acquired a 90% interest in the
41,100-square-foot Times Square building. The property is subject to a ground lease that was extended from 2019 to 2036 as
part of the transaction. We have a 50% interest in the joint venture
with Jeff Sutton. We have the opportunity to earn incentive fees
based upon the financial performance of the property. We loaned
approximately $1.6 million to Jeff Sutton to fund a portion of his
equity. This loan is secured by a pledge of Jeff Sutton’s partnership
interest in the joint venture. As we have been designated as the primary beneficiary of the joint venture under FIN 46(R), we have
consolidated the accounts of the joint venture.
2004 Acquisitions
In July 2004, we acquired the 780,000 square foot office
proper ty located at 750 Third Avenue, or 750 Third, for
$255.0 million. The acquisition was initially funded using proceeds from our unsecured revolving credit facility. At closing,
TIAA-CREF, a AAA-rated company, entered into an operating
lease for the entire building.
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In October 2004, we acquired the long-term leasehold in the
563,000 square foot office property at 625 Madison Avenue, or
625 Madison, for $231.5 million. The property was acquired with
borrowings under our unsecured revolving credit facility, approximately 306,000 units of limited partnership interest in our
Operating Partnership, having an aggregate value of approximately $15.5 million, and the assumption of a $102.0 million
mortgage loan held by the New York State Teacher’s Retirement
System. The mortgage has a fixed annual interest rate of 6.27%
and will mature in November 2015. The property is subject to a
ground lease with a final expiration date of June 30, 2054.
2003 Acquisitions
In February 2003, we acquired the 1.1 million square foot office
property located at 220 East 42nd Street, Manhattan, known as
The News Building, a property located in the Grand Central and
United Nations marketplace, for a purchase price of approximately $265.0 million. Prior to the acquisition, we held a
$53.5 million preferred equity investment in the property that was
redeemed in full at closing. In connection with the redemption, we
earned a redemption premium totaling approximately $4.4 million,
which was accounted for as a reduction in the cost basis, resulting in an adjusted purchase price of $260.6 million. In connection
with this acquisition, we assumed a $158.0 million mortgage,
which was due to mature in September 2004 and bore interest at
LIBOR plus 1.76%, and issued approximately 376,000 units of
limited partnership interest in our Operating Partnership having an
aggregate value of approximately $11.3 million. The remaining
$42.2 million of the purchase price was funded from proceeds
from the sales of 50 West 23rd Street and 875 Bridgeport
Avenue, Shelton, CT, and borrowings under our unsecured revolving credit facility, which included the repayment of a $28.5 million
mezzanine loan on the property. In December 2003, we refinanced the $158.0 million mortgage with a new $210.0 million
10-year mortgage at a fixed interest rate of 5.23%. See Note 9.
We agreed that for a period of seven years after the acquisition,
we would not take certain action that would adversely affect the
tax positions of certain of the partners who received units of limited partnership interest in our Operating Partnership and who
held interests in this property prior to the acquisition.
In March 2003, we acquired condominium interests in
125 Broad Street, Manhattan, encompassing approximately
525,000 square feet of office space for approximately $92.0 million. We assumed the $76.6 million first mortgage currently
encumbering this property. The mortgage matures in October 2007
and bears interest at 8.29%. In addition, we issued 51,667 units
of limited partnership interest in our Operating Partnership having
an aggregate value of approximately $1.6 million. The balance of
the purchase price was funded from proceeds from the sales of
50 West 23rd Street and 875 Bridgeport Avenue. At acquisition
this property was encumbered by a ground lease. However, we
acquired our portion of the underlying fee interest for approximately $6.0 million in June 2004. We agreed that for a period of
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three years following the acquisition, we would not take certain
action that would adversely affect the tax positions of certain of
the partners who received units of limited partnership interest in
our Operating Partnership and who held interests in this property
prior to the acquisition.
In October 2003, we acquired the long-term leasehold interest in 461 Fifth Avenue, Manhattan, for $60.9 million. The
leasehold acquisition was funded, in part, with the proceeds from
the sale of 1370 Broadway, Manhattan, which closed in
July 2003. As a 1031 tax-free exchange, the transaction enabled
us to defer gains from the sale of 1370 Broadway and from the
sale of 17 Battery Place South, Manhattan, which gain was initially reinvested in 1370 Broadway. The balance of the acquisition
was funded using our unsecured revolving credit facility.
4. PROPERTY DISPOSITIONS AND
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
In April 2005, we sold the fee interest in 1414 Avenue of the
Americas for approximately $60.5 million, excluding closing costs.
The property is approximately 121,000 square feet. We recognized a gain on sale of approximately $35.9 million, which is net of
approximately $2.1 million of costs incurred in connection with the
defeasance of its existing mortgage debt and a $5.0 million
employee compensation award accrued in connection with the
realization of this investment gain as a bonus to certain employees
that were instrumental in realizing the gain on this sale.
In October 2004, we sold 17 Battery Place North for approximately $70.0 million, realizing a gain of approximately
$22.5 million. The net proceeds were reinvested into the acquisition of 750 Third to effectuate a 1031 tax-free exchange.
In November 2004, we sold 1466 Broadway for approximately
$160.0 million, realizing a gain of approximately $73.2 million.
The net proceeds were reinvested into the acquisition of
750 Third to effectuate a 1031 tax-free exchange.
In March 2003, we sold 50 West 23rd Street for $66.0 million.
We acquired the building at the time of our initial public offering in
August of 1997, at a purchase price of approximately $36.6 million. Since that time, the building was upgraded and repositioned
enabling us to realize a gain of approximately $19.2 million. The
proceeds of the sale were used to pay off an existing $21.0 million
first mortgage and substantially all of the balance was reinvested
into the acquisitions of The News Building and 125 Broad Street
to effectuate a partial 1031 tax-free exchange.
In May 2003, we sold 875 Bridgeport Avenue, Shelton, CT, or
Shaws, for approximately $16.2 million and the buyer assumed
the existing $14.8 million first mortgage. The net proceeds were
reinvested into the acquisitions of The News Building and
125 Broad Street to effectuate a partial 1031 tax-free exchange.
In July 2003, we sold 1370 Broadway for $57.5 million, realizing a gain of approximately $4.0 million. The net proceeds were
reinvested into the acquisition of 461 Fifth Avenue to effectuate a
1031 tax-free exchange.
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At December 31, 2005, discontinued operations included the
results of operations of real estate assets sold during the three
years then ended or held for sale at that date. This included
50 West 23rd Street which was sold in March 2003, Shaws which
was sold in May 2003, 1370 Broadway which was sold in July 2003,
17 Battery Place North which was sold in October 2004 and
1466 Broadway which was sold in November 2004 and
1414 Avenue of the Americas, which was sold in April 2005.
The following table summarizes income from discontinued operations (net of minority interest) and the related realized gain on sale
of discontinued operations (net of minority interest) for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands).
Year Ended December 31,

2005

2004

2003

Revenues
Rental revenue
$ 1,352 $21,214 $30,092
Escalation and
reimbursement revenues
186
2,893
4,271
Other income
24
234
568
Total revenues
1,562 24,341 34,931
Operating expense
511
7,474
9,564
Real estate taxes
250
4,148
5,949
Interest
188
1,074
1,985
Depreciation and amortization
110
4,216
6,375
Total expenses
1,059 16,912 23,873
Income from discontinued operations
503
7,429 11,058
Gain on disposition of
discontinued operations
35,900 95,680 22,850
Minority interest in
operating partnership
(2,053) (5,722) (2,261)
Income from discontinued
operations, net of minority interest $34,350 $97,387 $31,647

5. STRUCTURED FINANCE INVESTMENTS
During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we
originated approximately $148.1 million and $309.6 million in
structured finance and preferred equity investments (net of discount), respectively. There were also approximately $98.1 million
and $178.6 million in repayments and participations during
those years, respectively. At December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 all loans were performing in accordance with the terms of
the loan agreements.
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As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we held the following structured finance investments, excluding preferred equity investments,
with an aggregate weighted-average current yield of 10.0% (in thousands):

Senior
Financing

2005
Principal
Outstanding

2004
Principal
Outstanding

Initial
Maturity
Date

$ 15,000 $ 102,000
3,500
28,000
–
–
20,000
90,000
–
–
29,750
240,000
28,500
–
–
–
–
–
37,500
477,500
4,000
44,000
36,000
130,000
25,000
39,000
6,994
133,000
11,000
53,000
21,000
115,000
$238,244 $1,451,500

$ 13,927
3,500
–
20,000
–
30,249
28,500
–
–
37,500
3,939
36,000
25,000
5,336
11,000
21,000
$235,951

$ 14,471
3,500
40,000
20,000
31,278
–
–
11,000
15,045
37,500
3,964
36,000
25,000
5,269
11,000
21,000
$275,027

October 2013
September 2021
February 2014
June 2006
January 2006
December 2020
August 2008
May 2005
September 2005
January 2014
August 2010
April 2006
June 2006
June 2014
November 2009
November 2009

Gross
Investment

Loan Type

Mezzanine Loan(1)(2)
Mezzanine Loan(1)(3)
Mezzanine Loan(1)(4)
Mezzanine Loan
Mezzanine Loan(5)
Mezzanine Loan(1)(6)
Mezzanine Loan(1)
Junior Participation(7)
Junior Participation(8)
Junior Participation(1)
Junior Participation(1)(2)
Junior Participation
Junior Participation
Junior Participation(1)
Junior Participation(1)
Junior Participation(1)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

This is a fixed rate loan.
This is an amortizing loan.
The maturity date may be accelerated to July 2006 upon the occurrence of certain events.
The loan was sold to an affiliate of ours in July 2005, but we retained an interest-only strip.
This investment was subject to an $18.9 million loan at a rate of 200 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR. The loan matured and was repaid in January 2005. This
asset was sold in June 2005.
(6) The difference between the pay and accrual rates is included as an addition to the principal balance outstanding.
(7) This investment was redeemed in May 2005.
(8) This loan was redeemed at maturity.

Preferred Equity Investments
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we held the following preferred equity investments with an aggregate weighted-average current
yield of approximately 11.0% (in thousands):
Senior
Financing

2005
Amount
Outstanding

2004
Amount
Outstanding

Initial
Maturity
Date

$ 75,000 $ 481,000
15,000
2,350,000
10,000
–
6,125
25,000
51,000
224,000
7,000
75,000
$164,125 $3,155,000

$ 75,000
15,000
10,000
6,125
51,000
7,000
$164,125

$75,000
–
–
–
–
–
$75,000

July 2014
February 2015
February 2007
June 2015
February 2014
August 2015

Gross
Investment

Type

Preferred equity(1)(2)
Preferred equity(1)
Preferred equity
Preferred equity(1)(2)
Preferred equity(3)
Preferred equity(1)

(1) This is a fixed rate investment.
(2) An affiliate of ours owns an interest in the first mortgage of the underlying property.
(3) An affiliate of ours holds a mezzanine loan on this asset.
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6. INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES
We have investments in several real estate joint ventures with various partners, including The Rockefeller Group International Inc., or
RGII, CIF, the Witkoff Group, or Witkoff, SITQ Immobilier, a subsidiary of Caisse de depot et placement du Quebec, or SITQ, SEB
Immobilier – Investment GmbH, or SEB, Prudential Real Estate Investors, or Prudential and Gramercy. As we do not control these joint
ventures, we account for them under the equity method of accounting. The table below provides general information on each joint venture as of December 31, 2005 (in thousands):
Partner

Economic
Interest

Square
Feet

RGII
CIF and Witkoff
SEB
SITQ
SITQ
Prudential
Gramercy
Jeff Sutton

45.00%
30.00%
16.67%
55.00%
68.45%
49.90%
55.00%
45.00%

2,550
921
913
670
1,750
834
1,176
62

Property

1221 Avenue of the Americas(2)
485 Lexington Avenue(3)
One Park Avenue(4)
1250 Broadway
1515 Broadway(5)
100 Park Avenue
One Madison Avenue – South Building
379 West Broadway

Acquired

Acquisition
Price(1)

12/03 $1,000,000
07/04
225,000
05/01
318,500
08/99
121,500
05/02
483,500
02/00
95,800
04/05
803,000
12/05
19,750

(1) Acquisition price represents the actual or implied purchase price for the joint venture.
(2) We acquired our interest from The McGraw-Hill Companies, or MHC. MHC is a tenant at the property and accounted for approximately 14.5% of property’s annualized rent at December 31, 2005. We do not manage this joint venture.
(3) At closing, TIAA-CREF entered into an operating lease for the entire building. Upon expiration of the operating lease in December 2005, TIAA-CREF will vacate
most of the space it occupies in 485 Lexington (approximately 870,000 square feet). As a result of exceeding the performance thresholds with CIF, our economic
stake in the property will increase to 50% in January 2006. See Note 24.
(4) In May 2004, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, or CS, through a wholly owned affiliate, acquired a 75% interest in One Park. The interest was acquired from a
joint venture comprised of SITQ and us. CS’s affiliated entity transferred its interest to SEB in April 2005.
(5) Under a tax protection agreement established to protect the limited partners of the partnership that transferred 1515 Broadway to the joint venture, the joint venture
has agreed not to adversely affect the limited partners’ tax positions before December 2011. One tenant, whose leases end between 2008 and 2015, represents
approximately 83.2% of this joint venture’s annualized rent at December 31, 2005.

In August, our joint venture with Morgan Stanley Real Estate
Fund, or MSREF, sold the fee interest in 180 Madison Avenue
for $92.7 million. The joint venture recognized a gain of approximately $40.0 million from the sale, of which our share was
approximately $19.3 million. Approximately $7.7 million of a
gain was deferred and will be recognized upon redemption of
the preferred equity investment retained in the proper ty.
180 Madison Avenue represents the last property to be sold
through our joint ventures with MSREF. In connection with the
resolution of the joint venture, we recognized an incentive fee of
approximately $10.8 million.
In June 2005, we acquired substantially all of CIF’s partnership interest in the joint venture that owned 19 West 44th Street.
We previously held a 35% interest in this joint venture. See Note 3
for additional details.
In May 2005, we acquired a 10% interest in a joint venture
that acquired a 670,000 square feet property located at
55 Corporate Drive, N.J. The acquisition was funded with an
$84.0 million interest-only mortgage. The mortgage, which
matures in June 2007, carries an interest rate of 215 basis points
over the 30-day LIBOR, and has three one-year as-of-right
extension options.
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We finance our joint ventures with non-recourse debt. The first
mortgage notes payable collateralized by the respective joint venture properties and assignment of leases at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively, are as follows (in thousands):
Property

1221 Avenue of
the Americas(2)
485 Lexington Avenue(3)
One Park Avenue
1250 Broadway(4)
1515 Broadway(5)
100 Park Avenue(6)
One Madison Avenue –
South Building
379 West Broadway

Maturity
Date

Interest
Rate(1)

2005

2004

$170,000
$188,347
$238,500
$115,000
$625,000
$135,998

$175,000
$175,585
$238,500
$115,000
$425,000
$116,857

05/2020 5.91% $687,984
12/2007 6.80% $ 12,837

–
–

12/2010
07/2007
05/2014
08/2006
11/2007
11/2015

4.16%
5.29%
5.80%
4.49%
4.15%
6.52%

(1) Interest rate represents the effective all-in weighted average interest rate for
the year ended December 31, 2005.
(2) This loan has an interest rate based on the Libor plus 75 basis points.
(3) Simultaneous with the closing, the joint venture closed on a $240,000 loan. The
loan, which bore interest at 200 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR, was for
three years and had two one-year extension options. At closing, the joint venture
drew down approximately $175,300. In January 2006, the joint venture obtained
a $390 million three year loan, which bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.35%, and
which can be extended for an additional two years. The initial funding of the loan
was approximately $293 million, which was used to repay the existing loan.
(4) The interest only loan carries an interest rate of 120 basis points over the 30day LIBOR. The loan is subject to three one-year as-of-right renewal extensions.
(5) The interest only loan carries an interest rate of 90 basis points over the 30-day
LIBOR. The mortgage is subject to three one-year as-of-right renewal options.
(6) In October 2005, the loan was increased by $60.0 million to $175.0 million. It
will mature in 2015 and carries an interest rate of approximately 6.52%.
Proceeds from the refinancing will be used to redevelop the property.
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We act as the operating partner and day-to-day manager for all
our joint ventures, except for 1221 Avenue of the Americas and
55 Corporate Drive. We are entitled to receive fees for providing
management, leasing, construction supervision and asset management services to our joint ventures. We earned approximately
$10.8 million, $8.4 million and $7.4 million from these services for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, we have the ability to earn incentive fees based on
the ultimate financial performance of the joint venture properties.
Gramercy Capital Corp.
In April 2004, we formed Gramercy as a national commercial real
estate specialty finance company that specializes in the direct origination and acquisition of whole loans, subordinate interests in
whole loans, mezzanine loans, preferred equity and net lease
investments involving commercial properties throughout the United
States. Gramercy also makes equity investments in commercial
real estate properties net leased to tenants, primarily for the recurring earnings, tax benefits and long-term residual benefits these
transactions often hold. Gramercy intends to operate as and qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. In July 2004,
Gramercy sold 12.5 million shares of common stock in its initial
public offering at a price of $15.00 per share, for a total offering of
$187.5 million. Certain of our executive officers purchased from
us shares of common stock of Gramercy issued to one of our subsidiaries as part of Gramercy’s initial capitalization prior to its initial
public offering at the same price as the estimated fair value of such
shares at the time of formation. As part of the offering, which
closed on August 2, 2004, we purchased 3,125,000 shares, or
25%, of Gramercy, for a total investment of approximately
$46.9 million. In January 2005, we purchased an additional
1,275,000 shares of common stock of Gramercy, increasing our
total investment to approximately $68.9 million. In
September 2005, we purchased an additional 958,333 shares of
common stock of Gramercy, increasing our total investment to
approximately $93.6 million. We currently hold 5,668,000 shares of
Gramercy’s common stock. The market value of our investment in
Gramercy was approximately $129.1 million at December 31, 2005.
Gramercy is a variable interest entity, but we are not the primary beneficiary. Due to the significant influence we have over
Gramercy, we account for our investment under the equity
method of accounting.
GKK Manager LLC, or the Manager, an affiliate of ours, entered
into a management agreement with Gramercy, which provides for
an initial term through December 2007, with automatic one-year
extension options and is subject to certain termination rights.
Gramercy pays us an annual management fee equal to 1.75% of
their gross stockholders’ equity (as defined in the management
agreement). In addition, Gramercy will also pay the Manager a collateral management fee (as defined in the collateral management
agreement) of 0.25% per annum on the outstanding investment
grade bonds in Gramercy’s May 2005 collateralized debt obligation.
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For the two years ended December 31, 2005, we received an
aggregate of approximately $6.3 million and $1.3 million, respectively, in fees under the management agreement and $0.9 million
and none under the collateral management agreement.
To provide an incentive for the Manager to enhance the value
of the common stock, we, along with the Manager, are entitled to
an incentive return payable through the Class B limited partner
interests in Gramercy’s operating partnership, equal to 25% of
the amount by which funds from operations (as defined in
Gramercy’s partnership agreement) plus certain accounting gains
exceed the product of the weighted average stockholders’ equity
of Gramercy multiplied by 9.5% (divided by 4 to adjust for quarterly calculations). We will record any distributions on the Class B
limited partner interests as incentive distribution income in the
period when earned and when receipt of such amounts have
become probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with
Gramercy’s partnership agreement as if such agreement had
been terminated on that date. We earned approximately $2.3 million and none under this agreement for the two years ended
December 31, 2005, respectively. Due to the control we have
over the Manager, we consolidate the accounts of the Manager
into ours.
In May 2005, our Compensation Committee approved longterm incentive performance awards pursuant to which certain of
our officers and employees, including some of whom are our senior executive officers, were awarded a portion of the interests
previously held by us in the Manager as well as in the Class B limited partner interests in Gramercy’s operating partnership. These
awards are dependent upon, among other things, tenure of
employment and the performance by SL Green Realty Corp. and
its investment in Gramercy. We recorded compensation expense
of $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, related
to these awards. After giving effect to these awards, we own
65.83 units of the Class B limited partner interests and 65.83%
of the Manager. The officers and employees who received these
awards own 15.75 units of the Class B limited partner interests
and 15.75% of the Manager.
Gramercy is obligated to reimburse the Manager for its costs
incurred under an asset servicing agreement and an outsource
agreement between the Manager and us. The asset servicing
agreement provides for an annual fee of 0.15% of the carrying
value of Gramercy’s investments, excluding certain defined
investments. The outsourcing agreement provides a fee of
$1.25 million per year, increasing 3% annually over the prior year.
For the two years ended December 31, 2005, the Manager
received an aggregate of approximately $2.3 million and
$0.6 million, respectively, under the outsourcing and asset
servicing agreements.
In connection with the 5,500,000 shares of common
stock that were sold on December 31, 2004, and settled on
December 31, 2004, and January 3, 2005, in a private placement,
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Gramercy paid the Manager a fee of $1.0 million as compensation for financial advisory, structuring and other services
performed on Gramercy’s behalf.
All fees earned from Gramercy are included in other income in
the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Effective May 1, 2005, Gramercy entered into a lease agreement with an affiliate of ours, for their corporate offices at
420 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY. The lease is for approximately five thousand square feet with an option to lease an
additional approximately two thousand square feet and carries a
term of ten year with rents of approximately $249,000 per annum
for year one rising to $315,000 per annum in year ten.
See Note 3 for a discussion on Gramercy’s joint venture
investment, along with us, in One Madison Avenue-South Building.
The condensed combined balance sheets for the unconsolidated joint ventures, including Gramercy, at December 31, 2005
and 2004, are as follows (in thousands):
2005

Assets
Commercial real estate property, net
Structured finance investments
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and members’ equity
Mortgages payable
Other loans
Other liabilities
Members’ equity
Total liabilities and members’ equity
Company’s net investment in
unconsolidated joint ventures

2004

$3,327,691 $2,420,851
1,205,745
411,478
424,468
304,230
$4,957,904 $3,136,559
$2,257,667 $1,576,201
1,068,866
–
120,959
98,960
1,510,412
1,461,398
$4,957,904 $3,136,559
$ 543,189

$ 557,089

The condensed combined statements of operations for the
unconsolidated joint ventures from acquisition date through
December 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands):
2005

2004

2003

Total revenues
$501,079
Operating expenses
109,566
Real estate taxes
63,634
Interest
133,723
Depreciation and amortization
71,047
Total expenses
377,970
Net income before gain on sale $123,109
Company’s equity in net income of
unconsolidated joint ventures $ 49,349

$345,389
83,249
59,545
48,839
56,820
248,453
$ 96,936

$176,889
48,988
33,741
34,295
30,232
147,256
$ 29,633

$ 44,037

$ 14,871
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7. INVESTMENT IN AND ADVANCES TO AFFILIATES
Service Corporation
In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT while realizing
income from management, leasing and construction contracts
from third parties and joint venture properties, all of the management operations are conducted through the Service Corporation.
We, through our Operating Partnership, own 100% of the nonvoting common stock (representing 95% of the total equity) of
the Service Corporation. Through dividends on its equity interest,
our Operating Partnership receives substantially all of the cash
flow from the Service Corporation’s operations. All of the voting
common stock of the Service Corporation (representing 5% of
the total equity) is held by our affiliate. This controlling interest
gives the affiliate the power to elect all directors of the Service
Corporation. Prior to July 1, 2003, we accounted for our investment in the Service Corporation on the equity basis of accounting
because we had significant influence with respect to management and operations, but did not control the entity. The Service
Corporation is considered to be a variable interest entity under
FIN 46 and we are the primary beneficiary. Therefore, effective
July 1, 2003, we consolidated the operations of the Service
Corporation. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
and the six months ended December 31, 2003, the Service
Corporation earned approximately $10.5 million, $7.7 million and
$3.3 million of revenue and incurred approximately $7.9 million,
$6.3 million and $3.3 million in expenses, respectively. Effective
January 1, 2001, the Service Corporation elected to be taxed
as a TRS.
All of the management, leasing and construction services with
respect to the properties wholly-owned by us are conducted
through SL Green Management LLC which is 100% owned by
our Operating Partnership.
eEmerge
In May 2000, our Operating Partnership formed eEmerge, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, or eEmerge, in partnership with Fluid
Ventures LLC, or Fluid. In March 2001, we bought out Fluid’s
entire ownership interest in eEmerge. eEmerge is a separately
managed, self-funded company that provides fully-wired and furnished office space, services and support to businesses.
We, through our Operating Partnership, owned all the nonvoting common stock of eEmerge. Through dividends on our
equity interest, our Operating Partnership received approximately
100% of the cash flow from eEmerge operations. All of the voting
common stock was held by an affiliate. This controlling interest
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gave the affiliate the power to elect all the directors of eEmerge.
We accounted for our investment in eEmerge on the equity basis
of accounting because although we had significant influence with
respect to management and operations, we did not control the
entity. Effective March 2002, we acquired all the voting common
stock previously held by the affiliate. As a result, we control all the
common stock of eEmerge. Effective with the quarter ended
March 31, 2002, we consolidated the operations of eEmerge.
Effective January 1, 2001, eEmerge elected to be taxed as a TRS.
In June 2000, eEmerge and Eureka Broadband Corporation,
or Eureka, formed eEmerge.NYC LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, or ENYC, whereby eEmerge has a 95% interest
and Eureka has a 5% interest in ENYC. ENYC operates a
71,700 square foot fractional office suites business. ENYC
entered into a 10-year lease with our Operating Partnership for its
50,200 square foot premises, which is located at 440 Ninth
Avenue, Manhattan. ENYC entered into another 10-year lease
with our Operating Partnership for its 21,500 square foot premises at 28 West 44th Street, Manhattan. Allocations of net
profits, net losses and distributions are made in accordance with
the Limited Liability Company Agreement of ENYC. Effective with
the quarter ended March 31, 2002, we consolidated the operations of ENYC.
The net book value of our investment as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, was approximately $3.9 million and $3.4 million, respectively.
8. DEFERRED COSTS
Deferred costs at December 31 consisted of the following
(in thousands):
2005

Deferred financing
Deferred leasing
Less accumulated amortization

2004

$ 40,118 $ 20,356
78,086
62,184
118,204
82,540
(38,776)
(34,671)
$ 79,428 $ 47,869

9. MORTGAGE NOTES PAYABLE
The first mortgage notes payable collateralized by the respective
properties and assignment of leases at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively, were as follows (in thousands):
Maturity
Date

Property

70 West 36th Street(1)
5/1/09
1414 Avenue of
the Americas(1)(3)
–
711 Third Avenue(1)(4)
6/1/15
420 Lexington Avenue(1) 11/1/10
673 First Avenue(1)
2/11/13
125 Broad Street(2)
10/11/07
220 East 42nd Street(1)
12/9/13
625 Madison Avenue(1)
11/1/15
Total fixed rate debt
1 Madison Avenue(1)(5)
5/1/07
1551/1555 Broadway and
21 West 34th Street(6) 8/1/08
141 Fifth Avenue(6)
9/1/07
Total floating rate debt
Total mortgage notes payable

Interest
Rate

2005

2004

7.87% $ 11,414 $ 11,611
–
4.99%
8.44%
5.67%
8.29%
5.23%
6.27%
6.26%
5.82%
6.12%

–
120,000
117,466
34,474
74,787
210,000
102,000
670,141
113,546

13,325
47,602
119,412
35,000
75,526
210,000
102,000
614,476
–

91,532
–
10,033
–
215,111
–
$885,252 $614,476

(1) Held in bankruptcy remote special purpose entity.
(2) This mortgage has an initial maturity date of October 11, 2007, and a contractual maturity date of October 11, 2030.
(3) This mortgage was repaid in March 2005 in connection with the sale of
the property.
(4) This mortgage was refinanced in the second quarter of 2005.
(5) This relates to the Clock Tower. In November 2005, we closed on a
$205.1 million credit facility. This facility, which bears interest at 160 basis
points over LIBOR, has a two-year term and two six-month extension options.
This facility replaced the acquisition loan of $115.0 million and will be used in
part to fund the conversion and development of the Clock Tower. Approximately $113.4 million was drawn at closing.
(6) We have a 50% interest in the joint venture that holds these loans. These
loans are non-recourse to us.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the gross book value of
the properties collateralizing the mortgage notes was approximately $1.2 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we
incurred approximately $81.8 million and $64.9 million of interest
expense, excluding approximately $6.9 million and $433,000,
which were capitalized.

Principal Maturities
Combined aggregate principal maturities of mortgages and notes payable, 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility, term loans and
Trust Preferred Securities and our share of joint venture debt as of December 31, 2005, excluding extension options, were as follows
(in thousands):

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter
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Scheduled
Amortization

Principal
Repayments

$ 4,125
9,387
9,552
10,082
9,832
28,530
$71,508

$
–
196,919
91,533
10,628
104,691
409,973
$813,744

Revolving
Credit
Facility

Term
Loans and
Trust
Preferred
Securities

$

$

–
–
32,000
–
–
–
$32,000

Total

Joint
Venture
Debt

– $
4,125 $ 65,785
–
206,306
419,878
1,766
134,851
5,719
327,648
348,358
6,135
195,586
310,109
83,074
100,000
538,503
459,673
$625,000 $1,542,252 $1,040,264
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10. REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITIES
2005 Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility
In September 2005, we closed on a new $500.0 million
unsecured revolving credit facility. We have an option to increase
the capacity under the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility
to $800.0 million at any time prior to the maturity date in
September 2008. The 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility bears interest at a spread ranging from 85 basis points to
125 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR, based on our leverage
ratio, and has a one-year extension option. The 2005 unsecured
revolving credit facility also requires a 12.5 to 25 basis point fee
on the unused balance payable annually in arrears. The 2005
unsecured revolving credit facility had an outstanding balance of
$32.0 million and a 95 basis point spread over the 30-day LIBOR
at December 31, 2005. Availability under the 2005 unsecured
revolving credit facility was further reduced by the issuance of
approximately $14.1 million in letters of credit. The effective all-in
interest rate on the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility was
4.9% for the year ended December 31, 2005. The 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility includes certain restrictions and
covenants (see restrictive covenants below).
Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility
In September 2005, we terminated our $300.0 million unsecured
revolving credit facility. It bore interest at a spread ranging from
105 basis points to 135 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR,
based on our leverage ratio. The unsecured revolving credit facility
also required a 15 to 25 basis point fee on the unused balance
payable annually in arrears. The unsecured revolving credit facility
included certain restrictions and covenants (see restrictive
covenants below).
Secured Revolving Credit Facility
In September 2005, we terminated our $125.0 million secured
revolving credit facility. It bore interest at a spread ranging from
105 basis points to 135 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR,
based on our leverage ratios, and was secured by various structured finance investments. The secured revolving credit facility
included certain restrictions and covenants, which are similar to
those under the unsecured revolving credit facility (see restrictive
covenants below).
In connection with a structured finance transaction, which
closed in June 2004, we entered into a secured term loan for
$18.9 million. This loan, which was scheduled to mature in
December 2004, was extended to January 2005. It carried an
interest rate of 200 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR. This loan
was repaid in January 2005.
Term Loans
In December 2002, we obtained a $150.0 million unsecured
term loan. Effective June 2003, the unsecured term loan was
increased to $200.0 million and the term was extended by
six months to June 2008. In August 2004, the unsecured term
loan was further increased to $325.0 million and the maturity
date was further extended to August 2009. This term loan bears
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interest at a spread ranging from 110 basis points to 140 basis
points over the 30-day LIBOR, based on our leverage ratio. As of
December 31, 2005, we had $325.0 million outstanding under
the unsecured term loan at the rate of 125 basis points over
LIBOR. To limit our exposure to the variable 30-day LIBOR rate
we entered into various swap agreements to fix the 30-day
LIBOR rate on the entire unsecured term loan. The LIBOR rate
was fixed for a blended all-in rate of 4.50%. The effective all-in
interest rate on the unsecured term loan was 4.75% for the year
ended at December 31, 2005. In December 2005, we modified
the covenants under this unsecured term loan to conform to those
under the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility.
In December 2003, we closed on a $100.0 million five-year
non-recourse term loan secured by a pledge of our ownership
interest in 1221 Avenue of the Americas. This term loan had a
floating rate of 150 basis points over the current 30-day LIBOR
rate. During April 2004, we entered into a serial step-swap commencing April 2004 with an initial 24-month all-in rate of 3.83%
and a blended all-in rate of 5.10% with a final maturity date in
December 2008. In May 2005, we increased this loan by
$100.0 million to $200.0 million, reduced the interest rate spread
to 125 basis points (effective all-in rate of 4.19% for the year
ended December 31, 2005) and extended the maturity to
May 2010.
Restrictive Covenants
The terms of the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility and the
term loans include certain restrictions and covenants which limit,
among other things, the payment of dividends (as discussed
below), the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the incurrence
of liens and the disposition of assets, and which require compliance with financial ratios relating to the minimum amount of
tangible net worth, the minimum amount of debt service coverage, and fixed charge coverage, the maximum amount of
unsecured indebtedness, the minimum amount of unencumbered
property debt service coverage and certain investment limitations.
The dividend restriction referred to above provides that, except to
enable us to continue to qualify as a REIT for Federal Income Tax
purposes, we will not during any four consecutive fiscal quarters
make distributions with respect to common stock or other equity
interests in an aggregate amount in excess of 90% of funds from
operations for such period, subject to certain other adjustments.
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we were in compliance
with all such covenants.
Junior Subordinate Deferrable Interest Debentures
In June 2005, we issued $100.0 million in unsecured floating rate
trust preferred securities through a newly formed trust, SL Green
Capital Trust I, or the Trust, that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
our Operating Partnership. The securities mature in 2035 and
bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.61% for the first ten years ending
July 2015, a period of up to eight consecutive quarters if our
Operating Partnership exercises its right to defer such payments.
The trust preferred securities are redeemable, at the option of our
Operating Partnership, in whole or in part, with no prepayment
premium any time after July 2010. We do not consolidate the
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Trust even though it is a variable interest entity under FIN46 as we
are not the primary beneficiary. Because the Trust is not consolidated, we have issued debt and the related payments are
classified as interest expense.
11. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following disclosures of estimated fair value were determined
by management, using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary
to interpret market data and develop estimated fair value.
Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts we could realize on disposition of the
financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions
and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on
the estimated fair value amounts.
Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and the 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility balances
reasonably approximate their fair values due to the short maturities of these items. Mortgage notes payable, junior subordinate
deferrable interest debentures and the secured and unsecured
term loans have an estimated fair value based on discounted cash
flow models of approximately $1.2 billion, which was less than the
book value of the related fixed rate debt by approximately
$23.3 million. Structured finance investments are carried at
amounts, which reasonably approximate their fair value as determined by us.
Disclosure about fair value of financial instruments is based on
pertinent information available to us as of December 31, 2005.
Although we are not aware of any factors that would significantly
affect the reasonable fair value amounts, such amounts have not
been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these financial
statements since that date and current estimates of fair value may
differ significantly from the amounts presented herein.
12. RENTAL INCOME
The Operating Partnership is the lessor and the sublessor to tenants under operating leases with expiration dates ranging from
January 1, 2006 to 2023. The minimum rental amounts due
under the leases are generally either subject to scheduled fixed
increases or adjustments. The leases generally also require that
the tenants reimburse us for increases in certain operating costs
and real estate taxes above their base year costs. Approximate
future minimum rents to be received over the next five years and
thereafter for non-cancelable operating leases in effect at
December 31, 2005 for the wholly-owned properties, including
consolidated joint venture properties, and our share of unconsolidated joint venture properties are as follows (in thousands):
Wholly-Owned
Properties

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter
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Joint Venture
Properties

$ 317,078 $ 158,498
310,595
163,935
295,645
156,227
266,954
152,229
221,751
131,891
1,034,242
830,165
$2,446,265 $1,592,945
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Cleaning Services
First Quality Maintenance, L.P., or First Quality, provides cleaning,
extermination and related services with respect to certain of the
properties owned by us. First Quality is owned by Gary Green, a
son of Stephen L. Green, the chairman of our board of directors.
First Quality also provides additional services directly to tenants on
a separately negotiated basis. The aggregate amount of fees paid
by us to First Quality for services provided (excluding services provided directly to tenants) was approximately $4.9 million in 2005,
$4.6 million in 2004 and $4.3 million in 2003. In addition, First
Quality has the non-exclusive opportunity to provide cleaning and
related services to individual tenants at our properties on a basis
separately negotiated with any tenant seeking such additional
services. First Quality leases 12,290 square feet of space at
70 West 36th Street pursuant to a lease that expires on
December 31, 2012, and provides for annual rental payments of
approximately $362,000.
Security/ Messenger and Restoration Services
Classic Security LLC, or Classic Security, provides security services, Bright Star Couriers LLC, or Bright Star, provides
messenger services, and Onyx Restoration Works, or Onyx, provides restoration services with respect to certain properties
owned by us. Classic Security, Bright Star and Onyx are owned by
Gary Green, a son of Stephen L. Green. The aggregate amount
of fees paid by us for such services was approximately $6.1 million in 2005, $4.3 million in 2004 and $3.8 million in 2003.
Leases
Nancy Peck and Company leases 2,013 square feet of space at
420 Lexington Avenue, pursuant to a lease that expires on
June 30, 2005 and provides for annual rental payments of
approximately $66,000. This space is now leased on a month-tomonth basis. Nancy Peck and Company is owned by Nancy
Peck, the wife of Stephen L. Green. The rent due pursuant to the
lease is offset against a consulting fee of $10,500 per month an
affiliate pays to her pursuant to a consulting agreement, which is
cancelable upon 30-days notice.
Brokerage Services
Sonnenblick-Goldman Company, or Sonnenblick, a nationally recognized real estate investment banking firm, provided mortgage
brokerage services to us. Mr. Morton Holliday, the father of
Mr. Marc Holliday, was a Managing Director of Sonnenblick at the
time of the financings. In 2005, we paid approximately $457,000
to Sonnenblick in connection with securing a $120.0 million first
mortgage for the property located at 711 Third Avenue. In 2004,
our 1515 Broadway joint venture paid approximately $855,000 to
Sonnenblick in connection with securing a $425.0 million first
mortgage for the property. In 2005, our 1515 Broadway joint
venture paid approximately $400,000 to Sonnenblick in connection with refinancing the property and increasing the first
mortgage to $625.0 million.
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Management Fees
S.L. Green Management Corp. receives property management
fees from an entity in which Stephen L. Green owns an interest.
The aggregate amount of fees paid to S.L. Green Management
Corp. from such entity was approximately $209,000 in 2005,
$258,000 in 2004 and $237,000 in 2003.
Amounts due from (to) related parties at December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands):

17 Battery Condominium Association
Due from joint ventures
Officers and employees
Other
Related party receivables

2005

2004

$ 93
3,500
1,527
2,587
$7,707

$ 207
–
1,681
3,139
$5,027

Management Indebtedness
In January 2001, Mr. Marc Holliday, then our president, received a
non-recourse loan from us in the principal amount of $1.0 million pursuant to his amended and restated employment and
non-competition agreement he executed at the time. This loan
bears interest at the applicable federal rate per annum and is
secured by a pledge of certain of Mr. Holliday’s shares of our
common stock. The principal of and interest on this loan is forgivable upon our attainment of specified financial performance goals
prior to December 31, 2006, provided that Mr. Holliday remains
employed by us until January 17, 2007. In April 2000,
Mr. Holliday received a loan from us in the principal amount of
$300,000 with a maturity date of July 2003. This loan bears
interest at a rate of 6.60% per annum and is secured by a pledge
of certain of Mr. Holliday’s shares of our common stock. In
May 2002, Mr. Holliday entered into a loan modification agreement with us in order to modify the repayment terms of the
$300,000 loan. Pursuant to the agreement, $100,000 (plus
accrued interest thereon) is forgivable on each of January 1,
2004, January 1, 2005 and January 1, 2006, provided that
Mr. Holliday remains employed by us through each of such date.
The principal balance outstanding on this loan was approximately
$100,000 on December 31, 2005. In addition, the $300,000
loan shall be forgiven if and when the $1.0 million loan that
Mr. Holliday received pursuant to his amended and restated
employment and non-competition agreement is forgiven.
Gramercy Capital Corp.
See Note 6. Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures –
Gramercy Capital Corp. for disclosure on related par ty
transactions between Gramercy and us.

14. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock
Our authorized capital stock consists of 200,000,000 shares,
$.01 par value, of which we have authorized the issuance of up to
100,000,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value per share,
75,000,000 shares of excess stock, at $.01 par value per share,
and 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $.01 per
share. As of December 31, 2005, 42,455,829 shares of
common stock and no shares of excess stock were issued
and outstanding.
In 2004, in two offerings, we sold 3,150,000 shares of our
common stock. The net proceeds from these offerings (approximately $138.6 million) were used to pay down our unsecured
revolving credit facility.
We filed a $500.0 million shelf registration statement, which
was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, in March 2004. This registration statement
provides us with the ability to issue common and preferred stock,
depository shares and warrants. We currently have $334.5 million
available under the shelf.
Perpetual Preferred Stock
In December 2003, we sold 6,300,000 shares of 7.625%
Series C cumulative redeemable preferred stock, or the Series C
preferred stock, (including the underwriters’ over-allotment option
of 700,000 shares) with a mandatory liquidation preference of
$25.00 per share. Net proceeds from this offering (approximately
$152.0 million) were used principally to repay amounts outstanding under our secured and unsecured revolving credit facilities. The Series C preferred stock receive annual dividends
of $1.90625 per share paid on a quarterly basis and dividends
are cumulative, subject to certain provisions. On or after
December 12, 2008, we may redeem the Series C preferred
stock at par for cash at our option. The Series C preferred stock
was recorded net of underwriters discount and issuance costs.
In 2004, we issued 4,000,000 shares of our 7.875% Series
D cumulative redeemable preferred stock, or the Series D
preferred stock, with a mandatory liquidation preference of
$25.00 per share. Net proceeds from these offerings (approximately $96.3 million) were used principally to repay amounts
outstanding under our secured and unsecured revolving credit
facilities. The Series D preferred stock receive annual dividends of
$1.96875 per share paid on a quarterly basis and dividends are
cumulative, subject to certain provisions. On or after May 27,
2009, we may redeem the Series D preferred stock at par for
cash at our option. The Series D preferred stock was recorded
net of underwriters discount and issuance costs.
Rights Plan
In February 2000, our board of directors authorized a distribution
of one preferred share purchase right, or Right, for each outstanding share of common stock under a shareholder rights plan.
This distribution was made to all holders of record of the common
stock on March 31, 2000. Each Right entitles the registered
holder to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a
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share of Series B junior participating preferred stock, par value
$0.01 per share, or Preferred Shares, at a price of $60.00 per
one one-hundredth of a Preferred Share, or Purchase Price, subject to adjustment as provided in the rights agreement. The Rights
expire on March 5, 2010, unless we extend the expiration date or
the Right is redeemed or exchanged earlier.
The Rights are attached to each share of common stock. The
Rights are generally exercisable only if a person or group
becomes the beneficial owner of 17% or more of the outstanding
common stock or announces a tender offer for 17% or more of
the outstanding common stock, or Acquiring Person. In the event
that a person or group becomes an Acquiring Person, each holder
of a Right, excluding the Acquiring Person, will have the right to
receive, upon exercise, common stock having a market value
equal to two times the Purchase Price of the Preferred Shares.
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
We filed a registration statement with the SEC for our dividend
reinvestment and stock purchase plan, or DRIP, which was
declared effective on September 10, 2001, and commenced on
September 24, 2001. We registered 3,000,000 shares of our
common stock under the DRIP.
During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
approximately 338,000 and 195,000 shares were issued and
approximately $20.4 million and $8.9 million of proceeds were
received, respectively, from dividend reinvestments and/or stock
purchases under the DRIP. DRIP shares may be issued at a discount to the market price.
2003 Long-Term Outperformance Compensation Program
Our board of directors adopted a long-term, seven-year compensation program for senior management. The program, which
measures our performance over a 48-month period (unless terminated earlier) commencing April 1, 2003, provides that holders
of our common equity are to achieve a 40% total return during the
measurement period over a base of $30.07 per share before any
restricted stock awards are granted. Management will receive an
award of restricted stock in an amount between 8% and 10% of
the excess return over the baseline return. At the end of the fouryear measurement period, 40% of the award will vest on the
measurement date and 60% of the award will vest ratably over the
subsequent three years based on continued employment. Any
restricted stock to be issued under the program will be allocated
from our Stock Option Plan (as defined below), which was previously approved through a stockholder vote in May 2002. We
record the expense of the restricted stock award in accordance
with SFAS 123. The fair value of the award on the date of grant
was determined to be $3.2 million. Forty percent of the value of
the award will be amortized over four years and the balance will be
amortized at 20% per year over five, six and seven years, respectively, such that 20% of year five, 16.67% of year six, and
14.29% of year seven will be recorded in year one. The total value
of the award (capped at $25.5 million) will determine the number

60

SL Green
Realty Corp.

of shares assumed to be issued for purposes of calculating
diluted earnings per share. Compensation expense of $650,000,
$650,000 and $485,000 was recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
2005 Long-Term Outperformance Compensation Program
In December 2005, the compensation committee of our board of
directors approved a long-term incentive compensation program,
the 2005 Outperformance Plan. Participants in the 2005
Outperformance Plan will share in a “performance pool” if our
total return to stockholders for the period from December 1,
2005 through November 30, 2008 exceeds a cumulative total
return to stockholders of 30% during the measurement period
over a base share price of $68.51 per share. The size of the pool
will be 10% of the outperformance amount in excess of the 30%
benchmark, subject to a maximum dilution cap equal to the lesser
of 3% of our outstanding shares and units of limited partnership
interest as of December 1, 2005 or $50 million. In the event the
potential performance pool reaches this dilution cap before
November 30, 2008, and remains at that level or higher for
30 consecutive days, the performance period will end early and
the pool will be formed on the last day of such 30 day period.
Each participant’s award under the 2005 Outperformance Plan
will be designated as a specified percentage of the aggregate
performance pool to be allocated to him or her assuming the
30% benchmark is achieved. Individual awards will be made in the
form of partnership units, or LTIP Units, that may ultimately
become exchangeable for shares of our common stock or cash,
at our election. LTIP Units will be granted prior to the determination of the performance pool; however, they will only vest upon
satisfaction of performance and other thresholds, and will not
be entitled to distributions until after the performance pool is
established. The 2005 Outperformance Plan provides that if the
pool is established, each participant will also be entitled to the distributions that would have been paid on the number of LTIP Units
earned, had they been issued at the beginning of the performance period. Those distributions will be paid in the form of
additional LTIP Units. After the performance pool is established,
the earned LTIP Units will receive regular quarterly distributions on
a per unit basis equal to the dividends per share paid on our common stock, whether or not they are vested. Any LTIP Units that
are not earned upon the establishment of the performance pool
will be automatically forfeited, and the LTIP Units that are earned
will be subject to time-based vesting, with one-third of the LTIP
Units earned vesting on November 30, 2008, and each of the first
two anniversaries thereafter based on continued employment. We
recorded approximately $0.3 million of compensation expense in
2005 in connection with the 2005 Outperformance Plan.
Deferred Stock Compensation Plan for Directors
Under our Independent Director’s Deferral Program, which commenced July 2004, our non-employee directors may elect to
defer up to 100% of their annual retainer fee, chairman fees and
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meeting fees. Unless otherwise elected by a participant, fees
deferred under the program shall be credited in the form of phantom stock units. The phantom stock units are convertible into an
equal number of shares of common stock upon such directors’
termination of service from the Board of Directors or a change in
control by us, as defined by the program. Phantom stock units are
credited to each non-employee director quarterly using the closing price of our common stock on the applicable dividend record
date for the respective quarter. Each participating non-employee
director’s account is also credited for an equivalent amount of
phantom stock units based on the dividend rate for each quarter.
During the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately
4,300 phantom stock units were earned. As of December 31, 2005,
there were approximately 5,300 phantom stock units outstanding.
Stock Option Plan
During August 1997, we instituted the 1997 Stock Option and
Incentive Plan, or the 1997 Plan. The 1997 Plan was amended in
December 1997, March 1998, March 1999 and May 2002. The
1997 Plan, as amended, authorizes (i) the grant of stock options
that qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the
Code, or ISOs, (ii) the grant of stock options that do not qualify, or
NQSOs, (iii) the grant of stock options in lieu of cash Directors’
fees and (iv) grants of shares of restricted and unrestricted common stock. The exercise price of stock options are determined by
our compensation committee, but may not be less than 100% of
the fair market value of the shares of our common stock on the
date of grant. At December 31, 2005, approximately 1.4 million
shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under
the 1997 Plan.
2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
Subject to adjustments upon certain corporate transactions or
events, up to a maximum of 3,500,000 shares, or the Fungible
Pool Limit, may be granted as Options, Restricted Stock,
Phantom Shares, dividend equivalent rights and other equitybased awards under the 2005 Plan; provided that, as described
below, the manner in which the Fungible Pool Limit is finally determined can ultimately result in the issuance under the 2005 Plan
of up to 4,375,000 shares (subject to adjustments upon certain
corporate transactions or events). Each share issued or to be
issued in connection with ‘’Full-Value Awards’’ (as defined below)
that vest or are granted based on the achievement of certain performance goals that are based on (A) FFO growth, (B) total return
to stockholders (either in absolute terms or compared with other
companies in the market) or (C) a combination of the foregoing
(as set forth in the 2005 Plan), shall be counted against the
Fungible Pool Limit as 2.6 units. “Full-Value Awards” are awards
other than Options, Stock Appreciation Rights or other awards
that do not deliver the full value at grant thereof of the underlying
shares (e.g., Restricted Stock). Each share issued or to be issued
in connection with any other Full-Value Awards shall be counted
against the Fungible Pool Limit as 3.9 units. Options, Stock
Appreciation Rights and other awards that do not deliver the value

61

SL Green
Realty Corp.

at grant thereof of the underlying shares and that expire 10 years
from the date of grant shall be counted against the Fungible Pool
Limit as one unit. Options, Stock Appreciation Rights and other
awards that do not deliver the value at grant thereof of the underlying shares and that expire five years from the date of grant shall
be counted against the Fungible Pool Limit as 0.8 of a unit, or
5-year option. Thus, under the foregoing rules, depending on the
type of grants made, as many as 4,375,000 shares can be
the subject of grants under the 2005 Plan. At the end of the third
calendar year following the effective date of the 2005 Plan, (i) the
three-year average of (A) the number of shares subject to awards
granted in a single year, divided by (B) the number of shares of
our outstanding common stock at the end of such year shall not
exceed the (ii) greater of (A) 2% or (B) the mean of the applicable
peer group. For purposes of calculating the number of shares
granted in a year in connection with the limitation set forth in the
foregoing sentence, shares underlying Full-Value Awards will be
taken into account as (i) 1.5 shares if our annual common stock
price volatility is 53% or higher, (ii) two shares if our annual common stock price volatility is between 25% and 52%, and (iii) four
shares if our annual common stock price volatility is less than
25%. No award may be granted to any person who, assuming
exercise of all options and payment of all awards held by such person, would own or be deemed to own more than 9.8% of the
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. In addition,
subject to adjustment upon certain corporate transactions or
events, a participant may not receive awards (with shares subject
to awards being counted, depending on the type of award, in the
proportions ranging from 0.8 to 3.9, as described above) in any
one year covering more than 700,000 shares; thus, under this
provision, depending on the type of grant involved, as many as
875,000 shares can be the subject of option grants to any one
person in any year, and as many as 269,230 shares may be
granted as restricted stock (or be the subject of other Full-Value
Grants) to any one person in any year. If an option or other award
granted under the 2005 Plan expires or terminates, the common
stock subject to any portion of the award that expires or terminates without having been exercised or paid, as the case may be,
will again become available for the issuance of additional awards.
Shares of our common stock distributed under the 2005 Plan
may be treasury shares or authorized but unissued shares. Unless
the 2005 Plan is previously terminated by the Board, no new
Award may be granted under the 2005 Plan after the tenth
anniversary of the date that such 2005 Plan was initially approved
by the Board. At December 31, 2005, approximately 3.1 million
shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under
the 2005 Plan, or 3.8 million if everything available under the
2005 Plan was issued as a 5-year option.
Options granted under the plans are exercisable at the fair
market value on the date of grant and, subject to termination of
employment, generally expire ten years from the date of grant, are
not transferable other than on death, and are generally exercisable in three to five annual installments commencing one year
from the date of grant.
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A summary of the status of our stock options as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and changes during the years then ended
are presented below:
2005

Options
Outstanding

Balance at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Lapsed or cancelled
Balance at end of year
Options exercisable at end of year
Weighted average fair value of options granted
during the year

2,169,762
466,203
(888,374)
(16,333)
1,731,258
599,828
$3,538,000

The weighted average fair value of restricted stock granted
during the year was approximately $14.2 million.
All options were granted within a price range of $18.44 to
$76.39. The remaining weighted average contractual life of the
options was 7.5 years.
Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share for the years ended December 31, is computed as follows (in thousands):
Numerator (Income)

2005

Basic Earnings:
Income available to
common stockholders
$137,544
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Redemption of units to
common shares
8,222
Preferred Stock (as converted
to common stock)
–
Stock options
–
Diluted Earnings:
Income available to
common stockholders
$145,766
Denominator Weighted
Average (Shares)

Basic Shares:
Shares available to
common stockholders
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Redemption of units to
common shares
Preferred Stock (as converted
to common stock)
Stock-based
compensation plans
Diluted Shares

2004

2003

$193,172

$ 90,447

11,352

6,299

–
–

7,087
–

$204,524

$103,833

2005

2004

2003

41,793

39,171

32,265

2,499

2,302

2,305

–

–

3,491

1,212
45,504

1,605
43,078

909
38,970

15. MINORITY INTEREST
The unit holders represent the minority interest ownership in our
Operating Partnership. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the
minority interest unit holders owned 5.4% (2,426,786 units) and
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2004
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$29.39
$65.22
$27.34
$38.87
$41.25
$50.57
$

2003

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

3,250,231
132,333
(1,080,835)
(131,967)
2,169,762
789,785

$26.80
$43.77
$23.40
$28.67
$29.39
$26.54

3,278,663
327,000
(347,099)
(8,333)
3,250,231
1,404,467

$25.49
$35.09
$22.14
$24.52
$26.80
$23.41

475,000

$1,150,000

5.8% (2,530,942 units) of our Operating Partnership, respectively. At December 31, 2005, 2,426,786 shares of our common
stock were reserved for the conversion of units of limited partnership interest in our Operating Partnership.
In October 2004, our Operating Partnership issued 306,000
units of limited partnership interest in connection with the acquisition of 625 Madison Avenue.
16. BENEFIT PLANS
The building employees are covered by multi-employer defined
benefit pension plans and post-retirement health and welfare
plans. Contributions to these plans amounted to approximately
$4.6 million, $3.4 million and $3.3 million during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Separate
actuarial information regarding such plans is not made available to
the contributing employers by the union administrators or
trustees, since the plans do not maintain separate records for
each reporting unit.
Executive Stock Compensation
During July 1998, we issued 150,000 shares in connection
with an employment contract. These shares vested annually at
rates of 15% to 35% and were recorded at fair value. At
December 31, 2005, all of these shares had vested. We
recorded compensation expense of approximately $151,000,
$604,000 and $445,000 for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Effective January 1, 1999, we implemented a deferred compensation plan, or the Deferred Plan, covering certain of our
executives. In connection with the Deferred Plan, we issued
230,200, 351,750 and 211,750 restricted shares in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The shares issued under the
Deferred Plan were granted to certain executives and vesting will
occur annually upon our meeting established financial performance criteria. Annual vesting occurs at rates ranging from
15% to 35% once performance criteria are reached. As of
December 31, 2005, 545,404 of these shares had vested and
118,983 had been retired. We recorded compensation expense
of approximately $4.3 million, $7.1 million and $2.0 million for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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401(K) Plan
During August 1997, we implemented a 401(K) Savings/
Retirement Plan, or the 401(K) Plan, to cover eligible employees
of ours, and any designated affiliate. The 401(K) Plan permits eligible employees to defer up to 15% of their annual
compensation, subject to certain limitations imposed by the
Code. The employees’ elective deferrals are immediately vested
and non-forfeitable upon contribution to the 401(K) Plan. During
2000, we amended our 401(K) Plan to include a matching contribution, subject to ERISA limitations, equal to 50% of the first 4%
of annual compensation deferred by an employee. During 2003,
we amended our 401(K) Plan to provide for discretionary matching contributions only. For the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, we made matching contributions of approximately $270,000, $149,000 and none respectively.
17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
We and our Operating Partnership are not presently involved in
any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any material litigation threatened against us or our properties, other than routine
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. Management
believes the costs, if any, incurred by us and our Operating
Partnership related to this litigation will not materially affect our
financial position, operating results or liquidity.
We entered into employment agreements with certain executives. Six executives have employment agreements, which expire
between May 2006 and January 2010. The minimum cashbased compensation, including base salary and guaranteed
bonus payments, associated with these employment agreements
totals approximately $3.7 million for 2006.
During March 1998, we acquired an operating subleasehold position at 420 Lexington Avenue. The operating
sub-leasehold position requires annual ground lease payments
totaling $6.0 million and sub-leasehold position payments totaling
$1.1 million (excluding an operating sub-lease position purchased
January 1999). The ground lease and sub-leasehold positions
expire in 2008. We may extend the positions through 2029 at
market rents.
The property located at 1140 Avenue of the Americas operates under a net ground lease ($348,000 annually) with a term
expiration date of 2016 and with an option to renew for an additional 50 years.
The property located at 711 Third Avenue operates under an
operating sub-lease, which expires in 2083. Under the sub-lease,
we are responsible for ground rent payments of $1.55 million
annually through July 2011 on the 50% portion of the fee we do
not own. The ground rent is reset after July 2011 based on the
estimated fair market value of the property. We have an option to
buy out the sub-lease at a fixed future date.
The property located at 461 Fifth Avenue operates under a
ground lease (approximately $2.1 million annually) with a term
expiration date of 2027 and with two options to renew for an additional 21 years each, followed by a third option for 15 years. We
also have an option to purchase the ground lease for a fixed price
on a specific date.

63

SL Green
Realty Corp.

The property located at 625 Madison Avenue operates under
a ground lease (approximately $4.6 million annually) with a term
expiration date of 2022 and with two options to renew for an additional 23 years.
The property located at 1604 Broadway operates under a
ground lease that was extended from 2019 to 2036 as part of the
acquisition. Annual ground rent payments are approximately
$2.4 million through July 2011, $2.5 million through July 2014,
$2.7 million through July 2016 and $3.0 million through July 2036.
We have a 50% interest in the joint venture with Jeff Sutton.
In April 1988, the SL Green predecessor entered into a lease
agreement for property at 673 First Avenue, which has been capitalized for financial statement purposes. Land was estimated to
be approximately 70% of the fair market value of the property.
The portion of the lease attributed to land is classified as an operating lease and the remainder as a capital lease. The initial lease
term is 49 years with an option for an additional 26 years.
Beginning in lease years 11 and 25, the lessor is entitled to additional rent as defined by the lease agreement.
We continue to lease the 673 First Avenue property, which
has been classified as a capital lease with a cost basis of
$12.2 million and cumulative amortization of $4.4 million and
$4.2 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments
under capital leases and noncancellable operating leases with
initial terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2005
(in thousands):
December 31,

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less amount representing interest
Present value of net
minimum lease payments

Capital lease

$ 1,416
1,416
1,416
1,416
1,451
51,870
58,985
(42,725)

Non-cancellable
operating leases

$ 21,194
21,044
21,044
21,044
21,045
379,098
$484,469

$ 16,260

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DERIVATIVES AND
HEDGING
In accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” we recognize all derivatives
on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges
must be adjusted to fair value through income. If a derivative is a
hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair
value of the derivative will either be offset against the change in
fair value of the hedged asset, liability, or firm commitment
through earnings, or recognized in other comprehensive income
until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective
portion of a derivative’s change in fair value will be immediately
recognized in earnings. SFAS No. 133 may increase or decrease
reported net income and stockholders’ equity prospectively,
depending on future levels of interest rates and other variables
affecting the fair values of derivative instruments and hedged
items, but will have no effect on cash flows.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The following table summarizes the notional and fair value of our derivative financial instruments at December 31, 2005. The
notional value is an indication of the extent of our involvement in these instruments at that time, but does not represent exposure to
credit, interest rate or market risks (in thousands).

Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Cap
Interest Rate Cap

On December 31, 2005, the derivative instruments
were reported as an asset at their fair value of approximately
$8.0 million. This is included in Other Assets on the consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2005. Offsetting adjustments
are represented as deferred gains or losses in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income of $15.3 million, including a gain
of approximately $7.2 million from the settlement of a forward
swap, which is being amortized over the ten-year term of its
related mortgage obligation from December 2003. Currently, all
of our derivative instruments are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Over time, the realized and unrealized gains and losses held in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income will be reclassified
into earnings as interest expense in the same periods in which the
hedged interest payments affect earnings. We estimate that
approximately $5.7 million of the current balance held in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income will be reclassified
into earnings within the next 12 months.
We are hedging exposure to variability in future cash flows for
forecasted transactions in addition to anticipated future interest
payments on existing debt.
19. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
Our management believes that the properties are in compliance
in all material respects with applicable Federal, state and local
ordinances and regulations regarding environmental issues.
Management is not aware of any environmental liability that it
believes would have a materially adverse impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. Management is
unaware of any instances in which it would incur significant environmental cost if any of the properties were sold.
20. SEGMENT INFORMATION
We are a REIT engaged in acquiring, owning, repositioning,
managing and leasing commercial office properties in Manhattan
and have two reportable segments, office real estate and structured finance investments. We evaluate real estate performance
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Notional
Value

Strike
Rate

Effective
Date

Expiration
Date

Fair
Value

$ 65,000
–
$100,000
$ 35,000
$100,000
–
$125,000
–
$ 60,000
–
$ 12,580
$102,550

3.300%
4.330%
4.060%
4.113%
2.330%
4.650%
2.710%
4.352%
3.770%
4.364%
6.600%
6.691%

8/2005
9/2006
12/2003
12/2004
4/2004
5/2006
9/2004
9/2006
5/2005
1/2007
8/2005
11/2005

9/2006
6/2008
12/2007
6/2008
5/2006
12/2008
9/2006
8/2009
1/2007
5/2010
9/2007
11/2007

$ 599
439
1,236
494
734
233
1,630
1,345
567
690
1
12

and allocate resources based on contribution to income from continuing operations.
Our real estate portfolio is primarily located in the geographical market of Manhattan. The primary sources of revenue are
generated from tenant rents and escalations and reimbursement revenue. Real estate property operating expenses consist
primarily of security, maintenance, utility costs, real estate taxes
and ground rent expense (at certain applicable properties). See
Note 5 for additional details on our structured finance investments.
Selected results of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and selected asset information as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, regarding our
operating segments are as follows (in thousands):

Total revenues
Year ended:
December 31, 2005
December 31, 2004
December 31, 2003
Income from
continuing operations:
Year ended:
December 31, 2005
December 31, 2004
December 31, 2003
Total assets
As of:
December 31, 2005
December 31, 2004

Real
Estate
Segment

Structured
Finance
Segment

Total
Company

$ 395,193
304,624
259,584

$ 44,989
39,094
22,086

$ 440,182
343,718
281,670

$

$ 27,114
30,589
18,751

$ 123,069
112,043
66,512

95,955
81,454
47,761

$2,909,701
2,401,854

$400,076 $3,309,777
350,027
2,751,881

Income from continuing operations represents total revenues
less total expenses for the real estate segment and total revenues less allocated interest expense for the structured finance
segment. Interest costs for the structured finance segment are
imputed assuming 100% leverage at our unsecured revolving
credit facility borrowing cost. We do not allocate marketing,
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general and administrative expenses (approximately $44.2 million, $30.3 million and $17.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively) to the
structured finance segment, since it bases performance on the
individual segments prior to allocating marketing, general and
administrative expenses. All other expenses, except interest,
relate entirely to the real estate assets.
There were no transactions between the above two segments.
The table below reconciles income from continuing operations
before minority interest to net income available to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

2005

2004

2003

Income from continuing operations
before minority interest
$118,500 $ 95,661 $67,542
Equity in net gain on sale of
unconsolidated joint venture
11,550 22,012
3,087
Minority interest in operating
partnership attributable to
continuing operations
(6,172) (5,630) (4,038)
Minority interest in other partnerships
(809)
–
(79)
Net income from
continuing operations
123,069 112,043 66,512
Income from discontinued operations,
net of minority interest
475
7,017 10,320
Gain on sale of discontinued
operations, net of minority interest
33,875 90,370 21,327
Net income
157,419 209,430 98,159
Preferred stock dividends
and accretion
(19,875) (16,258) (7,712)
Net income available for
common stockholders
$137,544 $193,172 $90,447

21. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH
INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The following table provides information on non-cash investing
and financing activities (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,

2005

2004

Issuance of common stock as
deferred compensation
$ 9,210 $ 14,144
Redemption of units and dividend reinvestments
23,810
9,643
Derivative instruments at fair value
7,980
(1,347)
Issuance of units of limited partnership interest
in connection with acquisition
–
15,466
Assumption of mortgage notes payable upon
acquisition of real estate
– 102,000
Fair value of above and below market leases
(SFAS No. 141) in connection
with acquisitions
4,408
10,050
Tenant improvements and leasing
commissions payable
7,637
3,611
Assumption of joint venture interest
9,952
–
Exchange of joint venture interest for
structured finance investment
6,175
–

22. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” and SFAS No. 145,
“Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 62, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections,” we are
providing updated summary selected quarterly financial information, which is included below reflecting the prior period reclassification
as discontinued operations of the properties classified as held for sale during 2005.
Quarterly data for the last two years is presented in the tables below (in thousands).
2005 Quarter Ended

Total revenues
Income net of minority interest and before gain on sale
Equity in net gain on sale of joint venture property
Discontinued operations
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Net income before preferred dividends
Preferred stock dividends
Income available to common stockholders
Net income per common share – Basic
Net income per common share – Diluted
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December 31 September 30

$114,594
25,805
–
–
–
25,805
(4,969)
$ 20,836
$
0.49
$
0.48

$120,291
30,749
11,550
–
–
42,299
(4,969)
$ 37,330
$
0.89
$
0.87

June 30

$106,092
27,480
–
95
33,864
61,439
(4,969)
$ 56,470
$
1.35
$
1.31

March 31

$100,855
27,500
–
379
–
27,879
(4,969)
$ 22,910
$
0.56
$
0.54

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2004 Quarter Ended

Total revenues
Income net of minority interest and before gain on sale
Equity in net gain on sale of joint venture property
Discontinued operations
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Net income before preferred dividends
Preferred stock dividends and accretion
Income available to common stockholders
Net income per common share – Basic
Net income per common share – Diluted

23. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS
In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, or SFAS 154,
“Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – A Replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20 and SFAS Statement No. 3”. SFAS
No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting and
reporting of a change in accounting principle by requiring retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of the
change in accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so.
SFAS No. 154 also requires that a change in depreciation or
amortization for long-lived, non-financial assets be accounted for
as a change in accounting estimate effected by a change in
accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting
changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2005. We do not expect the adoption of
SFAS No. 154 to have any impact on our cash flows, results of
operations, financial position, or liquidity.
In June 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus in EITF Issue
No. 04-5, or EITF 04-5, “Determining Whether a General
Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited
Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have
Certain Rights,” which provides guidance in determining whether
a general partner controls a limited partnership. EITF 04-5 states
that the general partner in a limited partnership is presumed to
control that limited partnership. The presumption may be overcome if the limited partners have either (1) the substantive ability
to dissolve the limited partnership or otherwise remove the general partner without cause or (2) substantive participating rights,
which provide the limited partners with the ability to effectively
participate in significant decisions that would be expected to be
made in the ordinary course of the limited partnership’s business
and thereby preclude the general partner from exercising unilateral control over the partnership. If the criteria in EITF 04-5 are
met, the consolidation of existing joint ventures accounted
for under the equity method may be required. Our adoption of
EITF 04-5 is expected to have no effect on net income or stockholders’ equity. EITF 04-5 is effective June 30, 2005 for new
or modified limited partnership arrangements and effective
January 1, 2006 for existing limited partnership arrangements.
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December 31 September 30

$ 94,114
24,809
–
1,486
90,199
116,494
(4,969)
$111,525
$
2.75
$
2.64

$85,868
22,722
–
2,428
–
25,150
(4,843)
$20,307
$ 0.52
$ 0.49

June 30

March 31

$82,711
25,225
22,012
1,594
–
48,831
(3,446)
$45,385
$ 1.18
$ 1.13

$81,025
17,443
–
1,512
–
18,955
(3,000)
$15,955
$ 0.42
$ 0.40

FASB Interpretation No. 47, or FIN 47, “Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations” was issued in
March 2005. FIN 47 requires recognition of a liability at the time
of acquisition or construction for assets that will require certain
remediation expenditures when the assets are removed from
service if the fair value of the obligation can be reasonably estimated. FIN 47 clarifies that future expenses to remove asbestos
from properties should be estimated and accrued as a liability at
the time of acquisition with an offset to increase the cost of the
associated structure. We currently own certain buildings that contain asbestos. Although the asbestos is appropriately contained in
accordance with current environmental regulations, our practice is
to remediate asbestos upon the renovation or redevelopment of
our properties. FIN 47, which became effective December 31,
2005, did not have a material impact on our cash flows, results of
operations, financial position, or liquidity.
24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2006 we, through a joint venture with The City
Investment Fund, L.P., or CIF, and Witkoff, recapitalized
485 Lexington Avenue. The joint venture obtained a $390.0 million three year loan, which bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.35%,
and which can be extended for an additional two years. HSH
Nordbank AG, New York Branch fully underwrote the $390 million financing. The initial funding of the loan was approximately
$293 million which was used to repay the existing loan, return
100% of the partners invested capital and provide for a return on
capital that exceeded the performance thresholds established
with CIF. The balance of the loan will be used to fund the remaining renovations, lease up and tenant improvements for the
building. As a result of exceeding the performance thresholds
established with CIF, our economic stake in the property will
increase from 30% to 50%. We used our portion of the refinancing proceeds to repay our 2005 unsecured revolving credit facility
and for future investments.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of SL Green Realty Corp.
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the
accompanying “Report of Management–Management’s Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,” that SL Green
Realty Corp. maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). SL Green Realty Corp.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
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dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that SL Green
Realty Corp. maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, SL
Green Realty Corp. maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of SL Green Realty Corp. as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005
of SL Green Realty Corp. and our report dated March 15, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

New York, New York
March 15, 2006

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of SL Green Realty Corp.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of SL Green Realty Corp. as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the related consolidated statements of income,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of SL Green Realty Corp.’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of SL Green Realty Corp. at December 31, 2005
and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of SL Green Realty Corp.’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 15, 2006 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

New York, New York
March 15, 2006

Report of Management
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND
PROCEDURES
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed
to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure based closely on the definition
of “disclosure controls and procedures” in Rule 13a-15(e). In
designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognized that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and
management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures. Also, we have investments in certain unconsolidated
entities. As we do not control these entities, our disclosure controls and procedures with respect to such entities are necessarily
substantially more limited than those we maintain with respect to
our consolidated subsidiaries.
As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried
out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation
of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon
that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

sion and with the participation of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on the
framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, we concluded
that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2005.
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included
elsewhere herein.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervi-

Gregory F. Hughes
Chief Financial Officer
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CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING
There have been no significant changes in our internal control
over financial reporting during the year ended December 31,
2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reports.

Marc Holliday
Chief Executive Officer and President
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STOCK MARKET INFORMATION
Our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, on August 15, 1997 under the symbol “SLG.” On
March 23, 2006, the reported closing sale price per share of common stock on the NYSE was $99.15 and there were approximately
150 holders of record of our common stock. The table below sets forth the quarterly high and low closing sales prices of the common
stock on the NYSE and the distributions paid by us with respect to the periods indicated.
Quarter Ended

High

2005
Low

Dividends

High

2004
Low

Dividends

March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31

$59.74
$66.05
$70.10
$77.14

$52.70
$55.38
$64.76
$63.80

$0.54
$0.54
$0.54
$0.60

$47.78
$47.78
$51.81
$60.55

$41.12
$41.12
$47.19
$52.30

$0.50
$0.50
$0.50
$0.54

We submitted a Section 12(a) CEO Certification to the NYSE in 2005. In addition, we have filed with the SEC the CEO/CFO certification required under Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.
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SL Green Realty Corp. is a self-administered and selfmanaged real estate investment trust, or REIT, that
predominantly acquires, owns, repositions, leases and
manages a portfolio of Manhattan office properties. As
of December 31, 2005, the Company owned 28 office

properties totaling 18.2 million square feet. SL Green’s
retail space ownership totaled 168,300 square feet at
five properties. The Company is the only publicly held
REIT that specializes exclusively in this niche.

Our Greatest Asset
The SL Green Team

Meet our diverse team of management, finance, operations, leasing and acquisitions
professionals. With their breadth of experience and magnitude of talent, no wonder they
develop and execute strategies better than anyone else in the business.

Financial Highlights
Year Ended December 31,

2005

2004

% Change

(In thousands, except per share and rentable square feet data)

Total Revenue

$

440,182

$

343,718

28.1

Net Income

$

157,419

$

209,430

(24.8)
(32.6)

Net Income Per Common Share (diluted)

$

3.20

$

4.75

Funds from Operations (diluted)1

$

189,513

$

162,377

16.7

Funds from Operations Per Share (diluted)

$

4.16

$

3.77

10.3

Total Market Capitalization

$ 6,269,000

$ 4,601,400

36.2

Net Rentable Square Feet (including joint ventures)

18,159,900

Annual Dividend (per common share)
1

$

2.22

17,000,000

6.8

$

8.8

2.04

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

A reconciliation of FFO to net income computed in accordance with GAAP is provided on page 38.
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3.77

’01
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1.80

NASDAQ

3.30

1.00

1.00

’01

’02

S&P 500

3.00

5.64

’03

Dow Jones

3.32

4.60

3.48

20.50

12.30
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’05

’05
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Annualized Total Return

(in billions of dollars)
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